
        TOWN OF KITTERY 
      200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 
Telephone: (207) 475-1329 Fax: (207) 439-6806 
                                

      
        

 
             

October 28, 2019                                  Kittery Town Council 
             Regular Meeting 

                              6:00 p.m. 
      

1. Call to Order 
 
2. Introductory 
 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
4.         Roll Call   
 
5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption 
 
6. Town Manager’s Report   
 
7. Acceptance of Previous Minutes –  
 
8. Interviews for the Board of Appeals and Planning Board -  
 
9. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees or other town  

consultants or requested offices.  
 

10. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
             a. (100219-1) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing on Title 16 -       
                 ADU’s.  
 
             b. (100219-2) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing on Title 16 –      
                 Shoreland Overlay Amendments. 
 
             c. (100219-3) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing on Title 10 –      
                 Jake Brakes. 
 
             d. (100219-4) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing for a new           
                 Victualer’s License application for the 518 Noodle Bar located at 518 US Route 1       
                 Unit 2, Kittery. 
 
             e. (100219-5) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing for a new           
                 Liquor License application for the 518 Noodle Bar located at 518 US Route 1 Unit      
                 2, Kittery. 

 
      

11. DISCUSSION 
 

 



            a.  Discussion by members of the public (three minutes per person)  
b.  Response to public comment directed to a particular Councilor 
c.  Chairperson’s response to public comments 

 
 
12.    UNFINISHED BUSINESS - 
 
13. NEW BUSINESS 

 
 a. Donations/gifts received for Council disposition. 
 
     (100219-6) The Kittery Town Council moves to accept a check in the amount of          
     $2,010.00 from the Portsmouth Naval Shipyard Naval Civilian Managers Association. 
     To be deposited into the Thresher Memorial account.   
      
 b. The Kittery Town Council moves to approve the disbursement warrants.  
 
 c. (100219-7) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a request from Traip              
     Academy Project Graduation to fund raise at the Resource Recovery Center on          
     November 30th 2019 from 9:00am to 4:00pm.  
 
 d. (100219-8) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a Public Hearing for             
     November 13, 2019 on Title 4 – Board of Library Trustees.  
 
 e. (100219-9) The Kittery Town Council moves to accept the resignation of Mark            
     Alesse of the Planning Board.  
 
 f.  (100219-10) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve the Project Certification for  
      Emery Field Phase 2 Grant. 
 
 g. (100219-11) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a request from the Traip      
     Academy Robotics Team to fund raise at the Resource Recovery Center on               
     November 2nd, 2019 from 9:00am to 4:00pm.   
   
 

14. COUNCILOR ISSUES OR COMMENTS 
 
 
15.   COMMITTEE AND OTHER REPORTS 
 

a. Communications from the Chairperson  
b. Committee Reports  

 
16.  EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
17.   ADJOURNMENT     
         
 
Posted:  October 24, 2019 
 



 

 
Town Manager’s Report to the Town Council 

October 28, 2019 
 

 
1. Badgers Island Parking and Traffic – The review of the parking and traffic challenges, identified by 

businesses and residents on Badgers Island, has been completed.  Two solutions are being advanced for 
Council action.  A team of staff members worked with the residents and businesses to understand the 
shared challenges and evaluate options to address them.  The team included the Police Chief, Fire Chief, 
DPW Commissioner, and Director of Planning and Development.  The neighborhood is requesting the 
Town seek a speed limit reduction on Badgers Island West from 25 to 20 miles per hour; and new 
parking restrictions on Island Avenue to allow for safe access for vehicles. 
 
Tonight, I am seeking Council consensus to make a request to MDOT to evaluate a speed reduction.  We 
will be advancing the Title 10 amendment for the proposed parking restrictions at a future meeting. 
 

2. Regional Climate Adaptation Effort – With support of the Climate Adaptation Committee, I have been 
in discussions with other communities regarding energy planning, sustainability and coastal resiliency 
efforts.  Our neighbors share a number of our goals, and the challenge of making progress with limited to 
no available staff resources.  As a group, we agreed shared staff resource, hosted by Southern Maine 
Planning and Development Commission, is a cost-effective solution.  See attached letter from SMPDC. 

 
This approach also provides multiple benefits including creating opportunities to work collaboratively on 
climate resiliency (not reinventing the wheel), share resources and expertise, and create comparable 
benchmarking that allows the Town to measure its progress against other similar communities.  Engaging 
in this regional effort will also make us eligible for grants, including the one noted in the attached 
SMPDC letter, that can further support the town’s climate adaptation efforts. 
 
I believe I can accommodate the $7,500 request in the FY20 budget for this position.  However, it would 
be beneficial to understand the Council’s position on this, as additional funding would need to be 
identified through the FY21 budget, which will be drafted and presented to Council in the spring.  It is 
possible if the EDA grant is awarded, the funding for the position can be counted as part of a grant 
match. 

 
3. Customer Service Center Closed Nov 5 for Election – We will be closing the Service Counter at Town 

Hall on November 5, so we can adequately staff the election.  Vehicle registration renewals, dog license 
registrations, and other services are available online.  We will reopen for normal business hours on 
November 6.  We apologize for the inconvenience in advance. 
 

4. Sidewalks Master Plan – In the past week, the Town Council has received two separate requests for 
new sidewalks; one extending the sidewalks on Stevenson Road around the curve to Route 236 and the 
other on Old Post Road connecting to Memorial Field.  I was asked by members of the Council to make a 
recommendation on how to consider these requests and others, in an actionable and strategic way. 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
Office of the Town Manager 

200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 
Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 

kamaral@kitteryme.org  

 
 

 

mailto:kamaral@kitteryme.org


 

The Town’s Comprehensive Plan states as a goal “Improve safety and ease of getting around town and 
better connect the pieces of Kittery”.  The need for connecting sidewalks exists throughout town.  
Determining which to focus time and resources on will be a complex puzzle.  Factors such as walking 
routes to schools, density of adjacent residential and commercial uses, crash hot spots, constructability, 
and other factors will need to be weighed carefully.  DPW is working on the update to the Sidewalks 
Condition Report (also a Comp Plan goal), and that will add information about what existing sidewalk 
replacements and upgrades for ADA compliance are also needed. 
 
I recommend that we work on developing a Sidewalks Master Plan that prioritizes projects and identifies 
funding schedules that can address new connecting sidewalks and maintenance of existing sidewalk 
infrastructure.  The plan will work like the pavement management plan, informing the Capital 
Improvement funds allocation process each year.  This will make sure that resources are wisely spent, 
that projects are prioritized through a vetted process, and that there is clarity on which projects will be 
slated for which year based on funding.  A committee approach that involves members of the CIP 
committee and residents may be worthwhile. 
 

5. Whipple Road Sidewalks – The utility easements have been resolved for this project.  MDOT has been 
working on the Right of Way process.  It is expected to take up to 9 – 12 months to complete.  Once the 
Right of Way phase is completed, the sidewalk design will be finalized and bidding can take place.  The 
estimated project cost is approximately $1,000,000, with the state funding 80%; and the Town funding 
the remainder.  Estimated construction timeframe is 2021. 
 

6. 88 Pepperrell Cove Project – Councilor Denault requested information about the project being 
completed at 88 Pepperrell Cove.  Attached please find a separate memo and related materials.   

 
7. Safe Routes to Schools/Stevenson Sidewalks Project – Councilor Denault requested information about 

the 2010 grant/project to build sidewalks around Shapleigh School.  The project was completed in 2011. 
Attached please find the project application and the final report on the implementation of the project.  

 
The State now offers the Bicycle and Pedestrian Program (replaced Safe Routes to Schools).  Grants are 
awarded up to $400,000 per project, with a 20% municipal match.  The next deadline for applications is 
August 2020.  The Sidewalk Master Plan proposed above would be an excellent foundation on which to 
build grant applications in the future.  

 
Upcoming Dates: 

• Pepperrell Cove Float Out – October 28 
• Voter Registration Night – October 30, 6PM – 8PM, Town Clerk’s Office 
• Trick or Treat – October 30, 5PM – 8PM 
• Tax Bills Due – October 31 
• Absentee Ballot Request Deadline – October 31 
• Election and Bond Referendum – November 5, 8AM to 8AM, Kittery Community Center 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Kendra Amaral 
Town Manager 



  

110 Main Street   .   Suite 1400   .   Saco, Maine  04072 
207.571.7065 2952 Voice   .   207.571.7068 Fax       

http://www.SMPDC.org 

 

Serving the Municipalities of Southwestern 
Maine 

 
October 1, 2019 
 
Dear Kendra, 
 
Over the past couple of months, a group of six towns have been meeting to discuss jointly 
establishing a position at the Southern Maine Planning and Development Commission (SMPDC) 
to work on issues related to energy planning, sustainability and coastal resiliency due to the 
impacts from rising sea levels and more frequent storm events. 
 
As a result of these discussions, the six towns (Kittery, York, Ogunquit, Wells, Kennebunk and 
Kennebunkport) agreed that pursuing such a position, as a two year pilot program, would be the 
most cost effective and efficient way to address these issues. SMPDC has worked with the 
communities and plans to establish a dedicated position which can support the efforts of all the 
communities. The proposal not only establishes a Sustainability/Coastal Resilience position, it 
provides cash match for ongoing grant efforts. At the end of two years all communities and 
SMPDC will assess the results.  The proposal is as follows: 
 
Outline of Job 
 We would advertise for a full time Sustainability/Coastal Resilience Coordinator with an 

expertise in energy and sustainability. 
 The person would work with all six communities and their various committees dealing with 

energy, sustainability, climate change and sea level rise. The communities currently are in 
different places with respect to what has been done or is needed. We are ready to take that 
into account, so the support will be tailored to each community. 

 The Coordinator will work with Abbie Sherwin, our Senior/Coastal Planner who has 
expertise in sea level rise and resiliency. The position will also be supported by other staff 
at SMPDC as needed. 

SMPDC has put together a job description which is available if desired. 
 

Current Efforts 
SMPDC is currently working on coastal issues and hopes to be able to leverage additional dollars 
for this work. It is important to note that dedicated funds from the towns can be used as match 
for the following projects: 
 SMPDC and three of the towns (York, Wells and Kennebunk) recently received a Maine 

Coastal Program for $75,000 to study seal level rise implications for municipal 
infrastructure and finances. Additional funds though the communities could leverage more 
research and data for the entire six town region. A $10,000 match is needed for this project. 

 As York County was the only national designated disaster area in Maine for the March 
2018 storms, we are eligible and plan to apply for a federal Economic Development 



  

110 Main Street   .   Suite 1400   .   Saco, Maine  04072 
207.571.7065 2952 Voice   .   207.571.7068 Fax       

http://www.SMPDC.org 

 

Serving the Municipalities of Southwestern 
Maine 

Administration grant. We are readying an application for approximately $100,000 to study 
business and local economic impacts and detail what actions the communities might take to 
lessen those impacts.  (as an aside, the six communities make up 13% of Maine Restaurant 
sales tax and 24% of Maine Lodging sales tax). A $20,000 cash match is required for this 
project. 

Summaries of these grant projects are available if desired. We would also note we hope to 
leverage additional grants funds as we identify projects and implementation ideas. 
 
Funding 
This would be a full time position requiring about $90,000 for salary, benefits and overhead. 
 Funding would be 15,000 per year/per town, of which $30,000 will go towards matching 

grant funds as described above. 
 As we will be basically half way through a budget year soon, we are asking each town for 

$7,500 for this year (FY20) and $15,000 for a full year (FY21) beginning in July. 
 We are looking at this as essentially a pilot program but the understanding through our 

discussions, is that we would need two years to assess results. 

With the increased emphasis on energy, sustainability and resiliency at the state level, this seems 
to be an opportune time to begin this important regional effort. 
 
Please let me know if you have any questions or if you would like me to attend a meeting. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
Paul Schumacher 
Executive Director 
 
 
 
 



 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
Office of the Town Manager 

200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
kamaral@kitteryme.org  

TO: Town Council 

FROM: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

CC: Dutch Dunkelberger, Planning Board Chair 

 Adam Causey, Director of Planning and Development 

DATE: October 28, 2019 

RE:  Questions - 88 Pepperrell Cove 

 
 
Councilor Denault provided a list of questions related to the 88 Pepperrell Cove development at the 
October 7, 2019 Council meeting.  These were handed to me during the Councilor Comments portion of 
the meeting.   
 
Councilor Denault’s questions are best posed to the Planning Board; however, for the Council’s 
convenience I have assembled information from the Planning Board process (see attached).  The 
materials are listed by date, to facilitate your review of the video records of the meetings if so desired. 
 
Questions: 
 
1. Why does the property owner need to pay for curbing that is on town property. – This is a 
component of Title 16.8 Design and Performance Standards of the Built Environment.   It has been 
applied to consistently to multiple projects in town for many years.  Title 16 also sets out a process to 
seek relief from the Design and Performance Standards, which is also handled consistently for 
applicants. 
 
For questions 2 – 4, please see attached. 
 
5. Where in the code does it require “extra things” to be done to a property when it complies with the 
code – Title 16 requires certain standards associated with the built environment and include sidewalks. 
 
6. Who designed the intersection – The intersection is existing.  The parking layout, flow, and sidewalks 
were designed by the project applicant’s engineer with input from DPW relative to federal and state 
sidewalk design requirements and standards. 
 
Question 7 did not identify a question. 
 



2 
 

8. Is there anything that can be done – The development of the site was approved by the Planning Board 
with relief as requested from the Board of Appeals.  In both cases, the applicant was notified of their 
right to appeal the decisions in accordance with Title 16.   
 
9. Are the property owners being treated fairly – Yes. The project applicant has been required to follow 
Title 16 and all of the applicable processes and standards. 
 
10. Is this how Kittery defines business friendly –This development was processed consistent with Title 
16.  The Town staff do not have the ability to waive requirements of Title 16 for politically supported 
projects.  The Planning Board and Board of Appeals are bound by law to follow Title 16 as well.   
 
11. Who pays for the sidewalk when damaged – the sidewalk becomes public infrastructure, consistent 
with other sidewalks installed by project developers elsewhere in town.  Liability for injuries is in 
accordance with state law relative to municipal liability for public infrastructure. 
 
12. Who is responsible for damages and injuries – see 11. 
 
13. How does a trolley or shuttle work with this setup – see attached. 
 
14. How do delivery trucks drop their deliveries – see attached.  
 
Attached: 
 July 27, 2017: Staff Report and Planning Board Minutes 
 October 26, 2017: Business Use Change Application, Staff Report and Planning Board Minutes 
 February 8, 2018: Shoreland Development Application, Staff Report, Planning Board Minutes 
 April 26, 2018: Planning Board Minutes 
 October 4, 2018: Compliance Reminder Letter 
 December 5, 2018: Code Enforcement Officer Review  
 December 13, 2018: Letter from Attar Engineering, Staff Report, Planning Board Minutes 
 December 27, 2018: Site Walk Attendee List, Minutes, Response Letter from Attar Engineering 
 January 8, 2019: Board of Appeals Minutes 
 January 10, 2019: Waiver Request, Staff Report, Planning Board Minutes 
 January 15, 2019: Board of Appeals Notice of Decision 
 February 12, 2019: Board of Appeals Request for Reconsideration 
 February 26, 2019: Board of Appeals Materials and Minutes 
 February 28, 2019: Staff Report, Planning Board Minutes 
 May 16, 2019: Temporary Certificate of Occupancy 
 May 23, 2019: Planning Board Minutes 
 June 6, 2019: Recorded Parking Plan  
 
 

kamaral
Highlight



















































TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine  APPROVED 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING  July 27, 2017 

Council Chambers 
 

P a g e  | 5 
 

Map 58 Lots 55-2, 55-3 and 55-4 only.  Florence Lane does not provide legal frontage for Map 183 
58 Lot 55. 184 
 185 
The motion carried 7-0-0. 186 
 187 

ITEM 5 – Seward Farm Lane – Major Subdivision Completeness Review  188 
Action: Accept or deny application. Schedule a public hearing. Owner/Applicant Gary Seward, 189 
Gregg Seward and Patti Parsons request consideration of a 14-lot conventional subdivision on 190 
remaining land along a previously approved private Right-of-Way (Seward Farm Lane) located 191 
at Picott Road (Tax Map 46 Lot 4) in the Residential-Rural (R-RL) and Shoreland Overlay (OZ-192 

SL-250) Zones. Agent is Stephen Haight, Civilworks New England. 193 
 194 
Stephen Haight, Civil Works of New England, reviewed the facts from the preliminary hearing. 195 

The 14 lots will have town water and individual septic.  The Maine DEP has given a previous 196 
permit. so, the road does not need further DEP approval. A topographical study should be 197 
included in the packet.  Mr. Haight pointed out the stormwater analysis was for 12 lots not 14, 198 
which does not change the analysis data because the same area is being proposed.  The drainage 199 

memo was updated to 14.   200 
 201 

Mr. Dunkelberger moved to accept the application for the subdivision plan dated 6/22/2017 202 
for owner/applicant Gary Seward, Gregg Seward and Patti Parsons request consideration 203 
of a 14-lot conventional subdivision on remaining land along a previously approved private 204 

Right-of-Way (Seward Farm Lane) located at Picott Road (Tax Map 46 Lot 4) in the 205 
Residential-Rural (R-RL) and Shoreland Overlay (OZ-SL-250) Zones. 206 

Ms. Driscoll Davis seconded the motion. 207 
 208 

The motion carried 7-0-0. 209 
 210 

Mr. Dunkelberger moved to schedule a public hearing for the subdivision plan dated 211 
6/22/2017 for owner/applicant Gary Seward, Gregg Seward and Patti Parsons request 212 
consideration of a 14-lot conventional subdivision on remaining land along a previously 213 

approved private Right-of-Way (Seward Farm Lane) located at Picott Road (Tax Map 46 214 
Lot 4) in the Residential-Rural (R-RL) and Shoreland Overlay (OZ-SL-250) Zones for 215 
August 10, 2017. 216 

Ms. Driscoll-Davis seconded the motion. 217 
 218 
The motion carried 7-0-0. 219 
 220 

Item 6 – 88 Pepperrell Cove – Special Exception Use 221 
Action:  Review Application.  Approve or deny special exception request. Owner, Chatham 222 
Street, LLC, and applicant, Ann Kendall, requests consideration of a special exception use to 223 

operate a small store and take-out ice cream restaurant located at 88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 224 
27, Lot 49A) in the Business Local (B-I.) and Shoreland Overlay (OZ-SL-250) zones. 225 
 226 
Donna Ryan, one of the partners of the project, explained the plan to open a small provisions 227 
store on the bottom floor of the Captain Simeon, building.  They will sell coffee, tea, muffins and 228 

kamaral
Highlight

kamaral
Highlight



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine  APPROVED 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING  July 27, 2017 

Council Chambers 
 

P a g e  | 6 
 

other small items including boater items.  The Ms. Ryan handed out a picture she received from 229 
Mr. Frisbee showing a store existed in the building in the past.   230 
 231 
Mr. Dunkelberger moved to approve special exception request dated July 6, 2017 for 232 
owner, Chatham Street, LLC, and applicant, Ann Kendall, requests consideration of a 233 

special exception use to operate a small store and take-out ice cream restaurant located at 234 
88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27, Lot 49A) in the Business Local (B-I.) and Shoreland 235 
Overlay (OZ-SL-250) zone. 236 
Mr. Alesse seconded the motion. 237 
 238 

Ms. Driscoll-Davis expressed her pleasure that they are in Kittery Point and on this project. The 239 
applicant has negotiated a long-term lease a  parking lot less than a mile away and is considering 240 
bringing valet service.  Septic has been looked at and has been approved for what they are 241 

planning.  Trash will be located in a small shed.   242 
 243 
The motion carried 7-0-0. 244 
 245 

Findings of Fact 246 
 247 

 248 
 249 
 250 

Item 7 – Town Code Amendment – 16.2.2 Definitions, 16.3.2.15 Mixed use Kittery Foreside 251 
Zone, 16.3.2.17 Shoreland Overlay Zone. 252 

Action:  Discussion.  Nor forma action. Applicant, Wallingford Square, LLC, requests consider 253 
of an amendment to Title 16, land use and Development Code to allow hotels in the Mixed-Use 254 

Kittery Foreside Zone. 255 
 256 

Chair Grinnell stated the Board had a workshop on this item in June.  The Applicant is asking to 257 
have the code changed to allow a 35-room hotel in the foreside zone.   258 
 259 

Ms. Driscoll-Davis asked if there was a determination of how many B & B’s and accessory 260 
dwelling in the foreside now.  Mr. Di Matteo replied the applicant indicated they would be 261 
willing to provide the information. Vice Chair Kalmar stated her concern with the residential 262 

quality of the foreside and would like to know how they will mitigate the impact to the 263 
residential character of the area.  Mr.  Dunkelberger suggested first determining if they want 264 
hotels in the foreside.   265 
 266 

Ms. Driscoll-Davis stated she has not heard any residents from the foreside in favor.  She 267 
reviewed the current and upcoming accommodations in the area and questioned the need for 268 
hotels in the foreside.  She has heard from residents they do not want Kittery to be a tourist town.  269 

Mr. Alesse is in favor of organic and slow growth.  He would like to hear from the applicant 270 
what the minimum number of rooms could be.   271 
 272 
Mr. Harris is not in favor and believes there would be traffic and parking issues.    273 
 274 



PLAN REVIEW NOTES  October 26, 2017 
88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49A)   
Business Use Change Referral  Page 1 of 2 

ITEM 3 

 
 

Town of Kittery Maine 
Town Planning Board Meeting 

October 26, 2017 
 
88 Pepperrell Road – The Bistro - Business Use Change Review 
Action: Approve or deny plan. Owner, Chatham Street, LLC, and applicant, Ann Kendall, are establishing 
a new business entity in an existing facility where intensity of use is significantly different, located at 88 
Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) in the Business Local (B-L) and Shoreland Overlay (OZ-SL-250’) 
Zones.  
 
 
Background 
The proposed development is part of a property-wide redevelopment effort that consists of the interior 
renovation of the three existing buildings, “The View” (previously Captain Simeons), “The Bistro” 
(previously Frisbee’s Market), and “Frisbee’s Wharf” (previously Lobster in the Rough), located at 88 
Pepperrell Cove. The existing/previous uses on site were retail, residential, storage, office and restaurant.  
 
The proposed development being considered by the Board is the conversion of existing Frisbee market 
space listed on the town’s Tax Card (attached) as stores or retail space along with an apartment.  The 
Board reviewed this property earlier in the year for the applicant’s proposed renovations to the lower level 
of the existing restaurant (The View) building, a small store and take-out ice cream restaurant to be 
named “Provisions”. Both retail businesses and restaurants needed a special exception use approval by the 
Board since it’s located in the Shoreland Overlay Zone, which the Board approved. 
 
 
Staff Review 
 

1. The purpose of this review is to consider if the proposed change from retail (the Frisbee Store) to 
restaurant (the Bistro) is significantly different in intensity of use.  The applicable provision in the 
Town Code is 16.10.3.6.3 below:  

 

16.10.3.6 Business Use Review. 
All business use including the following must be reviewed by the CEO and Town Planner to 
ensure compliance with the requirements of this Code including: 
1. Movement of an existing commercial or business entity from like to like facilities/use where 
major building/site modifications are not made; 
2. Movement of an existing commercial or business use into related facility/use buildings; 
3. Establishment of new commercial or business entity in an existing facility where intensity of 
use is not significantly different. 

 
2. A business use review that conforms to this provision is not subject to Planning Board Review per 

16.10.3.2: 
 

16.10.3.2 Other Development Review. 
Unless subject to a Shoreland Development Plan Review per 16.10.3.4, the following do not 
require Planning Board approval: 
A. Single and duplex family dwellings. 
B. Expansion of existing use where the expanded use will require fewer than six additional 
parking spaces. 
C. Division of land into lots (i.e., two lots) which division is not otherwise subject to Planning 



PLAN REVIEW NOTES  October 26, 2017 
88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49A)   
Business Use Change Referral  Page 2 of 2 

Board review as a subdivision.  
D. Business use as provided in Section 16.4.3.5. 

 
3. Per Title 16.4.3.5 below, Staff may refer to Planning Board a business use change application for 

their consideration. 
 

16.4.3.5 Business Use Changes. 
The Planner and the Code Enforcement Officer are to review and approve, or refer to the Planning 
Board for action, all business use changes which occur that fall below Planning Board review 
thresholds as outlined in Sections 16.10.3.2 and 16.10.3.6. Approval must be based on 
compliance with all requirements of this Code. 
 

4. The applicant has submitted a parking summary that demonstrates the sites existing 108 parking 
spaces is adequate for all the proposed uses of the four new businesses (Provisions, The Wharf, The 
View and The Bistro).  The summary has some minor inaccuracies that need correcting, however, the 
total still appears to be sufficient.  The changes include: 

a. adding the ice cream take-out area in the proposed Provisions to the total gross retail square 
area, resulting in 500 s.f. rather than 475.  The number of parking spaces incurred still remains the 
same. 
b. revise the totals to conform to the method for calculating parking per 16.8.9.4.D: 
When determination of the number of parking spaces required results in a requirement of a fractional space, 
any fraction of one-half or less may be disregarded, while a fraction in excess of one-half is counted as one 
parking space. 

 
Recommendation 
The Board needs to determine the following: 

1. When considering the proposed change of use, is the intensity of use is not significantly different?  
Staff considers change is more intensive and since the property, though zoned Business Local, is 
located in close proximity of a residential community.   

2. If the Board determines it is not significantly different then, the Board may refer it back Staff to 
review it as a business use change review or decide to review it and take action, per 16.4.3.5 that 
is needed to be in compliance with the Code. 

3. If the Board determines it is significantly different then the Board can review it as a Site Plan and 
would follow the appropriate review and noticing/public hearing requirements in Title 16. 

 
Staff recommends the Board reviews it as a business use change with the following considerations: 
a) The customer access area for the restaurant, The Wharf, which is the outdoor seating area that includes 
the former picnic tables, is reduced in size so that new area can only accommodate the proposed 51 seats 
and corresponding 17 parking spaces (765 square feet). 
b) As a condition of approval the applicant prepares a revised site plan that demonstrates the current 
outdoor seating area for The Wharf, approximately 1900 square feet, reduced to 765 square feet. 
 
Action 
With consideration of Staff comments and recommendation #2 and other requirements the Board may 
determine, the Planning Board may conditionally approve the Business Use Change application 
(suggested motion provided below).  
 
Move to approve with conditions the Business Use Change Application  dated September 21, 2017 from 
owner Chatham Street, LLC and applicant Ann Kendall for 88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) in 
the Business Local and Shoreland Overlay Zones upon the reading and voting, in the affirmative, on 
the Findings of Fact.  
 

< draft findings of fact will be provide at the meeting> 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine  APPROVED 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING  October 26, 2017 

Council Chambers 
 

P a g e  | 11 
 

The applicant stated they would like to get on the December 14, 2017 meeting agenda.  Mr. Di 

Matteo stated this would be within the 21-day requirement from applying. 

 

The motion carried 5-0-1. 

 

NEW BUSINESS  

 

ITEM 3 – 88 Pepperrell Road – The Bistro - Business Use Change Review  

Action: Approve or deny plan. Owner, Chatham Street, LLC, and applicant, Ann Kendall, are 

establishing a new business entity in an existing facility where intensity of use is significantly 

different, located at 88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49A) in the Business Local (B-L) and 

Shoreland Overlay (OZ-SL-250’) Zones. 

 

Carla Goodnight, CJ Architects and representing the applicants, explained the renovation began 

in May with the building permit application for the Wharf.  She explained in order to open as 

soon as possible, the applicants do not want to pursue any changes to the property that would 

require extensions and are not requesting variances or relief.  Ms. Goodnight described the 

current structures and their uses.  She added no footprint or volume changes are being proposed.  

The uses will stay the same but in different locations on the property. They have met with the 

planning and code departments to determine allowable areas for those uses. She went over the 

assignment of parking for each business and added the parking calculations are in the board 

packets.  The calculations were based on the parking plan approved by the Planning Board in 

2010 for 108 spaces. 

 

Mr. Di Matteo explained a plan from 2012 that is in the Board’s packet is for reference use only. 

He added this plan was submitted by a prior owner.   

 

Vice Chair Kalmar requested documentation demonstrating there are 108 spaces for parking.  

Ms. Goodnight replied they were given the last official finding from the Planning Board and no 

surveys had been done with other changes of use since then. Vice Chair Kalmar stated she is 

certain the applicant will succeed, however, she reiterated the need for the applicant to 

demonstrate there is sufficient parking for what they are proposing.  Ms. Goodnight explained it 

would take time to commission a site plan survey and she would like to use the present standard 

for parking.  Chair Grinnell agreed with the Vice Chair for the need to have documentation of 

parking.  Donna Ryan, applicant, explained they did not submit a parking site plan because they 

were given a map from the September 9, 2010 Planning Board meeting when the prior owner 

requested to add 20 picnic tables. Ms. Ryan added they were led to believe there was no 

requirement for a parking plan because they are working with the existing plan. Their uses have 

been based on that 2010 document.  Chair Grinnell stated the Board agrees but they need to have 

a site plan for parking. 

 

kamaral
Highlight

kamaral
Highlight



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine  APPROVED 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING  October 26, 2017 

Council Chambers 
 

P a g e  | 12 
 

Mr. Dunkelberger questioned why this issue of a large change is before them based on previous 

use.  Vice Chair Kalmar pointed out the documents in their packets stated this will be a more 

intense business use.  Ms. Ryan commented the Frisbee store had an intense use in the past and 

the parking was sufficient.  Chair Grinnell commented she wants this project to succeed but is 

concerned with future parking issues since the location is in in the middle of a residential area. 

 

Ms. Ryan added her goal is to bring the property back to what it was when it was a very joyful 

place to go.  She added they have support of the community and submitted the support letters.  

 

Extensive discussion of significant change of use ensued.  Mr. Dunkelberger suggested the 

Board send this back to the town planner and code enforcement officer, with the knowledge of 

the Board’s thoughts, in order to move the project forward. Mr. Di Matteo suggested the 

applicant seek approval for three of the four businesses now, since the Wharf cannot open until 

May of 2018.  Parking would not be an issue for three businesses and this would give them more 

time to come back to the Board to present a parking site plan. Ms. Ryan added they have the 

opportunity to lease two properties for valet service to avoid parking issues.  

 

Mr. Harris commented he does not see what the problem is and they should move ahead on this.   

 

Ms. Ryan reported she and board member, Debbie Driscoll-Davis, walked the property and Ms. 

Driscoll-Davis’ concerns were eased.  Mr. Di Matteo confirmed that Ms. Driscoll-Davis did meet 

on the property and she was satisfied.  Chair Grinnell would like to see the email from Ms. 

Driscoll-Davis regarding this.   

 

Mr. Di Matteo reiterated his proposal of having the Board determine this is a business use 

change for the planner and code enforcement officer and send it to them with the provision that, 

prior to the occupancy of the Wharf, the applicant return and show sufficient parking. Ms. 

Goodnight and the applicant agreed.   

 

Mr. Dunkelberger moved that the Board return this applicant to the Planner and Code 

Enforcement Officer as a business use change but not of such an intensity that requires 

Planning Board purview with the condition that applicant, prior to opening the final 

project the Wharf, come back with a detailed plan for parking for the entire project.   

Vice Chair Kalmar seconded the motion. 

 

The motion carried 6-0-0. 

 

Chair Grinnell stated the 2012 map will be officially taken out of the packet. 

 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine  APPROVED 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING  October 26, 2017 

Council Chambers 
 

P a g e  | 13 
 

Earldean Wells, Conservation Committee, commented the two septic systems should be looked 

at to ensure they are adequate and in working order. Mr. Di Matteo replied that will be part of the 

building permit. 

 

ITEM 4 - Board Member Items/ Discussion 

 

a.  Workforce Housing 

 

Chair Grinnell requested to have this item on tonight’s agenda because she has read 

workforce and affordable housing are important to communities and helps them to stay 

together.  Mr. Di Matteo suggested holding a workshop in January with the Economic 

Development Committee for discussion. Mr.  Dunkelberger believes having incentives 

created would encourage this to take place. Vice Chair Kalmar commented there are 

advantages but Kittery is small town and they need to be careful when deciding where to 

maximize density. Mr. Dunkelberger suggested locating in a mixed-use zone.  Ms. Day 

reported the Seacoast Housing Coalition is interested in having a workforce housing 

Charette, potentially in the spring.  If this were to happen, Chair Grinnell would like to 

include the business owners in the outlet area.   

 

The Board agreed to hold a joint workshop for the first meeting in January at 5:00 p.m.  

The Chair commented she would like this keep topic at the top of their list.  Mr. 

Dunkelberger added having the definitions of workforce and affordable housing is 

important. 

  

b. Board Updates 

 

Ms. Day informed the Board she is moving to Portsmouth and will not be able to remain 

a member.  The Board wished her the best.  Mr. Dunkelberger will take her spot on the 

Foreside Working Group.    

 

ITEM 5 - Town Planner Items 

 

Mr. Di Matteo reviewed an email he sent to the Board to grant a one-year extension for 24 

Williams Avenue to applicant and owner Doug and Karen Beane. 

 

Vice Chair Kalmar moved grant a one-year extension for the shoreland development plan 

located at 24 Williams Avenue, applicant and owner Doug and Karen Beane. approved on 

April 14, 2016, with a new expiration date of April 14, 2019 for completion.   

Mr. Alesse seconded the motion. 

 









Town of Kittery 

Planning Board Meeting 

February 8, 2018 

 
88 Pepperrell Road – Shoreland Development Plan Review 

Action: Accept or deny application; approve or deny plan: Owner, Chatham Street LLC, and Applicant, 

1828 Pepperrell Cove LLC, requests consideration of a plan to remove existing overhangs and entry 

vestibule and construct a new porch overhang at 88 Pepperrell Road, Tax Map 27 Lot 49, in the Business - 

Local (B-L) and the Shoreland Overlay (OZ-SL-250’) Zones. 
 

 

PROJECT TRACKING 

REQ’D ACTION COMMENTS STATUS 

YES 

Shoreland Development 

Plan Review 

Completeness/Acceptance 

Scheduled for February 8, 2018 PENDING 

NO Site Walk  TBD 

NO Public Hearing  TBD 

YES 
Shoreland Development 
Plan Review 

Plan Approval 

Possible for February 8, 2018 TBD 

Applicant:  Plan Review Notes reflect comments and recommendations regarding applicability of Town Land Use Development Code, and standard 
planning and development practices. Only the PB makes final decisions on code compliance and approves, approves with conditions or denies final 

plans. Prior to the signing of the approved Plan any Conditions of Approval related to the Findings of Fact along with waivers and variances 

(by the BOA) must be placed on the Final Plan and, when applicable, recorded at the York County Registry of Deeds.  PLACE THE MAP 

AND LOT NUMBER IN 1/4” HIGH LETTERS AT LOWER RIGHT BORDER OF ALL PLAN SHEETS.   As per Section 16.4.4.13 - 

Grading/Construction Final Plan Required. - Grading or construction of roads, grading of land or lots, or construction of buildings is prohibited until 

the original copy of the approved final plan endorsed has been duly recorded in the York County registry of deeds when applicable.  

 

Background 

The proposed development is part of a property-wide redevelopment effort that consists of the interior 

renovation of the three existing buildings, “The View” (previously Captain Simeons), “The Bistro” 

(previously Frisbee’s Market), and “Frisbee’s Wharf” (previously Lobster in the Rough), located at 88 

Pepperrell Cove. The Board considered the proposed renovations to the lower level of the building now 

known as the View in July of last year and a use-intensity increase in October, also last year. Both were 

approved. 

 

The current proposed development concerns the renovation of The Bistro building (formerly Frisbee’s 

Market) which requires approval by the Board since it is located in the Shoreland Overlay Zone. 

Specifically, the Applicant wishes to construct a new porch overhang along the front of the Bistro 

building while removing the existing vestibule and overhang currently on the front of the building as well 

as removing an existing overhang on the Bellamy Lane side of the building that encroaches on the public 

way. See photographs included in the application submission. 

 

Staff Review 

The plan includes the information required under 16.10.7.2 as may be applicable to the project, including 

an aerial map, drawings of the building under consideration and photographs.  

 

Staff has the following comments: 

1. Page 3 of the Shoreland Development Plan application shows that the total square footage of the 

building as it currently exists is 2,249 sf. With the removal of the two specified overhangs and the 

vestibule, together with the addition of the proposed overhang, the building will be 2,214 sf. There 

is no proposed increase, instead there is a proposed decrease of 35 sf of structure within the 100-

foot setback.  

2. The building drawings show the square footage for each portion (either vestibule or overhang) 

proposed for removal within the Shoreland Overlay as well as the square footage of the portions 

ITEM 6 



PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49)   
Shoreland Development Plan Review   Page 2 of 9 

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

M27 L49 

that are not. The portion of the proposed new overhang within the 100-foot setback is shown as 

being 80.6 sf. Adding up the proposed removals: 18.5 sf, 59 sf and 38.3 sf equals 115.8 sf. 

Subtracting the proposed overhang from the total of the proposed vestibule and overhang removals 

(115.8 - 80.6) = 35.2 square feet.  

3. It appears the proposed plan makes the building known as The Bistro less non-conforming by 

removing about 35 square feet of structure from within the 100-foot setback. 

 

Recommendations: 

With consideration of the above Staff comments, the proposed development appears to be in general 

conformance with the standards of Title 16.  

 

Staff recommends that the Board decide whether to conduct a site walk and set a date if so. 

 

Staff recommends that the Board decide whether to hold a public hearing (motion below if a public hearing 

is desired). If no site walk will be held and no public hearing is set to be held, the Board may approve the 

final plan with any conditions (motion to approve is below). 

 

Action 
 

Move to schedule a public hearing on the Shoreland Development Plan dated January 18, 2018 from 

owner Chatham Street LLC and applicant 1828 Pepperrell Cove LLC (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) in the 

Business – Local and Shoreland Overlay Zones for March 8, 2018  

 

  or 

  

Move to approve with conditions the Shoreland Development Plan dated January 18, 2018 from owner 

Chatham Street LLC and applicant 1828 Pepperrell Cove LLC (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) in the Business – 

Local and Shoreland Overlay Zones, upon the review and voting in the affirmative on the Findings of 

Fact. 

 

 

Kittery Planning Board  UNAPPROVED 

Findings of Fact 
For 88 Pepperrell Road 

Shoreland Development Plan Review 

 

WHEREAS: Owner, Chatham Street LLC, and Applicant, 1828 Pepperrell Cove LLC requests 

consideration of a plan to remove existing overhangs and entry vestibule and construct a new porch 

overhang at 88 Pepperrell Road, Tax Map 27 Lot 49, in the Business - Local (B-L) and the Shoreland 

Overlay (OZ-SL-250’) Zones, hereinafter the “Development” and Pursuant to the Plan Review meetings 

conducted by the Planning Board as noted in the plan review notes prepared for 2/8/2018.  
 

Shoreland Development Plan Review 2/8/2018 HELD 

Site Walk 
 

TBD 

Public Hearing  TBD 

Shoreland Development Plan Approval  PENDING 

 

And pursuant to the application and plan and other documents considered to be a part of a plan review 

decision by the Planning Board in this Finding of Fact consisting of the following (hereinafter the 

“Plan”):  

  



 
 
 
PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) 
Shoreland Development Plan Review and Approval        Page 3 of 9  

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

 

1. Shoreland Development Plan Application dated 1/18/18 

2. Shoreland Development Plan 

.  

NOW THEREFORE, based on the entire record before the Planning Board and pursuant to the 

applicable standards in the Land Use and Development Code, the Planning Board makes the following 

factual findings and conclusions:  

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

Chapter 16.3 LAND USE ZONE REGULATIONS 

16.3.2.17.D Shoreland Overlay Zone 

1.d The total footprints of the areas devegetated for structures, parking lots and other impervious 

surfaces, must not exceed twenty (20) percent of the lot area, including existing development, except in 

the following zones… 

 

Finding: This property is fully developed with previously existing structures, travel ways and parking 

areas.   

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.  

Vote: __ in favor ___ against __ abstaining 

 

Chapter 16.7 GENERAL DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS 

Article III Nonconformance 

16.7.3.1 Prohibitions and Allowances 

A. Except as otherwise provided in this Article, a nonconforming condition must not be permitted to 

become more nonconforming. 

 

Finding: The plan as proposed makes one of the existing buildings less non-conforming by removing 

35 sf of structure from within the 100-foot setback. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.  

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

16.7.3.3.2  Nonconforming Structure Repair and/or Expansion  

E.  In addition to the standards in the above subsections 16.7.3.3.2.A-D, the expansion of 

nonconforming structures located in the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone must meet the 

following:  



 
 
 
PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) 
Shoreland Development Plan Review and Approval        Page 4 of 9  

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

1.  Wherever a new, enlarged, or replacement foundation is constructed under a nonconforming 

structure the structure and new foundation must be placed such that setback requirements are met to the 

greatest practical extent as determined by the Planning Board, basing its decision on the criteria 

specified in Title 16.7.3.3.1.B, Nonconforming Structure Relocation.  

 2.  Expansion of any portion of a structure that is located within 25 feet of the normal high-water 

line of a water body, tributary stream, or upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland is prohibited.  

3.  Notwithstanding Title 16.7.3.3.2.E.2 above, if a legally existing nonconforming principal 

structure is entirely located less than 25-feet from the normal high-water line of a waterbody, tributary 

stream, or upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland, that structure may be expanded as follows,  

a. the maximum total footprint for the principal structure may not be expanded to a size greater than 800 

square feet or 30% larger than the footprint that existed on January 1, 1989, whichever is greater. The 

maximum height of the principal structure may not be made greater than 15 feet or the height of the 

existing structure, whichever is greater. Roof slope must not be less than an 8:12 pitch. 

4.  Expansion of an accessory structure that is located closer to the normal high-water line of a 

water body, tributary stream, or upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland than the principal 

structure is prohibited, even if the expansion will not increase nonconformity with the water body, 

tributary stream or coastal or freshwater wetland setback requirement. All other legally existing 

nonconforming principal and accessory structures that do not meet the water body, tributary stream, or 

coastal or freshwater wetland setback requirements may be expanded or altered as follows: 

a. For structures located less than 100 feet from the normal high-water line of a water body, tributary 

stream, or upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland, the maximum combined total footprint for all 

structures may not be expanded to a size greater than 1,000 square feet, or 30% larger than the footprint 

that existed on January 1, 1989, whichever is greater. The maximum height of any structure may not be 

made greater than 20 feet, or the height of the existing structure, whichever is greater. Roof slope must 

not be less than an 8:12 pitch. 

b. For structures that are located within the Resource Protection Overlay Zone, the maximum combined 

total footprint for all structures may not be expanded to a size greater than 1,500 square feet, or 30% 

larger than the footprint that existed at the time the Resource Protection Overlay Zone was established, 

whichever is greater. The maximum height of any structure may not be greater than 25 feet, or the height 

of the existing structure, whichever is greater, except that any portion of those structures located less 

than 100 feet from the normal high water line of a waterbody, tributary stream, or upland edge of a 

coastal or freshwater wetland must meet the footprint, roof pitch and height limits in 16.7.3.3.2.E.4.a, 

above. 

 

Finding: The proposed removal of the vestibule and two overhangs together with the addition of a new 

overhang results in a decrease in the square footage of the structure within the Shoreland Overlay Zone.  

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.   

Vote: __ in favor ___ against __ abstaining  

16.7.3.3.3 Nonconforming structure reconstruction 



 
 
 
PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) 
Shoreland Development Plan Review and Approval        Page 5 of 9  

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

A. In the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone(s), any nonconforming structure which is 

located less than the required setback from a water body, tributary stream, or coastal or freshwater 

wetland and which is removed,  damaged or destroyed, by any cause, by more than 50% of the market 

value of the structure before such damage, destruction or removal, may be reconstructed or replaced 

provided that a permit is obtained within eighteen (18) months of the date of said damage, destruction, 

or removal, and provided that such reconstruction or replacement is in compliance with the water 

body, tributary stream or coastal or freshwater wetland setback requirement to the greatest practical 

extent as determined by the Planning Board. In determining whether the structure reconstruction meets 

the setback to the greatest practical extent the Planning Board must consider, in addition to the 

criteria in Section 16.7.3.3.1,B Nonconforming Structure Relocation, the physical condition and type of 

foundation present, if any.  

B. In the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone(s), any nonconforming structure which is 

located less than the required setback from a water body, tributary stream, or coastal or freshwater 

wetland and removed, damaged or destroyed by any cause by 50% or less of the market value of the 

structure before such damage, destruction or removal, may be reconstructed in-place if a permit is 

obtained from the Code Enforcement Officer within twelve (12) months of the established date of 

damage or destruction.   

C. Outside of the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone(s), any nonconforming structure 

which is removed, damaged or destroyed by any cause may be restored or reconstructed in-place if a 

permit is obtained from the Code Enforcement Officer within eighteen (18) months of the date of said 

removal, damage or destruction. Such restoration or reconstruction must not make the structure more 

nonconforming than the prior nonconforming structure.  

D. Nothing in this section prevents the demolition of the remains of any structure damaged or 

destroyed. Application for a demolition permit for any structure that has been partially damaged or 

destroyed must be made to the Code Enforcement Officer.  

E. In the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone(s), if the total footprint of the original 

structure can be reconstructed beyond the required setback area, no portion of the reconstructed 

structure may be reconstructed at less than the setback requirement for a new structure. If the 

reconstructed or replacement structure is less than the required setback, it may not be any larger than 

the original structure, except as allowed in Title 16.7.3.3.2, Nonconforming Structure Repair and 

Expansion.  

F. When it is necessary to remove vegetation to reconstruct a structure, vegetation will be replanted in 

accordance with Section 16.7.3.3.1.C, Nonconforming Structure Relocation.  

G. Except where expressly permitted in this code, in no case may a structure be reconstructed or 

replaced so as to increase its non-conformity. 

 

Finding: The building is being renovated with small portions proposed for removal and a new overhang 

proposed to be added which will decrease the square footage within the Shoreland Overlay Zone.  

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.    

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 



 
 
 
PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) 
Shoreland Development Plan Review and Approval        Page 6 of 9  

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

 

Chapter 10 DEVELOPMENT PLAN APPLICATION AND REVIEW 

Article 10 Shoreland Development Review 

16.10.10.2 Procedure for Administering Permits 

D. An application will be approved or approved with conditions if the reviewing authority makes a 

positive finding based on the information presented. It must be demonstrated the proposed use will: 

1. Maintain safe and healthful conditions; 

 

Finding: The proposed development as represented in the plans and application does not appear to have 

an adverse impact. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

2. Not result in water pollution, erosion or sedimentation to surface waters; 

 

Finding: The proposed development will have little impact on surface waters. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

3. Adequately provide for the disposal of all wastewater; 

 

Finding: The proposed development will not affect the existing wastewater disposal system.  

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

4. Not have an adverse impact on spawning grounds, fish, aquatic life, bird or other wildlife habitat; 

 

Finding: The proposed development does not appear to have an adverse impact. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.  



 
 
 
PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) 
Shoreland Development Plan Review and Approval        Page 7 of 9  

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

5. Conserve shore cover and visual, as well as actual points of access to inland and coastal waters; 

 

Finding: Because the property is already fully developed, shore cover is not adversely impacted 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

6. Protect archaeological and historic resources; 

 

Finding: The building under consideration is part of the historical fabric of Kittery Point. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.  

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

7. Not adversely affect existing commercial fishing or maritime activities in a commercial 

fisheries/maritime activities district; 

 

Finding: The proposed development does not adversely impact existing commercial fishing or 

maritime activities. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

8. Avoid problems associated with floodplain development and use; 

 

Finding: The property is already fully developed. The proposed changes do not appear to have an 

impact on a floodplain or flood-prone area.   

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

9. Is in conformance with the provisions of this code; 

 



 
 
 
PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) 
Shoreland Development Plan Review and Approval        Page 8 of 9  

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

Finding: The proposed development complies with the applicable standards of Title 16. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

10. Be recorded with the York County Registry of Deeds. 

 

Finding: A plan suitable for recording will be prepared.  

 

Conclusion: As stated in the Notices to Applicant contained herein, Shoreland Development plans must 

be recorded with the York County Registry of Deeds within 90 days of approval prior to the issuance 

of a building permit.  

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

 

NOW THEREFORE the Kittery Planning Board adopts each of the foregoing Findings of Fact and 

based on these Findings determines the proposed Development will have no significant detrimental 

impact, and the Kittery Planning Board hereby grants final approval for the Development at the above 

referenced property, including any waivers granted or conditions as noted.   

 

Waivers: None 

 

Conditions of Approval (to be depicted on final plan notes to be recorded): 

1. No changes, erasures, modifications or revisions may be made to any Planning Board approved 

final plan. (Title 16.10.9.1.2) 

2. All Notices to Applicant contained herein (Findings of Fact dated 02/8/2018). 

 

Conditions of Approval (not to be depicted on final plan notes): 

3. Incorporate any plan revisions on the final plan as recommended by Staff, Planning Board or Peer 

Review Engineer, and submit for Staff review prior to presentation on final Mylar.  

a. Change title of plan from “Shoreline” to “Shoreland”. 



 
 
 
PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) 
Shoreland Development Plan Review and Approval        Page 9 of 9  

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

The Planning Board authorizes the Planning Board Chair, or Vice Chair, to sign the Final Plan and the 

Findings of Fact upon confirmation of required plan changes.  

 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

 

APPROVED BY THE KITTERY PLANNING BOARD ON  _________ 

 

 

________________________________________ 

Ann Grinnell, Planning Board Chair 

 

 

Notices to Applicant:  
1. Incorporate any plan revisions on the final plan as required by Planning Board and submit for  

Staff review prior to presentation of final mylar.  

2. Prior to the release of the signed plans, the applicant must pay all outstanding fees associated with the 

permitting, including, but not limited to, Town Attorney fees, peer review, newspaper advertisements 

and abutter notification. 

 

3. One (1) mylar copy of the final plan and any and all related state/federal permits or legal documents 

that may be required, must be submitted to the Town Planning Department for signing. Date of 

Planning Board approval shall be included on the final plan in the Signature Block. After the signed 

plan is recorded with the York County Registry of Deeds, a mylar copy and a paper copy of the 

signed original must be submitted to the Town Planning Department. 

 

4. This approval by the Town Planning Board constitutes an agreement between the Town and the 

Developer, incorporating as elements the Development Plan and supporting documentation, the 

Findings of Fact, and any Conditions of Approval.  

Per Title 16.6.2.A - An aggrieved party with legal standing may appeal a final decision of the Planning 

Board to the York County Superior Court in accordance with Maine Rules of Civil Procedures Section 

80B, within forty-five (45) days from the date the decision by the Planning Board was rendered. 

 

 

 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine  APPROVED 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING  February 8, 2018 

Council Chambers 
 

P a g e  | 21 
 

 
Item 6 - 88 Pepperrell Road - Shoreland Development Plan Review 
Action:  Accept or deny application.  Approve or deny plan.  Owner/Applicant, 1828 Pepperrell 
Cove LLC requests consideration of the removal of a vestibule and two overhangs and the 
addition of a new overhang on a building located on 58 Pepperrell road (Tax Map 27, Lot 49) in 
the Business - Local (B-L) and the Shoreland Overlay (OZ-SL) Zones.  Agent is Carla 
Goodknight, CJ Architects. 
 
Carla Goodknight explained the changes requested exist partially within the 100-ft. offset line 
from the highest annual tide.  She referred to Page 3 of the submittal picturing the overhangs 
and vestibule that are proposed to be removed.  She added on Page 2 the square footages 
have been quantified and the proposed new overhang represented shows a 9-sq. ft. reduction 
overall to the impact. The area within the 100 ft. zone is reduced to 35 sq. ft.   
 
The Board was in consensus this item does not need to go to a public hearing.  
 
Mr. White moved the application for Shoreland Development Plan dated January 18, 2018 
from owner Street LLC and applicant 1828 Pepperrell Cove LLC (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) in 
the Business – Local and Shoreland Overlay Zones, is complete. 
Mr. Ledgett seconded the motion. 
 
The motion carried 7-0-0. 
 
Vice Chair Kalmar moved to approve with conditions the Shoreland Development Plan 
dated January 18, 2018 from owner Street LLC and applicant 1828 Pepperrell Cove LLC 
(Tax Map 27 Lot 49) in the Business – Local and Shoreland Overlay Zones, upon the 
review and voting in the affirmative on the Findings of Fact. 
Mr. Dunkelberger seconded the motion. 
 
The motion carried 7-0-0. 
 
 

KITTERY PLANNING BOARD                  APPROVED  

FINDINGS OF FACT                                    

88 Pepperrell Road 

Shoreland Development Plan Review 

WHEREAS: Owner, Chatham Street LLC, and Applicant, 1828 Pepperrell Cove LLC requests 

consideration of a plan to remove existing overhangs and entry vestibule and construct a new porch 

overhang at 88 Pepperrell Road, Tax Map 27 Lot 49, in the Business - Local (B-L) and the 

Shoreland Overlay (OZ-SL-250’) Zones, hereinafter the “Development” and Pursuant to the Plan 

Review meetings conducted by the Planning Board as noted in the plan review notes prepared for 

2/8/2018.  
 

kamaral
Highlight

kamaral
Highlight



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine  APPROVED 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING  February 8, 2018 

Council Chambers 
 

P a g e  | 22 
 

Shoreland Development Plan Application 

Completeness Review 
2/8/2018 

HELD 

Site Walk 
 

TBD 

Public Hearing  TBD 

Shoreland Development Plan Approval 2/8/2018 APPROVED 

 

And pursuant to the application and plan and other documents considered to be a part of a plan review 

decision by the Planning Board in this Finding of Fact consisting of the following (hereinafter the “Plan”):  

1. Shoreland Development Plan Application dated 1/18/18 

2. Shoreland Development Plan 

NOW THEREFORE, based on the entire record before the Planning Board and pursuant to the applicable 

standards in the Land Use and Development Code, the Planning Board makes the following factual 

findings and conclusions:  

FINDINGS OF FACT 

Chapter 16.3 LAND USE ZONE REGULATIONS 

16.3.2.17.D Shoreland Overlay Zone 

1.d The total footprints of the areas devegetated for structures, parking lots and other impervious 

surfaces, must not exceed twenty (20) percent of the lot area, including existing development, except 

in the following zones… 

 

Finding: This property is fully developed with previously existing structures, travel ways and parking 

areas.   

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.  

Vote: _7_ in favor _0__ against _0_ abstaining 

 

  



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine  APPROVED 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING  February 8, 2018 

Council Chambers 
 

P a g e  | 23 
 

Chapter 16.7 GENERAL DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS 

Article III Nonconformance 

16.7.3.1 Prohibitions and Allowances 

A. Except as otherwise provided in this Article, a nonconforming condition must not be permitted to 

become more nonconforming. 

 

Finding: The plan as proposed makes one of the existing buildings less non-conforming by removing 

35 sf of structure from within the 100-foot setback. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.  

Vote: _7_ in favor _0_ against _0_ abstaining 

16.7.3.3.2  Nonconforming Structure Repair and/or Expansion  

E.  In addition to the standards in the above subsections 16.7.3.3.2.A-D, the expansion of 

nonconforming structures located in the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone must meet the 

following:  

1.  Wherever a new, enlarged, or replacement foundation is constructed under a nonconforming 

structure the structure and new foundation must be placed such that setback requirements are met to 

the greatest practical extent as determined by the Planning Board, basing its decision on the criteria 

specified in Title 16.7.3.3.1.B, Nonconforming Structure Relocation.  

 2.  Expansion of any portion of a structure that is located within 25 feet of the normal high-water 

line of a water body, tributary stream, or upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland is prohibited.  

3.  Notwithstanding Title 16.7.3.3.2.E.2 above, if a legally existing nonconforming principal 

structure is entirely located less than 25-feet from the normal high-water line of a waterbody, tributary 

stream, or upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland, that structure may be expanded as follows,  

a. the maximum total footprint for the principal structure may not be expanded to a size greater than 

800 square feet or 30% larger than the footprint that existed on January 1, 1989, whichever is greater. 

The maximum height of the principal structure may not be made greater than 15 feet or the height of 

the existing structure, whichever is greater. Roof slope must not be less than an 8:12 pitch. 

4.  Expansion of an accessory structure that is located closer to the normal high-water line of a 

water body, tributary stream, or upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland than the principal 

structure is prohibited, even if the expansion will not increase nonconformity with the water body, 

tributary stream or coastal or freshwater wetland setback requirement. All other legally existing 

nonconforming principal and accessory structures that do not meet the water body, tributary stream, 

or coastal or freshwater wetland setback requirements may be expanded or altered as follows: 

a. For structures located less than 100 feet from the normal high-water line of a water body, tributary 

stream, or upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland, the maximum combined total footprint for 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine  APPROVED 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING  February 8, 2018 

Council Chambers 
 

P a g e  | 24 
 

all structures may not be expanded to a size greater than 1,000 square feet, or 30% larger than the 

footprint that existed on January 1, 1989, whichever is greater. The maximum height of any structure 

may not be made greater than 20 feet, or the height of the existing structure, whichever is greater. Roof 

slope must not be less than an 8:12 pitch. 

b. For structures that are located within the Resource Protection Overlay Zone, the maximum combined 

total footprint for all structures may not be expanded to a size greater than 1,500 square feet, or 30% 

larger than the footprint that existed at the time the Resource Protection Overlay Zone was established, 

whichever is greater. The maximum height of any structure may not be greater than 25 feet, or the 

height of the existing structure, whichever is greater, except that any portion of those structures located 

less than 100 feet from the normal high water line of a waterbody, tributary stream, or upland edge of 

a coastal or freshwater wetland must meet the footprint, roof pitch and height limits in 16.7.3.3.2.E.4.a, 

above. 

 

Finding: The proposed removal of the vestibule and two overhangs together with the addition of a 

new overhang results in a decrease in the square footage of the structure within the Shoreland 

Overlay Zone.  

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.   

Vote: _7_ in favor _0__ against _0_ abstaining  

16.7.3.3.3 Nonconforming structure reconstruction 

A. In the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone(s), any nonconforming structure which is 

located less than the required setback from a water body, tributary stream, or coastal or freshwater 

wetland and which is removed,  damaged or destroyed, by any cause, by more than 50% of the market 

value of the structure before such damage, destruction or removal, may be reconstructed or replaced 

provided that a permit is obtained within eighteen (18) months of the date of said damage, 

destruction, or removal, and provided that such reconstruction or replacement is in compliance with 

the water body, tributary stream or coastal or freshwater wetland setback requirement to the 

greatest practical extent as determined by the Planning Board. In determining whether the structure 

reconstruction meets the setback to the greatest practical extent the Planning Board must consider, in 

addition to the criteria in Section 16.7.3.3.1,B Nonconforming Structure Relocation, the physical 

condition and type of foundation present, if any.  

B. In the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone(s), any nonconforming structure which is 

located less than the required setback from a water body, tributary stream, or coastal or freshwater 

wetland and removed, damaged or destroyed by any cause by 50% or less of the market value of the 

structure before such damage, destruction or removal, may be reconstructed in-place if a permit is 

obtained from the Code Enforcement Officer within twelve (12) months of the established date of 

damage or destruction.   

C. Outside of the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone(s), any nonconforming structure 

which is removed, damaged or destroyed by any cause may be restored or reconstructed in-place if a 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine  APPROVED 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING  February 8, 2018 

Council Chambers 
 

P a g e  | 25 
 

permit is obtained from the Code Enforcement Officer within eighteen (18) months of the date of said 

removal, damage or destruction. Such restoration or reconstruction must not make the structure more 

nonconforming than the prior nonconforming structure.  

D. Nothing in this section prevents the demolition of the remains of any structure damaged or 

destroyed. Application for a demolition permit for any structure that has been partially damaged or 

destroyed must be made to the Code Enforcement Officer.  

E. In the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone(s), if the total footprint of the original 

structure can be reconstructed beyond the required setback area, no portion of the reconstructed 

structure may be reconstructed at less than the setback requirement for a new structure. If the 

reconstructed or replacement structure is less than the required setback, it may not be any larger than 

the original structure, except as allowed in Title 16.7.3.3.2, Nonconforming Structure Repair and 

Expansion.  

F. When it is necessary to remove vegetation to reconstruct a structure, vegetation will be replanted in 

accordance with Section 16.7.3.3.1.C, Nonconforming Structure Relocation.  

G. Except where expressly permitted in this code, in no case may a structure be reconstructed or 

replaced so as to increase its non-conformity. 

 

Finding: The building is being renovated with small portions proposed for removal and a new 

overhang proposed to be added which will decrease the square footage within the Shoreland Overlay 

Zone.  

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.    

Vote: _7_ in favor _0_ against _0_ abstaining 

 

Chapter 10 DEVELOPMENT PLAN APPLICATION AND REVIEW 

Article 10 Shoreland Development Review 

16.10.10.2 Procedure for Administering Permits 

D. An application will be approved or approved with conditions if the reviewing authority makes a 

positive finding based on the information presented. It must be demonstrated the proposed use will: 

1. Maintain safe and healthful conditions; 

 

Finding: The proposed development as represented in the plans and application does not appear to 

have an adverse impact. 

 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine  APPROVED 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING  February 8, 2018 

Council Chambers 
 

P a g e  | 26 
 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: _7_ in favor _0_ against _0_ abstaining 

2. Not result in water pollution, erosion or sedimentation to surface waters; 

 

Finding: The proposed development will have little impact on surface waters. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: _7_ in favor _0_ against _0_ abstaining 

3. Adequately provide for the disposal of all wastewater; 

 

Finding: The proposed development will not affect the existing wastewater disposal system.  

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: _7_ in favor _0_ against _0_ abstaining 

4. Not have an adverse impact on spawning grounds, fish, aquatic life, bird or other wildlife habitat; 

 

Finding: The proposed development does not appear to have an adverse impact. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.  

Vote: _7_ in favor _0_ against _0_ abstaining 

5. Conserve shore cover and visual, as well as actual points of access to inland and coastal waters; 

 

Finding: Because the property is already fully developed, shore cover is not adversely impacted 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: _7_ in favor _0_ against _0_ abstaining 

6. Protect archaeological and historic resources; 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine  APPROVED 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING  February 8, 2018 

Council Chambers 
 

P a g e  | 27 
 

 

Finding: The building under consideration is part of the historical fabric of Kittery Point. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.  

Vote: _7_ in favor _0_ against _0_ abstaining 

7. Not adversely affect existing commercial fishing or maritime activities in a commercial 

fisheries/maritime activities district; 

 

Finding: The proposed development does not adversely impact existing commercial fishing or 

maritime activities. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: _7_ in favor _0_ against _0_ abstaining 

8. Avoid problems associated with floodplain development and use; 

 

Finding: The property is already fully developed. The proposed changes do not appear to have an 

impact on a floodplain or flood-prone area.   

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: _7_ in favor _0_ against _0_ abstaining 

9. Is in conformance with the provisions of this code; 

 

Finding: The proposed development complies with the applicable standards of Title 16. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: _7_ in favor _0_ against _0_ abstaining 

10. Be recorded with the York County Registry of Deeds. 

 

Finding: A plan suitable for recording will be prepared.  



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine  APPROVED 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING  February 8, 2018 

Council Chambers 
 

P a g e  | 28 
 

 

Conclusion: As stated in the Notices to Applicant contained herein, Shoreland Development plans 

must be recorded with the York County Registry of Deeds within 90 days of approval prior to the 

issuance of a building permit.  

Vote: _7_ in favor _0_ against _0_ abstaining 

 

NOW THEREFORE the Kittery Planning Board adopts each of the foregoing Findings of Fact and based on 

these Findings determines the proposed Development will have no significant detrimental impact, and 

the Kittery Planning Board hereby grants final approval for the Development at the above referenced 

property, including any waivers granted or conditions as noted.   

Waivers: None 

Conditions of Approval (to be depicted on final plan notes to be recorded): 

1. No changes, erasures, modifications or revisions may be made to any Planning Board approved 
final plan. (Title 16.10.9.1.2) 

2. All Notices to Applicant contained herein (Findings of Fact dated 02/8/2018). 
 

Conditions of Approval (not to be depicted on final plan notes): 

3. Incorporate any plan revisions on the final plan as recommended by Staff, Planning Board or Peer 
Review Engineer, and submit for Staff review prior to presentation on final Mylar.  

a. Change title of plan from “Shoreline” to “Shoreland”. 

 

The Planning Board authorizes the Planning Board Chair, or Vice Chair, to sign the Final Plan and the 

Findings of Fact upon confirmation of required plan changes.  

Vote: _7_ in favor _0_ against _0_ abstaining 

 

APPROVED BY THE KITTERY PLANNING BOARD ON  _________ 

 

________________________________________ 

Ann Grinnell, Planning Board Chair 

 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine  APPROVED 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING  February 8, 2018 

Council Chambers 
 

P a g e  | 29 
 

Notices to Applicant:  

1. Incorporate any plan revisions on the final plan as required by Planning Board and submit for  
Staff review prior to presentation of final mylar.  

2. Prior to the release of the signed plans, the applicant must pay all outstanding fees associated with 
the permitting, including, but not limited to, Town Attorney fees, peer review, newspaper 
advertisements and abutter notification. 
 

3. One (1) mylar copy of the final plan and any and all related state/federal permits or legal documents 
that may be required, must be submitted to the Town Planning Department for signing. Date of 
Planning Board approval shall be included on the final plan in the Signature Block. After the signed 
plan is recorded with the York County Registry of Deeds, a mylar copy and a paper copy of the 
signed original must be submitted to the Town Planning Department. 

 

4. This approval by the Town Planning Board constitutes an agreement between the Town and the 
Developer, incorporating as elements the Development Plan and supporting documentation, the 
Findings of Fact, and any Conditions of Approval.  

Per Title 16.6.2.A - An aggrieved party with legal standing may appeal a final decision of the Planning 

Board to the York County Superior Court in accordance with Maine Rules of Civil Procedures Section 

80B, within forty-five (45) days from the date the decision by the Planning Board was rendered. 

 
ITEM 7 - BOARD MEMBER ITEMS/DISCUSSION 
 
Chair Grinnell requested the Board review their “to do list” once staff is in place.   
 
Vice Chair Kalmar explained the requirement in their Bylaws of members attending MMA 
training. Board members will find out when the next training occurs. 
 
The Board was in consensus to have Mr. White as the representative on the Comprehensive 
Planning Committee.  Mr. White informed the Board they have shrunk down the executive 
summary from feedback of the workshops.  They will have a public hearing and it will be sent to 
the State for another review.    
 
ITEM 8 -TOWN PLANNER ITEMS 
 
Ms. Connor has spoken with Jeff Clifford from Altus Engineering regarding extending the Betty 
Welch Road subdivision.  Vice Chair Kalmar acknowledged that the time since August 24, 2017 
should not be counted as the six-month deadline because another agency was stalling them.   
 
Vice Chair Kalmar moved that the Board formally acknowledge the time for the 
Huntington Run Subdivision since August 24, 2017 has not counted towards the six-
month deadline of the Huntington Run Subdivision application in accordance with 
16.10.7.1.3.A 
Mr. Dunkelberger seconded the motion. 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  

PLANNING BOARD MEETING    April 26, 2018  

Council Chambers  

 

6 | P a g e  
 

A. York River Watershed Study 

 

Ms. Connor explained the information from the York River Water Shed study will be 

presented to the Board on May 24th.  She gave a background of the study and 

explained four communities are looking to have the river designated as a wild and 

scenic river. She added they would also like to produce a water shed stewardship 

plan.  She listed the surveys and the studies the YRWS has done.  The watershed 

stewardship plan includes a grant of a build out analysis for the four communities 

which will be shown on the 24th.  Ms. Connor pointed out she included a link of the 

study on the agenda.   

 

Ms. Connor looked into the parking requirement for 88 Pepperrell Cove.  She 

explained the Minutes from July 27, 2017 covered the special exception granted for 

the ice cream shop and included discussion of a parking lot less than a mile away 

with valet parking.  The October 26, 2017 Minutes reflected a condition in the motion 

that the owners need to come back to staff prior to the last business being opened 

with a detailed plan for parking.  Ms. Connor reported this is happening.  She added 

there are 26 parking spaces across the street from the businesses and she 

described the other parking areas.  She explained the way the Code Enforcement 

Office is proceeding before a permit is given.  After discussion, it was decided that 

the owners of 88 Pepperrell will go through the staff not the Board regarding the 

parking plan and staff will keep the Board informed.   

 

Mr. Ledgett referred to discussion in Item 4B and commented on the increased 

interest in ADU’s.  He suggested being cautious and pointed out there have been 

problems. He referred to a past issue of an attempt to sell and ADU as a separate 

parcel. He pointed out there is a requirement to change the deed before an 

occupancy permit is granted. Mr. Fitch commented that is a valid point and he would 

like to see the regulation include no short-term rentals for ADU’s.   

 

Item 7 - Adjournment 

 

Mr. Alesse moved to adjourn the meeting. 

Mr. Dunkelberger seconded the motion. 

 

The motion carried 7-0-0. 

 

kamaral
Highlight

kamaral
Highlight











PLAN REVIEW NOTES  December 13, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49A)   
Business Use Change Referral  Page 1 of 4 

ITEM 3 

 
 

Town of Kittery Maine 
Planning Board Meeting 

December 13, 2018 
 
ITEM 3 - 88 Pepperrell Road – The Bistro - Business Use Change Review 
Action: Approve or deny plan. Owner, Chatham Street, LLC, and applicant, Ann Kendall, are establishing 
a new business entity in an existing facility where intensity of use is significantly different, located at 88 
Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) in the Business Local (B-L) and Shoreland Overlay (OZ-SL-250’) 
Zones.  
 
 
Background 
The proposed development is part of a property-wide redevelopment effort that consists of the interior 
renovation of the three existing buildings, “The View” (previously Captain Simeons), “The Bistro” 
(previously Frisbee’s Market), and “The Wharf” (previously Lobster in the Rough), located at 88 Pepperrell 
Cove. The existing/previous uses on site were retail, residential, storage, office and restaurant.  
 
The proposed development being considered by the Board is the conversion of existing Frisbee’s Market 
space listed on the town’s tax card as stores or retail space along with an apartment.  The Board reviewed 
this property last year for the applicant’s proposed renovations to the lower level of the existing restaurant 
(The View) building, a small store and take-out ice cream restaurant to be named “Provisions”. Both retail 
businesses and restaurants needed a special exception use approval by the Board since it’s located in the 
Shoreland Overlay Zone, which the Board approved. 
 
The review of “The Bistro” was to consider if the proposed change from retail (the Frisbee’s Market) to 
restaurant (the Bistro) is significantly different in intensity of use.  The applicable provision in the Town 
Code is 16.10.3.6.3 below:  
 

16.10.3.6 Business Use Review. 
All business use including the following must be reviewed by the CEO and Town Planner to 
ensure compliance with the requirements of this Code including: 
1. Movement of an existing commercial or business entity from like to like facilities/use where 
major building/site modifications are not made; 
2. Movement of an existing commercial or business use into related facility/use buildings; 
3. Establishment of new commercial or business entity in an existing facility where intensity of use 
is not significantly different. 

 
A business use review that conforms to this provision is not subject to Planning Board Review per 16.10.3.2: 
 

16.10.3.2 Other Development Review. 
Unless subject to a Shoreland Development Plan Review per 16.10.3.4, the following do not 
require Planning Board approval: 
A. Single and duplex family dwellings. 
B. Expansion of existing use where the expanded use will require fewer than six additional parking 
spaces. 
C. Division of land into lots (i.e., two lots) which division is not otherwise subject to Planning 
Board review as a subdivision.  
D. Business use as provided in Section 16.4.3.5. 

 



PLAN REVIEW NOTES  December 13, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49A)   
Business Use Change Referral  Page 2 of 4 

Per 16.4.3.5 below, Staff may refer to Planning Board a business use change application for their 
consideration. 
 

16.4.3.5 Business Use Changes. 
The Planner and the Code Enforcement Officer are to review and approve, or refer to the Planning 
Board for action, all business use changes which occur that fall below Planning Board review 
thresholds as outlined in Sections 16.10.3.2 and 16.10.3.6. Approval must be based on compliance 
with all requirements of this Code. 
 

The applicant had submitted a parking summary that demonstrated the site’s existing 108 parking spaces 
were adequate for all the proposed uses of the four new businesses (Provisions, The Wharf, The View and 
The Bistro).  The summary had some minor inaccuracies that needed correcting but the total still appeared 
to be sufficient.  The changes included: 

A. adding the ice cream take-out area in the proposed Provisions to the total gross retail square area, 
resulting in 500 sf rather than 475.  The number of parking spaces incurred still remained the same. 
B. revising the total to conform to the method for calculating parking per 16.8.9.4.D: 
When determination of the number of parking spaces required results in a requirement of a fractional space, 
any fraction of one-half or less may be disregarded, while a fraction in excess of one-half is counted as one 
parking space. 

 
After considerable discussion regarding the business use change at the October 26, 2017 meeting, the Board 
voted to return the applicant to the Town Planner and the Code Enforcement Officer as a business use 
change but not of such an intensity that requires Planning Board purview with the condition that the 
applicant prior to opening the final project the Wharf come back with a detailed plan for parking for the 
entire project.  Since that time, the applicant has changed the order of the opening of the new businesses 
with the Bistro now being the final project.  
 
Staff Review 
The applicant has submitted a parking plan with associated parking calculations for the use changes.  The 
parking plan submitted, dated 6/28/2018 with revisions dated 11/27/2018 shows eighty (80) parking spaces 
allotted to existing and proposed businesses: 

1. The Bistro at 115 seats would require 1 space / 3 seats or 38.3 spaces. 
2. The View (function hall) has a total of 2093 sf which would require 20.93 spaces (1 space / 100sf).  

10 spaces are provided on-site with 11 proposed to be off-site, though no off-site location is given 
on the plans. 

3. The store (Provisions) has a total of 425 sf which would require 1 space / 175 sf or 2.42 spaces. 
4. The Wharf contains 42 outdoor seats which would require 1 space / 3 seats or 14 spaces.  Note: 

Previously, the applicant had calculated twenty-four (24) parking spaces to accommodate seventy 
(72) outdoor seats. 

5. There is an existing dwelling unit which would require 2 spaces and an unassigned unit which they 
are allocating 2 spaces toward.   

 
Based upon 16.8.9.4 Off-street parking standards, the total required on-site parking for all of the uses is 
79.65 or eighty (80) spaces.  Eighty (80) parking spaces are shown to be provided for on the plan. 
 
Also, per 16.8.9.4, there are minimum off-street parking and loading requirements that must be provided 
and maintained in the case of new construction, alterations and changes of use.  Staff notes that the plans 
do not show compliance with the parking requirements as follows: 

1. Parking landscaping is required for parking areas containing 10 or more spaces and must have at 
least one tree per eight spaces.  Such trees are to be located either within the lot or within five feet 
of it.  In addition, for any parking area having 25 or more spaces at least 10% of the interior of the 
parking area is to be maintained with landscaping, including trees in plots of at least five feet in 
width. 



PLAN REVIEW NOTES  December 13, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49A)   
Business Use Change Referral  Page 3 of 4 

2. Where off-street parking for more than six vehicles is required or provided there are certain 
construction requirements that need to be met. 

a. The surface of driveways, maneuvering areas and parking areas must be uniformly graded 
with a subgrade consisting of gravel or equivalent materials at least six inches in depth, 
well-compacted and with a wearing surface equivalent in qualities of compaction and 
durability to fine gravel. 

b. A system of surface drainage must be provided in such a way that the water runoff does 
not run over or across any public sidewalk or street or adjacent property. Where catch 
basins are required, oil traps are to be provided. 

c. Where artificial lighting is provided, it must be shaded or screened so that no light source 
is visible from outside the area and its access driveways. 

 
The ordinance does allow, in specific cases of hardship, the Board of Appeals to reduce the requirements 
for off-street parking where it is clearly demonstrated that such reduction will not detract from 
neighborhood values, inconvenience the public or increase congestion in the streets, per 16.8.9.3.D via 
16.6.4.C(2).  
    
Staff has reviewed the proposal and although we generally concur with the parking calculations, we have 
concerns with what is presented on the parking plan for numbers, layout and improvements. Specifically: 

1. The spaces next to the Bistro and in front of The View will need to be verified.  The parking area 
has recently been repaved and contains no striping.  The existing parking layout does not appear 
to work for flow through travel to Bellamy Lane.  The existing deck / stair structure to the rear of 
the Bistro building further constricts flow through traffic.  The plan needs to show more detailed 
dimensions to ensure proper clearances are met for public safety.  There is also a concern for 
pedestrian safety due to the proposed traffic flow and the constrained spaces of the development 
area. 

2. It is noted that at the July 27, 2017 Planning Board meeting, applicant Ann Kendall requested 
review and approval for a Special Exception use for Provisions retail and Annabelle’s take-out ice 
cream restaurant.  The approval required four (4) parking spaces for the uses.  The applicant is 
calculating 2.42 spaces with the current plan.  

3. Dwelling units.  There is a separate structure, a 3-bedroom single-family dwelling that requires 2 
parking spaces.  The parking plan submitted has a note on the single-family dwelling, “split level, 
wood framed house (4BR).”  There doesn’t appear to be permits to convert the 3-bedroom 
dwelling to a 4 bedroom.  This needs clarification. 
Per the applicant, the second-floor apartment between the two floors of the Bistro will be 
converted to storage only.  An application for a change of use is required to convert the second 
floor to storage.  Storage would require one (10 parking space per 500 sf of gross floor area.  The 
submitted parking plan identifies this area as a 115 seat Bistro and 2BR apartment.  This needs 
clarification / correction.  Code Department is requiring that an “as built” plan for basement, 
dormers, uses & parking be submitted. 

4. The outdoor service area is listed as containing 51 seats yet the plan notes indicate the outdoor 
seats at 42.  Per 16.9.2.2.A in a Shoreland Overlay Zone cutting of vegetation is prohibited within 
a strip of land extending 100 feet, horizontal distance, inland from the normal high-water line, 
except to remove safety hazards.  Elsewhere in the Shoreland Overlay Zone, the cutting or 
removal of vegetation is limited to that which is necessary for uses expressly authorized in the 
zone.  The exterior seating area had previous partial vegetation and partial crushed stone.  The 
entire exterior seating area now has crushed sea shells.  The area of vegetation that was removed 
and replaced with sea shells must be replanted with grass.  The area that was previously crushed 
stone that is now sea shells should have been a request to the Planning Board to keep sea shells in 
the unvegetated area instead of crushed stone.  Se aerial photos, attached. 



PLAN REVIEW NOTES  December 13, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49A)   
Business Use Change Referral  Page 4 of 4 

5. There is no indication of the traffic flow for the 66-space parking lot to the north nor the location 
of the proposed on-site parking attendant.  Per 16.8.9.1.E, all traffic flow is to be clearly marked 
with signs and/or surface directions at all times. 

6. The parking plans should provide more information relative to off-site impacts, i.e., sight 
distances along Pepperrell Road, impact upon adjacent access points and intersections like 
Pepperell Terrace, turning movements of vehicles entering and existing the site, snow removal 
and the general condition and capacity of the public streets serving the development. 

7. Per 16.8.8.1 Stormwater drainage, previously, there were two (2) storm drains existing in the 
north parking lot.  Both drains have been covered up and don’t appear to be functioning and/or 
existing.  The plan should reflect stormwater drainage construction consistent with 16.8.8.1 
Stormwater Drainage.  Hydrologic analysis may be required.  In addition, per 16.8.8.2 Post-
construction stormwater management, a post stormwater management plan may be required and 
engineering review.  

8. The submitted parking plan shows an area across Bellamy Lane from The Wharf and View that is 
designated for six (6) spaces.  It is our understanding that these are leased spaces to the owner for 
kayak parking and cannot be counted towards parking for the uses on this site.  The parking 
calculations in the general notes don’t include these spaces but they are shown on the parking 
plan.     

9. Off-site parking for 11 spaces is noted on the plans, however there is no information about their 
location, any required agreements, or other parking management concerns. Town Code allows off-
site parking subject to approval by the Board of Appeals per 16.8.9.4.J. 

 
Recommendation 
The Board needs to determine if a site walk and public hearing are warranted.  Code Enforcement staff has 
prepared a report regarding the current uses of the site, proposed parking plan and the development’s 
compliance with local codes that is attached for your review as well. 
 
There is a lot for the Board to consider and due to several discrepancies between the existing approvals, the 
uses on-site and the current parking plan dated 11/27/18 Staff does not recommend approval of the parking 
plan at this time. 
     
 





























TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    December 13, 2018  
Council Chambers  
 

7 | P a g e  
 

comments must be addressed to their satisfaction.  Mr. Ledgett seconded the 

motion. 

The motion carried 5-0-0. 

 

OLD BUSINESS 

 

ITEM 3 – 88 Pepperrell Road – The Bistro – Parking Plan Review for Business Use 
Change  
Action: Approve or deny plan. Owner, Chatham Street, LLC, and applicant, Ann Kendall 
are establishing a new business entity in an existing facility, where intensity of use is 
significantly different, located at 88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) in the Business 
Local (B-L) and Shoreland Overlay (OZ-SL-250’) Zones.  
 

Ken Wood, Attar Engineering, gave an overview of the redevelopment of the site and 

the proposed parking plan.  He discussed working with the previous Code Enforcement 

Officer on getting each venue open.  He discussed what has occurred since the Board 

saw the request back in October of 2017.  He noted that he has worked closely with the 

Town Planner and the Director of Planning on the developing the parking plan that he 

has brought forward to the Board.  He discussed the details of the proposed parking 

plan. 

 

The Board reviewed and discussed the following:  

• Mr. Dunkelberger asked how many parking spaces they needed.  Mr. Wood 

responded 80.  Mr. Dunkelberger noted the Staff indicated 90 spaces were 

required.  Mr. Dunkelberger also asked how they would define the parking 

spaces in the unimproved portion of the parking lot.  Mr. Wood answered by 

using wheel stops and signage.  They would also be utilizing a parking attendant 

but not year round. 

• There was discussion about the number of spaces shown on the plans. 

• Mr. Steffen discussed that there was confusing information shown on the plan for 

parking space numbers.  He commented that the plans had changed several 

time since they were first submitted for the November meeting.  He stated Staff 

was still trying to get a handle on actual numbers for all of the venues.  He noted 

the discrepancy between what was listed in the parking calculations and what 

was shown on the plan for the outdoor seating area.  In response, Carla 

Goodnight, CJ Architects, discussed the square footages and parking 

calculations for new venues and clarified the ice cream take-out window use.  

She stated that the wished to stay within the limits of the ordinance. 

kamaral
Highlight

kamaral
Highlight



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    December 13, 2018  
Council Chambers  
 

8 | P a g e  
 

• Vice Chair Kalmar asked if they were still proposing off-site parking.  Mr. Wood 

responded that they still do have an opportunity for off-site parking. 

• Mr. Allese discussed the seating at The Wharf and commented that they could 

put more seating out there but were voluntarily reducing it. 

• Mr. White stated that it was important that the applicant and staff get on the same 

page regarding the parking calculations and documents for review.  He 

discussed year round use of the site and commented that it doesn’t appear that 

they would maximum use of the site for a majority of the year. 

• Vice Chair Kalmar commented that she would like to have Staff and the applicant 

work together to address the discrepancies in the plan and then have the Board 

view the site.  Ms. Goodnight commented that her concern was that there was no 

definition in the ordinance for outdoor seating for restaurants. 

 

Donna Ryan, Business partner and Kittery resident, commented that they were 

proposing a parking plan that works for the amount of spaces they have.  She 

discussed their business success, commitment to staff and the goodwill they have tried 

to show the community. 

 

Adam Causey, Director of Planning and Development, spoke to the Department’s side 

of the issue.  He explained that the code says when someone changes, alters and 

expands a use they need to comply with the parking standards.  Staff cannot waive 

those requirements. 

 

There was further discussion amongst the Board regarding prior plan reviews and the 

actual parking numbers previously approved.  Vice Chair Kalmar stated she would like 

see an adequate plan developed with the detail required so that the Board has a better 

understanding of how they arrived at the number of spaces provided.  At the suggestion 

of the Vice Chair, the Board decided to schedule a site walk. 

 

Mr. Dunkelberger moved to schedule a site walk for December 27th at 10:00 am.  

Seconded by Mr. Ledgett.    

  

Motion carried 5-0-0. 

 

ITEM 4 - 25 Pinkham’s Lane – Major Subdivision Sketch Plan Review 

Action: Accept or deny application; Approve or deny sketch plan Owners Rudy E. 

Shayganfar & Mahni Shayganfar request consideration of a 8-lot residential subdivision 

with access along an existing private right-of-way (Pinkham’s Lane), (Tax Map 62 Lots 



 

 

 
Ann Grinnell        December 27, 2018 
Chairman, Planning Board       Project No. C054-18 
Adam Causey, Planning Director  
Jamie Steffen, Town Planner 
P.O. Box 808 
Kittery, Maine 03904          
 

RE:  Parking Plan 

The Bistro, The View, Provisions, Frisbees Wharf  

         88 Pepperrell Road  
 
Dear Chair Grinnell, Mr. Causey and Mr. Steffen; 
 
I have enclosed a revised plan for the referenced project for your review and consideration. 
 
This project involves the re-development of the former Frisbee’s Supermarket, Captain Simeon’s 
Galley and Captain and Pattys into similar uses; The Bistro, The View, Provisions and The 
Wharf.   The parking area consists of two existing lots on the north and south side of Pepperrell 
Road; these lots have historically been used for parking for Cap’n Simeon’s Galley, Captain and 
Pattys and Frisbee’s Supermarket.  No substantive changes to the lots are proposed with the 
exception of re-striping asphalt areas and providing signage to identify individual parking spaces 
in the gravel areas of the north lot. 
 
Revisions have been made to address comments received at the Planning Board meeting of 
December 13, 2018 and also from the site walk held this morning.  Specifically; 

1) Added a split rail fence along Pepperrell Terrace. 
2) Added directional signage for traffic movement at the entrance of both lots. 
3) Added the parking attendant schedule. 
4) Added references which reflect monumentation of both parcels.       

 
I have attached the revised parking plan and reduced boundary plans.  Please contact me for 
any additional information.  Thank you, again, for visiting the site this morning; we all look 
forward to meeting with you on January 10, 2019.  My best for the New Year. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
Kenneth A. Wood, P.E. 
President 
 
cc: Donna Ryan, Carla Goodknight  
 
The View C054-18 PBoard 











Town of Kittery Planning Board 1 

Site Walk Meeting Minutes 2 

88 Pepperrell Road Parking Plan Site Walk 3 
Purpose: To inspect the property located at 88 Pepperrell Road, Tax Map 27 Lots 2A/49 4 
Thursday, December 27, 2018 – 10:00 am 5 

Attendees 6 
Planning Board Members: Ann Grinnell, Karen Kalmar, Ron Ledgett, Mark Alesse, Dutch Dunkelberger, Russell 7 
White   8 
Planning Staff: Adam Causey, Jamie Steffen, Stephen Wilson  9 
Applicant: Ken Wood, Attar Engineering, Carla Goodnight, CJ Architects, Al Damico, Owner, Donna Ryan, 10 
Partner, Henry Ares, Partner, Eides Ares, Partner 11 

Abutters: Nanci Lovett, Kate Johnston, Keith Frisbee, Clint Reed 12 

Other: John Brosnihan, Harbormaster, Kelly Philbrook, KPA, Earldean Wells, Conservation Commission, Shaye 13 
Robbins, Economic Development Committee member 14 
  15 
Meeting 16 
Ms.  Grinnell called the meeting to order at 10:03 am.  17 

Ken Wood led the site walk and gave a brief overview of the proposal.  He presented the revised parking plan 18 
and explained the redesign and realignment of the parking spaces for the main parking lot.  The paved portion 19 
would be lined/striped to delineate the spaces and the traffic flow.  For the gravel/grassed portion signed 20 
wheel stops would be utilized.  He noted that they had made an appeal to the Board of Appeals (BOA) for relief 21 
from the landscaping and lighting standards of the off-street parking standards.  He noted that he would be 22 
filing the revised plans for the Board’s review later that day.  Chair Grinnell discussed the Board possibly 23 
holding a public hearing on the proposal. 24 

Mr. Dunkelberger asked about the discrepancies in the parking calculations.  Staff noted that after meeting 25 
with applicant’s representatives the uses and their square footages have been clarified.  The parking 26 
calculations on the revised plans reflect what current / proposed uses are and the 81 spaces complies with 27 
ordinance requirements. 28 

Ms. Kalmar asked about the unimproved portion of the main parking lot.  Mr. Causey responded that the 29 
parking lot is split zoning. Most of the lot is in the Business – Local (B-L) zone but there is a portion of the lot to 30 
the rear which is in the Residential - Kittery Point Village (R-KPV) zone.  He explained that the parking lot in the 31 
R-KPZ zone is a legal, non-conforming use but the regulations state that any change or alteration to the use 32 
requires that the site be brought up the current standards.  He further explained that the Planning Board could 33 
not approve waivers to these requirements, which necessitated the appeal to the BOA. 34 

Mr. Dunkelberger asked about what improvements were proposed for the parking lot.  Ms. Ryan responded 35 
that they would prefer to not have to pave the unimproved portion of the lot instead utilize signage and wheel 36 
stops.  Ms. Grinnell asked about the boundaries of the lot.  Mr. Wood pointed out the limits and noted the 40-37 
foot setback required for the Pepperrell tomb.  Ms. Grinnell noted the potential existence of slave burials 38 
outside tomb area.  Mr. Causey noted State limitations for known burial sites that restricts construction or 39 
excavation to within 25 feet.  More information would be necessary for a determination on the slave burials. 40 

There was discussion by the group regarding the boundaries of the parking lot and Pepperrell Terrace.  Ms. 41 
Grinnell asked for a better demarcation between the two.  Ms. Philbrook asked if the applicant would consider 42 



flipping the parking arrangement so that vehicles would not overhang into Pepperrell Terrace.  Ms. Goodnight 43 
explained that it would not be feasible to flip the parking because the lot is not rectangular shaped.  Mr. Reed 44 
(4 Pepperrell Terrace) asked if they could install a split-rail fence along Pepperrell Terrace the length of the lot.  45 
Ms. Grinnell read comments received from Debbie Driscoll Davis, a resident of Pepperrell Terrace, which 46 
stated “Would the applicant consider installing a split-rail fence along Pepperrell Terrace to keep vehicles and 47 
pedestrians on their own property?  There was fence along Pepperrell Terrace when Cap’n Simeon’s was in full 48 
swing, 70-80’s.” 49 

Ms. Kalmar asked about the proposed traffic flow and how would it be controlled on the unimproved portion.  50 
Mr. Wood responded that signage would be installed at the end of each aisle.  A one way, do not enter sign 51 
would be placed at the entrance/exit to the lot.  There was discussion amongst the group regarding the site’s 52 
drainage.  Mr. Wilson confirmed the existence of open catch basins in the parking lot.  Buffers were discussed 53 
and it was confirmed that salt would not be utilized on the unpaved portion.  Ms. Wells mentioned possible 54 
rain garden utilization.  Jessa Kellogg, the Town’s Stormwater Coordinator should be consulted on the 55 
stormwater requirements.  Mr. Ledgett asked about winter storage of dock floats in back portion of the 56 
parking lot and not restricting the necessary parking requirements for the year round uses. 57 

Ms. Grinnell asked about the location of the corner pins at the Pepperrell Terrace entrance.  There was 58 
discussion regarding the DPW request for a raised section of sidewalk with tip downs and a handicap 59 
accessible crosswalk to break up the large expanse of pavement in front.  Ms. Robbins commented the current 60 
striped pedestrian crossing was easy to walk and to put in the raised sections was not necessary. 61 

Ms. Kalmar mentioned the concern about the current wheel stops located at the end of Pepperrell Terrace.  62 
Ms. Grinnell read the comments from Ms. Driscoll Davis “Would the applicant consider removing the parking 63 
bumpers at the end of Pepperrell Terrace?  This would allow much easier movement of post office customers 64 
that have utilized the 4 spaces at the end of the road for decades.  It would also allow folks to turn around at 65 
the end of Pepperrell Terrace without driving up a private road to turn around.  At present, the parking 66 
bumpers are a hazard.”  Ms. Philbrook asked if the parking lot attendant could be moved to the middle of the 67 
lot as people pull into Pepperrell Terrace now then have to drive all the way the private road to turn around.  68 
Ms. Ryan addressed the parking bumpers.  She said they were placed in those spaces for residents to use when 69 
getting mail at the post office.  Ms. Kalmar commented that sight lines should be taken into account with the 70 
placement of the attendant.  Ms. Goodnight responded that the best location for them would be where he has 71 
been.  It was suggested that DPW be consulted for input on access and traffic movement. 72 

There was discussion amongst the group regarding the Town parking lot.  Mr. Wilson noted that these spaces 73 
could not be counted toward satisfying the ordinance requirement.  Mr. Brosnihan explained the public 74 
parking arrangement.  The spaces are open to the public but some are allotted to Town residents on a first-75 
come, first-served basis.  Ms. Ryan commented that they have told their customers and employees not to park 76 
in those space out of courtesy. 77 

Ms. Kalmar asked the new stairway at the Bistro building and its impact on traffic and pedestrian flow through 78 
the area.  Ms. Goodnight explained that the stairs were for emergency egress only and that people would not 79 
be restricted from going up them.  There was discussion regarding the uses in the building and the required 80 
parking spaces.  The Bistro would have seating for 115 people.  Mr. Wilson noted that a future apartment in 81 
the building is accounted for.  He further noted that the existing single-family residential use has a CO for 3 82 
bedrooms but is now 4.  Verification of septic system capacity needs to be submitted to the CEO before any CO 83 
could be issued for the apartment in the Bistro building. 84 

There was discussion amongst the group about traffic flow to the rear of the Bistro building.  Mr. Wood noted 85 
that the aisle width was 12 feet and that the traffic would be one way only.  Ms. Ryan explained that it is a 86 



private lane that is not for public use.  Mr. Ledgett asked how that would be designated.  Mr. Wood stated that 87 
they would utilize pavement markings and signage on Bellamy Lane stating Do Not Enter and No Thru Traffic.  88 
There was a brief discussion regarding the parking spaces on the lot that houses the kayak storage.  The owner 89 
has leased spaces for kayak storage that will not counted in the parking calculations. 90 

The group viewed and discussed the outdoor seating area for the Wharf.  The seating calculation for the area is 91 
based upon 1 space for every 3 seats.  42 seats are proposed.  The crushed seashell area was discussed.  A 92 
portion of the area will need to be restored and revegetated to the satisfaction of the Shoreland Resource 93 
Officer.  Mr. Wood stated that the site plan would be revised to show the removal and re-vegetation.  Ms. 94 
Grinnell stated that the Board’s vote on the parking plan will not affect the restoration of the seashell area.  95 
Mr. White commented that he thought the applicant could work with staff on the restoration prior to opening 96 
of the area in the spring.  Ms. Grinnell stated she was sympathetic to their opening all of the development but 97 
there were still issues that needed be addressed. 98 

There was discussion regarding the parking plan approval and future use of the outdoor service area.   Ms. 99 
Goodnight explained that they were utilizing the strictest interpretation for the required number of spaces for 100 
the outdoor seating so that they can open the Bistro but they would like to better address the outdoor seating 101 
after they open next spring.  Ms. Kalmar stated she would like to have the BOA decision transmitted to the 102 
Planning Board as soon as possible.     103 

Ms. Kalmar moved to adjourn. 104 

Mr. Dunkelberger seconded the motion. 105 

Vote: 6-0-0. 106 

The meeting was adjourned at 11:15 am. 107 



PLAN REVIEW NOTES  January 10, 2019 
88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49A)   
Business Use Change Referral  Page 1 of 6 

ITEM 1 

Town of Kittery Maine 
Planning Board Meeting 

January 10, 2019 
 
ITEM 3 - 88 Pepperrell Road – The Bistro – Parking Plan Review for Business Use Change  
Action: Approve or deny plan. Owner, Chatham Street, LLC, and applicant, Ann Kendall, are establishing 
a new business entity in an existing facility where intensity of use is significantly different, located at 88 
Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) in the Business Local (B-L) and Shoreland Overlay (OZ-SL-250’) 
Zones.  
 
 

Background 
 
The proposed development is part of a property-wide redevelopment effort that consists of the interior 
renovation of the three existing buildings, “The View” (previously Captain Simeons), “The Bistro” 
(previously Frisbee’s Market), and “TheWharf” (previously Lobster in the Rough), located at 88 Pepperrell 
Cove. The existing/previous uses on site were retail, residential, storage, office and restaurant. 
 
The proposed development being considered by the Board is the conversion of existing Frisbee’s Market 
space listed on the town’s tax card as stores or retail space along with an apartment. The Board reviewed 
this property last year for the applicant’s proposed renovations to the lower level of the existing restaurant 
(The View) building, a small store and take-out ice cream restaurant to be named “Provisions”. Both retail 
businesses and restaurants needed a special exception use approval by the Board since it’s located in the 
Shoreland Overlay Zone, which the Board approved. 
 
The review of “The Bistro” was to consider if the proposed change from retail (the Frisbee’s Market) to 
restaurant (the Bistro) is significantly different in intensity of use. The applicable provision in the Town 
Code is 16.10.3.6.3 below: 
 

16.10.3.6 Business Use Review. 
All business use including the following must be reviewed by the CEO and Town Planner to ensure 
compliance with the requirements of this Code including: 

1.Movement of an existing commercial or business entity from like to like facilities/use 
where major building/site modifications are not made; 
2.Movement of an existing commercial or business use into related facility/use buildings; 
3.Establishment of new commercial or business entity in an existing facility where intensity 
of use is not significantly different. 

 
A business use review that conforms to this provision is not subject to Planning Board Review per 16.10.3.2: 
 

16.10.3.2 Other Development Review. 
Unless subject to a Shoreland Development Plan Review per 16.10.3.4, the following do not require 
Planning Board approval: 

A.Single and duplex family dwellings. 
B.Expansion of existing use where the expanded use will require fewer than six additional 
parking spaces. 
C. Division of land into lots (i.e., two lots) which division is not otherwise subject to 
Planning Board review as a subdivision. 
D. Business use as provided in Section 16.4.3.5. 

 



PLAN REVIEW NOTES  January 10, 2019 
88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49A)   
Business Use Change Referral  Page 2 of 6 

Per 16.4.3.5 below, Staff may refer to Planning Board a business use change application for their 
consideration. 
 

16.4.3.5 Business Use Changes. 
The Planner and the Code Enforcement Officer are to review and approve, or refer to the Planning 
Board for action, all business use changes which occur that fall below Planning Board review 
thresholds as outlined in Sections 16.10.3.2 and 16.10.3.6. Approval must be based on compliance 
with all requirements of this Code. 

 
The applicant had submitted a parking summary that demonstrated the site’s existing 108 parking spaces 
were adequate for all the proposed uses of the four new businesses (Provisions, The Wharf, The View and 
The Bistro). The summary had some minor inaccuracies that needed correcting but the total still appeared 
to be sufficient. The changes included: 

A. adding the ice cream take-out area in the proposed Provisions to the total gross retail square 
area, resulting in 500 sf rather than 475. The number of parking spaces incurred still remained the 
same. 
B. revising the total to conform to the method for calculating parking per 16.8.9.4.D: When 
determination of the number of parking spaces required results in a requirement of a fractional 
space, any fraction of one-half or less may be disregarded, while a fraction in excess of one-half is 
counted as one parking space. 
 

After considerable discussion regarding the business use change at the October 26, 2017 meeting, the Board 
voted to return the applicant to the Town Planner and the Code Enforcement Officer as a business use 
change but not of such an intensity that requires Planning Board purview with the condition that the 
applicant prior to opening the final project the Wharf come back with a detailed plan for parking for the 
entire project. Since that time, the applicant has changed the order of the opening of the new businesses 
with the Bistro now being the final project. 
 
At the December 13, 2018, Planning Board meeting, the Board considered the proposed parking plan.  
Concerns were raised about the parking calculations relative to the existing and proposed uses, possible 
shoreland development violations and required parking standards. The Board voted to continue the review 
to the next meeting and scheduled a site walk for December 27, 2018.  
 
The site walk was held on Thursday, December 27, 2018. A copy of the draft minutes from that site 
walk is attached to this report.  
 
Staff Review 
 
This staff review has been amended as of Thursday, January 10, 2019. All new comments in this analysis 
are underlined. Information no longer pertaining to the project is removed by strikethrough (like this).  
 
After the December 13, 2018 meeting staff met with the applicant representatives to address the 
discrepancies in the parking calculations and try to get a plan that conforms to the Title 16 parking 
requirements. It was determined at that meeting that the if the applicant could not meet Title 16 parking 
requirements, they would need to seek relief from those parking standards from the Board of Appeals, as 
allowed per Section 16.6.4.C.(2). Specifically, 
 

1. Parking landscaping is required for parking areas containing 10 or more spaces and must have at 
least one tree per eight spaces. Such trees are to be located either within the lot or within five feet 
of it. In addition, for any parking area having 25 or more spaces at least 10% of the interior of the 
parking area is to be maintained with landscaping, including trees in plots of at least five feet in 
width. 



PLAN REVIEW NOTES  January 10, 2019 
88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49A)   
Business Use Change Referral  Page 3 of 6 

 
2. Where off-street parking for more than six vehicles is required or provided there are certain 

construction requirements that need to be met (16.8.9.4.K.): 
a. The surface of driveways, maneuvering areas and parking areas must be uniformly graded 

with a subgrade consisting of gravel or equivalent materials at least six inches in depth, 
well-compacted and with a wearing surface equivalent in qualities of compaction and 
durability to fine gravel. 

b. A system of surface drainage must be provided in such a way that the water runoff does 
not run over or across any public sidewalk or street or adjacent property. Where catch 
basins are required, oil traps are to be provided. 

c. Where artificial lighting is provided, it must be shaded or screened so that no light source 
is visible from outside the area and its access driveways. 

 
The ordinance does allow, in specific cases of hardship, the Board of Appeals to reduce the requirements 
for off-street parking where it is clearly demonstrated that such reduction will not detract from 
neighborhood values, inconvenience the public or increase congestion in the streets, per 16.8.9.4.L. An 
appeal to the Board of Appeals has been made seeking relief from the above-mentioned standards. The 
Board of Appeals met on Tuesday, January 8, 2019, and heard the miscellaneous variation requests 
from the applicant regarding the parking lot design standards. The results of that meeting are 
included in the analysis below and attached to the end of this document, which include the Board of 
Appeals findings of fact.  
 
The meeting with applicant at the December 27th site walk clarified and addressed a number of the issues 
outlined below: 
    

1. The spaces next to the Bistro and in front of The View will need to be verified.  The parking area 
has recently been repaved and contains no striping.  The existing parking layout does not appear to 
work for flow through travel to Bellamy Lane.  The existing deck / stair structure to the rear of the 
Bistro building further constricts flow through traffic.  The plan needs to show more detailed 
dimensions to ensure proper clearances are met for public safety.  There is also a concern for 
pedestrian safety due to the proposed traffic flow and the constrained spaces of the development 
area. The parking spaces in this area have been redesigned with thirteen (13) spaces now shown 
and a 12-foot-wide travelway in the rear out to Bellamy Lane. The plan has been revised to show 
signage and surface markings indicating one-way travel. 
 

2. It is noted that at the July 27, 2017 Planning Board meeting, applicant Ann Kendall requested 
review and approval for a Special Exception use for Provisions retail and Annabelle’s take-out ice 
cream restaurant. The approval required four (4) parking spaces for the uses. The applicant is 
calculating 2.42 spaces with the current plan. The parking plan has been revised to indicate 3.56 
spaces will be provided for the total calculation.  
 

3. Dwelling units. There is a separate structure, a 3-bedroom single-family dwelling that requires 2 
parking spaces. The parking plan submitted has a note on the single-family dwelling, “split level, 
wood framed house (4BR).”  There doesn’t appear to be permits to convert the 3-bedroom dwelling 
to a 4 bedroom. This needs clarification. Verification of septic system capacity needs be submitted 
to the CEO before a Certification of Occupancy can be issued for the apartment in the Bistro 
building. 
 

4. Per the applicant, the second-floor apartment between the two floors of the Bistro will be 
constructed at a later date. converted to storage only. An application for a change of use is 
required to convert the second floor to storage. Storage would require one (1) parking space per 
500 sf of gross floor area. The submitted parking plan identifies this area as a 115-seat Bistro and 



PLAN REVIEW NOTES  January 10, 2019 
88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49A)   
Business Use Change Referral  Page 4 of 6 

a 2BR apartment. This needs clarification / correction. Code Department is requiring that an “as 
built” plan for basement, dormers, uses & parking be submitted. The future dwelling unit does 
identify the required parking in the parking calculations on the plan. The dwelling unit will 
require a certificate of occupancy separate from the business uses.  
 

5. Per 16.9.2.2.A in a Shoreland Overlay Zone cutting of vegetation is prohibited within a strip of 
land extending 100 feet, horizontal distance, inland from the normal high-water line, except to 
remove safety hazards. Elsewhere in the Shoreland Overlay Zone, the cutting or removal of 
vegetation is limited to that which is necessary for uses expressly authorized in the zone. The 
exterior seating area had previous partial vegetation and partial crushed stone. The entire exterior 
seating area now has crushed sea shells. The area of vegetation that was removed and replaced with 
sea shells must be replanted with grass. The area that was previously crushed stone that is now sea 
shells should have been a request to the Planning Board to keep sea shells in the unvegetated area 
instead of crushed stone. See aerial photos, attached. The plan has been revised to show 42 seats in 
the outdoor service area. Restoration of the crushed seashell area to its previous limit must be 
performed to the satisfaction of Shoreland Resource Officer prior to the opening of the Wharf in 
the spring.  
 

6. Per 16.8.9.1.E, all traffic flow is to be clearly marked with signs and/or surface directions at all 
times. The plan has been revised to show signage and surface direction for traffic flow. The plan 
proposes a two-way drive aisle for the 90-degree angle parking areas and a one-way exit drive 
aisle along the parallel parking spaces at the western property boundary.  
 

7. The parking plans should provide more information relative to off-site impacts, i.e., sight distances 
along Pepperrell Road, impact upon adjacent access points and intersections like Pepperell Terrace, 
turning movements of vehicles entering and existing the site, snow removal and the general 
condition and capacity of the public streets serving the development. The plans have been revised 
to show sight distances along Pepperrell Road and a note has been added to the plan for snow 
removal.  
 

8. Per 16.8.8.1 Stormwater drainage, previously, there were two (2) storm drains existing in the north 
parking lot. Both drains have been covered up and don’t appear to be functioning and/or existing. 
The plan should reflect stormwater drainage construction consistent with 16.8.8.1 Stormwater 
Drainage. Hydrologic analysis may be required. In addition, per 16.8.8.2 Post-construction 
stormwater management, a post stormwater management plan may be required and engineering 
review. The storm drains are found to be open and no new impervious surfaces are proposed. The 
Board of Appeals approved a miscellaneous parking variation of Section 16.8.9.4.K(3) to 
waive the requirements for additional storm water infrastructure.  
 

9. Town Code allows off-site parking subject to approval by the Board of Appeals per 16.8.9.4.J. 
The applicant is not proposing off-site parking for their required parking space count.  
 

10. Kittery Department of Public Works submitted two comments on the submitted plans: 1) that the 
applicant constructs ADA compliant sidewalks on either side of Pepperell Road along the property 
lines of the subject parcels and 2) that reflective markers be added to any protrusion into the public 
right-of-way from buildings or equipment along Bellamy Lane to aid in visibility to vehicles. The 
Department of Public Works requests the applicant construct ADA-compliant, raised 
sidewalks with granite curbs on Pepperell Road along each frontage of commercial property 
for the businesses (88 Pepperell Road) and parking lot (87 Pepperell Road). Any work within 
the Pepperell Road right-of-way will require coordination and permitting through 
Department of Public Works. The applicant has submitted a written waiver request to not 
install the sidewalk, per 16.7.4.1. 



PLAN REVIEW NOTES  January 10, 2019 
88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49A)   
Business Use Change Referral  Page 5 of 6 

 
11. Archaeological/historical site to the north: Town code section 16.9.2.5.B. requires projects 

“involving structural development or soil disturbance” to submit to the Maine Historic Preservation 
Commission for review. Since this project does not involve structural development nor soil 
disturbance, there is no requirement for MHPC review. Town staff did reach out to MHPC to 
confirm there were no other issues related to parking in proximity to the Pepperell Tomb. Staff has 
requested that the site engineer investigate the existence of unmarked remains buried beneath 
the parking lot to determine any impacts to the adjacent historic tomb.  
 

12. The parking at Town wharf at the end of Bellamy Lane features parking spaces open to the 
public and spaces reserved for Town residents. The Town Harbormaster has authority to 
enforce parking regulations at this location and has issued tickets for those that violate 
parking regulations. At the December 27, 2018 site walk, the applicant indicated they advise 
customers and employees not to park in these parking spaces but Staff emphasizes that there 
are parking spaces available to the general public.  
 

13. The Kittery Fire Department has no comments on the parking lot as all portions of the site 
and businesses are accessible from a public way. The Kittery Fire Chief will continue to 
coordinate with Code Enforcement staff on necessary inspections to issue certificates of 
occupancy if the plan is approved and once the applicant has satisfied any applicable 
conditions.  

 
Board of Appeals Meeting – Tuesday, January 8, 2019  
 
A public hearing was held on Tuesday, January 8, 2019, by the Board of Appeals to hear the 
applicant’s request for miscellaneous parking variation on certain parking lot standards contained 
in the code. The Board of Appeals voted on the following motions:  
 
• Motion to grant request from 16.8.9.4.G. with condition that arborvitae plantings no shorter than 
4’ in height are installed on the eastern and western property lines of the parking lot located at 87 
Pepperell Road. Passed 5-1 
 
• Motion to grant request from 16.8.9.4.K.(2) with condition that the existing subgrade and 
compaction level are to be maintained. Passed 6-0 
 
• Motion to grant request from 16.8.9.4.K.(3) Passed 6-0 
 
• Motion to grant request from 16.8.9.4.K.(4) with condition that no light spill onto neighboring 
properties and that fixtures are shaded or screened. Passed 5-1  
 
• Motion to grant request from 16.8.9.4.K.(5) with condition that existing pavement is to remain as-
is. Passed 6-0 
 
 
Staff Recommendation – *updated Thursday, January 10, 2019* 
 
Because the applicant has requested miscellaneous parking variations from the Board of Appeals on various 
parking lot design, landscaping, and lighting standards, staff is unable to recommend approval of the 
parking plan as submitted. The Board of Appeals will hear the applicant’s request on Tuesday, January 8th 
at 6pm at Town Hall. Any decision rendered by the Board of Appeals will be reviewed by staff and 
presented as an update to this report at the Planning Board meeting on January 10th. 
 



PLAN REVIEW NOTES  January 10, 2019 
88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49A)   
Business Use Change Referral  Page 6 of 6 

If the Planning Board were to approve of the plan as submitted, staff offers the following conditions of 
approval and provided on the final plan:  
 

1. A split-rail fence shall be installed along the length of the parking lot property line adjacent to 
Pepperell Terrace.  

2. Curb stops must be in place for each parking space and securely anchored in place. 
3. Parking signs shall be affixed to the split-rail fence to designate each space. 
4. Any parking signs placed in the interior of the parking lot must be affixed to a wooden post – no 

metal sign posts are allowed.  
5. The existing street light will be upgraded to an LED cut-off fixture.  
6. Any new permanent lighting added will be LED cut-off fixtures with adequate shielding to direct 

light down and away from adjacent properties.  
7. Food and beverage service for The Wharf will be restricted only to the area designated and 

approved by the Town for outdoor seating. 
8. Restoration of the crushed seashell area to its previous limit must be performed to the satisfaction 

of Shoreland Resource Officer prior to the opening of the Wharf in the spring.  
 
Upon consideration of the Board of Appeals decisions and the comments from abutters at the public 
hearing on Tuesday, January 8, 2019, staff recommends approval of the plan as amended, with the 
following conditions provided on the final plan:  
 

1. A wooden split-rail fence shall be installed along the length of the parking lot property line 
adjacent to Pepperell Terrace.  
 

2. Curb stops must be installed for each parking space and securely anchored in place. 
 

3. Parking signs shall be affixed to the split-rail fence to designate each space. 
 

4. The applicant shall construct ADA-compliant, raised sidewalks with granite curbs on 
Pepperell Road along each frontage of commercial property for the businesses (88 Pepperell 
Road) and parking lot (87 Pepperell Road), subject to review by the Department of Public 
Works. 
 

5. Any parking signs placed in the interior of the parking lot must be affixed to a wooden post 
– no metal sign posts are allowed.  
 

6. The applicant shall work with CMP to install adequate screening or shielding on any existing 
street pole mounted lights utilized by the businesses. Any new permanent lighting added will 
be LED cut-off fixtures with adequate shielding to direct light down and away from adjacent 
properties.  
 

7. Food and beverage service for The Wharf is restricted only to the area designated and 
approved by the Town for outdoor seating. 
 

8. Restoration of the crushed seashell area to its previous limit must be performed to the 
satisfaction of Shoreland Resource Officer prior to the opening of the Wharf in the spring. 
 

9. A parking attendant contracted from a professional parking management firm shall be in 
place from 12 noon to 9:00PM from May 15th to October 1st of each year.  

 
 





















TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    January 10, 2019  
Council Chambers  
 

7 | P a g e  
 

D. An application will be approved or approved with conditions if the reviewing authority 

makes a positive finding based on the information presented.  It must be demonstrated 

the proposed use will: 

 

Finding: The Planning Board made a positive finding on Criteria 1-10 with all of the 

criteria appearing to be met. 

 

      Vote of 6 in favor 0 against 0 abstaining 

 

Based on the foregoing Findings, the Planning Board finds the applicant has satisfied 

each of the review standards for approval and, therefore, the Planning Board approves 

the Shoreland Development Plan subject to any conditions or waivers, as follows: 

 

Waivers: None 

 

Conditions of Approval (to be included on final plan to be recorded): 

1. No changes, erasures, modifications or revisions may be made to any Planning 

Board approved final plan. (Title 16.10.9.1.2). 

2. Applicant/contractor will follow Maine DEP Best Management Practices for all 

work associated with site and building construction to ensure adequate erosion 

control and slope stabilization. 

3. A replanting plan conforming to 16.9.2.2 will need to be approved by the 

Shoreland Resopurce Officer and/or the Code Enforecement Office prior to any 

excavation work. 

4. All Notices to Applicant contained herein (Findings of Fact dated 12/13/18). 

 

Conditions of Approval (not to be depicted on final plan): 

1. Incorporate any plan revisions on the final plan as recommended by Staff, 

Planning Board or Peer Review Engineer, and submit for Staff review prior to 

presentation on final Mylar.  

 

The Planning Board authorizes the Planning Board Chair or Vice Chair to sign the Final 

Plan and the Findings of Fact upon confirmation of compliance with any conditions of 

approval.  

 

Vote of  6   in favor   0   against  0     abstaining 

 

ITEM 1 – 88 Pepperrell Road – The Bistro – Parking Plan Review for Business Use 

Change  

kamaral
Highlight

kamaral
Highlight



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    January 10, 2019  
Council Chambers  
 

8 | P a g e  
 

Action: Approve or deny plan. Owner, Chatham Street, LLC, and applicant, Ann Kendall 

are establishing a new business entity in an existing facility, where intensity of use is 

significantly different, located at 88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) in the 

Business Local (B-L) and Shoreland Overlay (OZ-SL-250’) Zones.  

Adam Causey, Director of Planning and Development, discussed the redevelopment 

effort on this property consisting of four businesses; The View, The Wharf, and 

Provisions which have all received approvals for building permits and certificates of 

occupancy and are currently in operation.  On October 26, 2017 there was a vote for the 

applicant to return with its fourth use to finalize the parking plan that would meet the 

requirements for every use in operation. 

 

A site walk was done on December 27, 2018, and members of the staff, public, planning 

board and board of appeals were in attendance, minutes of the site walk were provided 

for reference. It is being discussed with the applicant that the amount of parking they 

are requesting to satisfy the needs for each use, with the current calculations, is met in 

their plan but that plan is not sufficient in meeting the requirements in the code for 

parking lots with regard to landscaping, pavement, buffering, and a host of things that 

must be met when building out a parking lot and increasing the number of spaces. 

 

The applicant was sent to the Board of Appeals to see if there was an option to allow for 

a parking miscellaneous variation request for parking standards. A draft notice of 

decision from the Board of Appeals was provided to Planning Board members and was 

reviewed in length including changes that have occurred since the draft was submitted. 

(A draft copy of the Board of Appeals notice of decisions has been submitted into 

record)  

 

Ken Wood, Attar Engineering, spoke on behalf of the applicants. He stated that the 

Board of Appeals approved the five waivers in support of what both abutters and 

applicants were looking for in that the lot remained as is with a few improvements. Mr. 

Wood presented the revised plan with the waiver requests as a result of the Board of 

Appeals meeting with the minor adjustments, dated 01/10/2019. The changes included:  

• the addition of the dock on the waterfront, with the dimensions of dock 

including floats;  

• CMP’s recommendation of a 250 watt, high pressure sodium fixture facing 

down illuminating the parking lot;  

• the sidewalk was straightened out as suggested by Dave Rich, Public 

Works Commissioner, and now runs perpendicular to Pepperrell Road. 

 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    January 10, 2019  
Council Chambers  
 

9 | P a g e  
 

Mr. Wood spoke on the suspected tomb of slave remains under the gravel parking lot 

and stated the tombs were a supposed 40 feet away where nothing could be disturbed 

within that distance. Mr. Wood continued conversation regarding the suggestion of 

having a parking lot attendant onsite when the businesses are in use. He asked the 

board to consider two things:  

1. That the plan being submitted meets the ordinance requirements and 

believes from his experience that any project that met the ordinance did not 

require an attendant;  

2. Suggested instead that a parking lot attendant be provided by the applicants 

when all three of the public venues are in operation or when The View (the 

function facility) has an event that has 75 or more people in attendance. 

 

The applicants submitted a waiver request for sidewalks, justification for the waiver was 

written into the request. Dave Rich, Public Works Commissioner, suggested five 

sections of sidewalks on both sides of Pepperrell Road which was submitted in the 

memo along with the waiver. Mr. Wood does not believe the sidewalks are necessary 

and thinks it would be an engineering disaster. Mr. Wood & Mr. Rich agreed to remove 

the crosswalk near the Kittery Point Post Office and placed it into position as suggested 

by Mr. Rich.  

 

Chair Grinnell, stated that it was her understanding that a conditional approval does not 

pass as an approval for a Certificate of Occupancy, allowing the business to open. 

Adam Causey, Director of Planning and Development, clarified what was agreed to with 

a conditional approval. He stated that due to seasonal conditions the applicants would 

not be able to meet certain conditions, but the Planning Board can place time restraints 

on those conditions that would allow the applicants to meet those conditions at a later 

date. The applicants would then agree to finalize those conditions set forth in the 

conditional approval allowing for a Certificate of Occupancy to be signed off on.  

 

Mr. White gave his suggestion that dependent upon the season, weather and 

construction realities they would ask the applicants for a reasonable timeframe for them 

to meet the conditions for things such as plantings and for them to be put into place at 

those dates set by the conditional approval. 

 

Chair Grinnell agreed stating they could put a date certain on things. 

 

Mr. Fitch asked a couple questions: 1) Was there a particular reason that the applicant 

had a handicap or ADA parking spot on the parking lot as opposed to up against the 

restaurant? Mr. Wood answered saying that he felt it was a more central location to 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    January 10, 2019  
Council Chambers  
 

10 | P a g e  
 

access each business. Mr. Fitch suggested it would alleviate concerns and the 

necessity for the ADA ramps and sidewalks; 2) In the waiver were they proposing any 

sidewalks in front of the Bistro. Mr. Wood stated no, but they are more than agreeable 

to stripe it. 

 

Mr. Ledgett asked about the curb stops and why they were in the unpaved portion of the 

parking lot, but not in the paved portion. His concerns laid with the exit passage way of 

the parking lot where he felt having curb stops would assist in not allowing a vehicle to 

obstruct the passage way. Mr. Wood agreed that in retrospect they should have the 

curb stops there allowing for back passage out of the parking lot.   

 

Vice Chair Kalmar asked to place a condition on the applicants’ waiver request for 

sidewalks to have Mr. Rich, sign off and approve their plan. Mr. Wood agreed. Karen 

Kalmar restated that she would prefer to see him submit a plan and have Mr. Rich sign 

off on it. Mr. Wood said that would be satisfactory. 

 

Mr. Ledgett spoke to the recommendations made by staff, Mr. Causey, under number 

four and asked Mr. Causey to comment. Mr. Causey stated that his recommendations 

were made after speaking with Mr. Rich. Mr. Causey gave his opinion that when 

commercial development happens that it come with new infrastructure, and it is his 

recommendation and opinion that the sidewalks be addressed.   

 

Earldean Wells commented regarding the staff notes that two drains in the parking lot 

had been covered and were unknown to be draining, and that the applicants intended to 

store snow on site and wanted clarity as to where they were planning to store snow. Mr. 

Wood stated the drain is working and that snow would be in the parking lot or they 

would be able to transport offsite.  

 

PUBLIC COMMENT: 

  

(1) Durward Parkinson, representing Driscoll Realty Inc., an abutter to the project, 

agreed that the landscaping could start between the two zoning districts and 

wrap up around the gravesite area. They would like to see a parking lot attendant 

on site, but would like the time changed from 12-7 to 12-8, and have the 

attendant be available through to Columbus Day weekend. They would also like 

to see a police officer available for events with 100 people or more. Last was a 

condition for the applicant to provide offsite parking when all venues are open. 

They would like to see these suggestions written into the applicants’ plan.  



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    January 10, 2019  
Council Chambers  
 

11 | P a g e  
 

(2) Clint Reed, 4 Pepperrell Terrace, spoke regarding plantings being stated as 

arborvitaes which moved to evergreens with a minimum of four foot, and a 

maximum of six foot. He would like to see plantings that are done tastefully that 

will allow for visibility and access to the tomb. 

(3) Jim McPherson, member of the Board of Wood Island, spoke on behalf of the 

character of the applicants, thanking them for what they are doing for the 

community and enriching the town. He spoke of their generosity in feeding over 

60 National Guardsmen who were working on Wood Island.  

(4) Tom Philbrook, 27 Cutts Island Lane, spoke regarding what he felt was being 

overlooked, which is the congestion on the Town wharf. He was concerned with 

residents who were parking down at the town dock to access the venues. He 

thought there should be some stipulations and that the owner should be more 

proactive in curbing customer parking down at the dock.  

(5) Nikolas Franks, 72 Foyes Lane, said how great of an opportunity it has been to 

be able to walk down to the Wharf with his family and enjoy the area and is 

thankful to have the opportunity. 

(6) Wendy Turner, 621 Haley Road, representing Elizabeth Segers, an abutter to the 

project, asked to not plant arborvitae along the parking lot as she does not see it  

needed and instead to place them on Mrs. Segers property between the fence 

and the bollards to help block noise from the parking lot. The applicants have 

agreed to assist in the planting on Mrs. Segers property, she believed it is placed 

wrong on the plan and asked them to consider placing it over by the post office 

and not in front of people’s private homes. 

 

End of Public Comment 

 

Vice Chair Kalmar asked a question of staff regarding the Planning Board having the 

authority to change a Board of Appeals decision which specifically called out arborvitaes 

in a certain location. Mr. Causey stated, no, the Planning Board cannot preempt the 

Board of Appeals. He clarified that the Board of Appeals condition was only of location 

and not of the specificity of the number or density. Mr. Causey stated that it was only 

the intent of the Board of Appeals to protect the abutters with plantings that would offer 

some buffering. He asked the Planning Board to permit him to reach out to April Timko 

on the Board of Appeals to discuss what actions might be available to change the 

condition of the arborvitaes. The Planning Board agreed and asked Mr. Causey to 

contact Ms. Timko to discuss options.  

 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    January 10, 2019  
Council Chambers  
 

12 | P a g e  
 

Chair Grinnell asked if the Board of Appeals conditions were going to be added to the 

plan.  Mr. Causey answered that it was not stipulated at the meeting but he thought it 

was a good idea to place all conditions on the plan.  

 

Chair Grinnell stated that there are things she would like to see included on the plan. On 

the parking lot by the post office she would like to see the plan read “wooden split rail 

fence”. On the staircase coming down from second story of bistro she would like 

signage at the top and bottom that it is only egress. She would like to add on the plan 

that no portable lighting will be allowed on the site, ever. 

 

Chair Grinnell requested discussion and a vote on the waiver request for the sidewalks. 

She suggested to move forward with casting a vote for having the plan, set forth by the 

DPW, and be put into the final plan for the applicant. Mr. Wood said that he would as 

submit a plan to the Public Works Commissioner for approval. 

 

Vice Chair Kalmar moved to deny the applicants waiver request for sidewalks. 

Seconded by Mr. Ledgett. : 6 in favor 0 opposed. The waiver request was denied. 

  

Curb stops were agreed to be placed on all parking spots except the parallel spaces in 

the paved portion. 

  

It was requested that the applicants submit a landscape design for consideration by the 

Board of Appeals. 

 

The Planning Board moved forward with voting on the conditions on page 6. 

 

#4 was replaced with. The applicant shall design and construct pedestrian 

improvements subject to DPW review and approval. Vice Chair Kalmar moved to 

approve condition #4 as modified by the Director of Planning and Development. 

Seconded by Mr. White. 6 in favor 0 opposed.  

 

#1 was approved as shown on the plan 

 

#2 The Board voted that curb stops be placed and anchored in all parking spots except 

for the parallel spaces in the paved portion of the lot located at 87 Pepperrell. Chair 

Grinnell moved and Mr. Ledgett seconded. 6 ayes. Condition was approved. 

 

#3 was approved as shown on the plan. 

 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    January 10, 2019  
Council Chambers  
 

13 | P a g e  
 

#5 any parking signs place on the interior parking lot must be affixed on a wooden post, 

no metal posts were allowed. Moved by Chair Grinnell seconded by Mr. Ledgett. 6 ayes. 

Condition was approved. 

 

#6 was moved to remove LED from the condition. Moved by Ann Grinnell. Seconded by 

Mr. Ledgett. 6 ayes. Condition was approved. 

 

#7 was amended to read, food and beverage service for the Wharf is restricted to the 

area designated in the approved liquor license. Moved by Mr. White, seconded by Vice 

Chair Kalmar.  5 ayes 1 no (Chair Grinnell) 

 

#8 approved on the plan.  

 

#9 motion was made to amend it to include, a parking management plan shall be 

developed in conjunction with staff which will be reviewed annually, and certified as to 

compliance, by April 1st of every year. 

 

Mr. Ledgett moved to extend the meeting by 10 minutes. Seconded by Russell White. 

All in favor. 6 ayes.  

 

#10 was approved as shown on the plan.  

 

Vice Chair Kalmar, proposed a motion that the land owner and applicant shall employ 

qualified professionals, using minimally disruptive techniques to determine whether 

unmarked grave sites exist in close proximity to the gravel portion of the parking area, 

tax map 27-2A. Seconded by Chair Grinnell.  

 

Applicants agreed and stated they are willing to commit to a phase-1 archeological 

survey within the next year. 

 

Mr. White motioned to approve the parking plan with a revision date of January 10, 

2019 as it abides by the conditions discussed and voted on by the Planning Board. 

Seconded by Mr. Ledgett.  

 

Vote of 5 in favor 1 (Chair Grinnell) against 0   abstaining 

 

  ITEM 8 – Board Member Items/Discussion 

A. Election of Officers postponed until the January 10, 2019 meeting. 

 









From: debi
To: Stephen Wilson; jeffbrake@comcast.net; apriltimko@gmail.com
Cc: Adam Causey; Shelly Bishop; annhgrinnell@icloud.com; karen@kalhill.com
Subject: Request for Reconsideration by Kittery Board of Appeals of January 8, 2019
Date: Thursday, January 17, 2019 4:40:01 PM

Dear Steve, C.E.O. and Kittery Board of Appeals,

I would like to formally request a motion for reconsideration of the
landscaping around the parking lot for 87-88 Pepperrell Road project heard
by the Board of Appeals on January 8, 2019.

We, myself and the other abutters listed below, would like to request the
Board of Appeals reconsider their condition of approval for plantings
around the parking lot at 87 Pepperrell Road to state the following, that
neighbor's parking lot planting requests be represented on the final plan.  

There were inconsistencies  between the Board of Appeals findings and the
Planning Boards findings on the landscaping issue, such as, type of
plantings, how many and where they will be planted. We do not feel this
represents what we were asking for.

Since these plantings will likely not be planted until Spring.  We would ask
that the applicant or their representative meet with the abutters and come
up with an agreed upon list of plantings and where they will be planted.

It should also be noted that the abutters on Pepperrell Terrace do not feel
the plantings need to go along the entire length of the east side of the
parking lot, which is a benefit to the applicant.  We would however like to
see plantings along the east side of the "Pepperrell Tomb" lot, which the
applicant is responsible for maintaining. The deed recorded in Book 1450
page 577 states in part, "This conveyance is made upon the express
condition that said Grantee, his heirs and assigns will keep the Pepperrell
Tomb, situated northerly of the within granted premises, in repair and see
that the remaining land of said Tomb Lot is properly mowed and
ornamented with suitable trees and shrubbery."  
The fence that used to run along the east side of Pepperrell Terrace ran
from a large hemlock tree where the tomb lot meets 9 Pepperrell Terrace
down to the Pepperrell Terrace, Private Way sign.  

The west side of the parking lot has a fair amount of vegetation already
and I believe they were looking for a fence to keep parking lot debris and
people from falling onto their property.

To make this more clear you may want to schedule a site walk or visit the
site prior to the next meeting.

Please let us know if this request for reconsideration regarding plantings

mailto:debi57d@aol.com
mailto:SWilson@kitteryme.org
mailto:jeffbrake@comcast.net
mailto:apriltimko@gmail.com
mailto:ACausey@kitteryme.org
mailto:SBishop@kitteryme.org
mailto:annhgrinnell@icloud.com
mailto:karen@kalhill.com


will be considered and next steps.

The following abutters were present at the January 8, 2019 public hearing
and are in support of this request:
Craig Gossard, 2 Pepperrell Terrace
Clint Reed, 4 Pepperrell Terrace
Kelly Philbook, 8 Pepperrell Terrace
Debbie Driscoll Davis, 9 Pepperrell Terrace
Durward Parkinson, representing Driscoll Realty, Inc., 10 Pepperrell
Terrace
Nanci Lovett, 11 Pepperrell Terrace

Thank you for your consideration,

Debbie Driscoll Davis
9 Pepperrell Terrace
Kittery Point, Maine
(207)439-0449 h
(207)451-4021 c



TOWN OF KITTERY, MAINE APPROVED 

BOARD OF APPEALS February 26, 2019 

Council Chambers 6:30PM 
 

P a g e  | 1 

 

MEETING MINUTES 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER; INTRODUCTORY; ROLL CALL  

Chair Jeff Brake called the meeting to order at 6:30PM and asked that the roll be called.  

 

Board Members Present: Jeff Brake; Charles Denault III; Louis Leontakianakos; April Timko; 

Vern Gardner; Suzanne Dwyer-Jones  

 

Board Members Absent: Barry Fitzpatrick  

 

Staff Present: Adam Causey, Planning & Development Department Director  

 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

 

3. AGENDA AMENDMENT AND ADOPTION  

 

4. EXECUTIVE SESSION – None held.  

 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS  

 

a. Pamela Gray, Owner, 35 Sterling Road, Urban Residential zone, requesting 

Miscellaneous Variation Request to the terms of 16.3.2.4.D., seeking relief on the side 

yard setback for a mobile home.  

Adam Causey presented for the Town, and read from the prepared staff report. Pamela 

Gray, the owner, presented her request. Karen Benoit, an abutter to the property, rose to 

ask questions of the Board.  

 

Motion by Charles Denault to approve the Miscellaneous Variation Request for 35 Sterling 

Road. Second by Louis Leontakianakos. Motion carried 5-0-1 by roll call vote. [Aye: 

Brake, Leontakianakos, Timko, Denault, Dwyer-Jones; No: ; Abstain: Gardner]  

 

April Timko read the Findings of Fact and the Conclusions of Law into the record. 

  

6. UNFINISHED BUSINESS – None  

 

7. NEW BUSINESS  

a. VOTE TO RECONSIDER – MISCELLANEOUS VARIATION REQUEST 

GRANTED JANUARY 8, 2019, 88 PEPPERRELL ROAD 

Since Chair Jeff Brake was not in attendance at the January 8 BOA meeting, he turned the 

gavel over to April Timko, who presided over that meeting.  

kamaral
Highlight

kamaral
Highlight



TOWN OF KITTERY, MAINE APPROVED 

BOARD OF APPEALS February 26, 2019 

Council Chambers 6:30PM 
 

P a g e  | 2 

 

Adam Causey, Director of Planning & Development, began by explaining that staff 

received a request via email from an abutter for the Board of Appeals to reconsider a 

previous decision concerning a Miscellaneous Variation Request granted on January 8, 

2019, for the property at 87/88 Pepperrell Road. Mr. Causey said a reconsideration is a 

two-step process. First, the Board must vote whether to reconsider the previous decision. 

Per the Board’s by-laws, a motion for reconsideration must be moved by a member who 

voted on the prevailing side on the original motion, which would be a member present on 

January 8, 2019 that voted in favor of granting the miscellaneous variation for landscaping 

standards. If the Board votes to reconsider at this meeting, the second part of the process 

would be to schedule a public hearing for the reconsideration at a future Board of Appeals 

meeting, at which time staff will properly notice the public, abutters, and any who spoke 

at the January 8, 2019 meeting. Board members discussed the process of reconsideration, 

what changes to the landscape plan are necessary, and whether reconsideration would 

involve members of the public who attended the January meeting. Mr. Causey stated that 

after the January meeting, the abutters and the developer met to discuss more specific 

landscape plantings that could satisfy neighbors’ concerns. Staff is awaiting an updated 

landscape plan that would include the changes that the abutters are requesting.  

 

Motion by Vern Gardner to annul or rescind the granting of all motions of January 8, 2019. 

Second by Charles Denault. Motion failed 1-4-1 by roll call vote. [Aye: Gardner; Nay: 

Leontakianakos, Timko, Denault, Dwyer-Jones Gardner; Abstain: Brake]  

 

April Timko asked if any members of the public wanted to address the Board. Debbie 

Driscoll, 9 Pepperrell Terrace, and Clinton Reed, 4 Pepperrell Terrace, gave comments on 

the revised landscape plan. Debbie Driscoll asked that her request for a vote to reconsider 

be withdrawn. The Board took no further action.  

 

b. ELECT NEW OFFICERS  

 

Chair Jeff Brake opened the floor to nominations for Chair, Vice Chair, and Secretary.  

 

Motion by Suzanne Dwyer-Jones to postpone this item to the next meeting. Second by 

Charles Denault. Motion carried 5-0-1 by voice vote. [Aye: Brake, Leontakianakos, Timko, 

Denault, Dwyer-Jones; Nay: ; Abstain: Gardner]  

 

 

8. ACCEPTANCE OF PREVIOUS MINUTES - 1/9/18, 2/27/18, 3/27/18, 6/12/18, 6/26/18, 9/25/18, 

10/15/18  



Town of Kittery 

Planning Board Meeting 

February 8, 2018 

 
88 Pepperrell Road – Shoreland Development Plan Review 

Action: Accept or deny application; approve or deny plan: Owner, Chatham Street LLC, and Applicant, 

1828 Pepperrell Cove LLC, requests consideration of a plan to remove existing overhangs and entry 

vestibule and construct a new porch overhang at 88 Pepperrell Road, Tax Map 27 Lot 49, in the Business - 

Local (B-L) and the Shoreland Overlay (OZ-SL-250’) Zones. 
 

 

PROJECT TRACKING 

REQ’D ACTION COMMENTS STATUS 

YES 

Shoreland Development 

Plan Review 

Completeness/Acceptance 

Scheduled for February 8, 2018 PENDING 

NO Site Walk  TBD 

NO Public Hearing  TBD 

YES 
Shoreland Development 
Plan Review 

Plan Approval 

Possible for February 8, 2018 TBD 

Applicant:  Plan Review Notes reflect comments and recommendations regarding applicability of Town Land Use Development Code, and standard 
planning and development practices. Only the PB makes final decisions on code compliance and approves, approves with conditions or denies final 

plans. Prior to the signing of the approved Plan any Conditions of Approval related to the Findings of Fact along with waivers and variances 

(by the BOA) must be placed on the Final Plan and, when applicable, recorded at the York County Registry of Deeds.  PLACE THE MAP 

AND LOT NUMBER IN 1/4” HIGH LETTERS AT LOWER RIGHT BORDER OF ALL PLAN SHEETS.   As per Section 16.4.4.13 - 

Grading/Construction Final Plan Required. - Grading or construction of roads, grading of land or lots, or construction of buildings is prohibited until 

the original copy of the approved final plan endorsed has been duly recorded in the York County registry of deeds when applicable.  

 

Background 

The proposed development is part of a property-wide redevelopment effort that consists of the interior 

renovation of the three existing buildings, “The View” (previously Captain Simeons), “The Bistro” 

(previously Frisbee’s Market), and “Frisbee’s Wharf” (previously Lobster in the Rough), located at 88 

Pepperrell Cove. The Board considered the proposed renovations to the lower level of the building now 

known as the View in July of last year and a use-intensity increase in October, also last year. Both were 

approved. 

 

The current proposed development concerns the renovation of The Bistro building (formerly Frisbee’s 

Market) which requires approval by the Board since it is located in the Shoreland Overlay Zone. 

Specifically, the Applicant wishes to construct a new porch overhang along the front of the Bistro 

building while removing the existing vestibule and overhang currently on the front of the building as well 

as removing an existing overhang on the Bellamy Lane side of the building that encroaches on the public 

way. See photographs included in the application submission. 

 

Staff Review 

The plan includes the information required under 16.10.7.2 as may be applicable to the project, including 

an aerial map, drawings of the building under consideration and photographs.  

 

Staff has the following comments: 

1. Page 3 of the Shoreland Development Plan application shows that the total square footage of the 

building as it currently exists is 2,249 sf. With the removal of the two specified overhangs and the 

vestibule, together with the addition of the proposed overhang, the building will be 2,214 sf. There 

is no proposed increase, instead there is a proposed decrease of 35 sf of structure within the 100-

foot setback.  

2. The building drawings show the square footage for each portion (either vestibule or overhang) 

proposed for removal within the Shoreland Overlay as well as the square footage of the portions 

ITEM 6 



PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49)   
Shoreland Development Plan Review   Page 2 of 9 

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

M27 L49 

that are not. The portion of the proposed new overhang within the 100-foot setback is shown as 

being 80.6 sf. Adding up the proposed removals: 18.5 sf, 59 sf and 38.3 sf equals 115.8 sf. 

Subtracting the proposed overhang from the total of the proposed vestibule and overhang removals 

(115.8 - 80.6) = 35.2 square feet.  

3. It appears the proposed plan makes the building known as The Bistro less non-conforming by 

removing about 35 square feet of structure from within the 100-foot setback. 

 

Recommendations: 

With consideration of the above Staff comments, the proposed development appears to be in general 

conformance with the standards of Title 16.  

 

Staff recommends that the Board decide whether to conduct a site walk and set a date if so. 

 

Staff recommends that the Board decide whether to hold a public hearing (motion below if a public hearing 

is desired). If no site walk will be held and no public hearing is set to be held, the Board may approve the 

final plan with any conditions (motion to approve is below). 

 

Action 
 

Move to schedule a public hearing on the Shoreland Development Plan dated January 18, 2018 from 

owner Chatham Street LLC and applicant 1828 Pepperrell Cove LLC (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) in the 

Business – Local and Shoreland Overlay Zones for March 8, 2018  

 

  or 

  

Move to approve with conditions the Shoreland Development Plan dated January 18, 2018 from owner 

Chatham Street LLC and applicant 1828 Pepperrell Cove LLC (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) in the Business – 

Local and Shoreland Overlay Zones, upon the review and voting in the affirmative on the Findings of 

Fact. 

 

 

Kittery Planning Board  UNAPPROVED 

Findings of Fact 
For 88 Pepperrell Road 

Shoreland Development Plan Review 

 

WHEREAS: Owner, Chatham Street LLC, and Applicant, 1828 Pepperrell Cove LLC requests 

consideration of a plan to remove existing overhangs and entry vestibule and construct a new porch 

overhang at 88 Pepperrell Road, Tax Map 27 Lot 49, in the Business - Local (B-L) and the Shoreland 

Overlay (OZ-SL-250’) Zones, hereinafter the “Development” and Pursuant to the Plan Review meetings 

conducted by the Planning Board as noted in the plan review notes prepared for 2/8/2018.  
 

Shoreland Development Plan Review 2/8/2018 HELD 

Site Walk 
 

TBD 

Public Hearing  TBD 

Shoreland Development Plan Approval  PENDING 

 

And pursuant to the application and plan and other documents considered to be a part of a plan review 

decision by the Planning Board in this Finding of Fact consisting of the following (hereinafter the 

“Plan”):  

  



 
 
 
PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) 
Shoreland Development Plan Review and Approval        Page 3 of 9  

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

 

1. Shoreland Development Plan Application dated 1/18/18 

2. Shoreland Development Plan 

.  

NOW THEREFORE, based on the entire record before the Planning Board and pursuant to the 

applicable standards in the Land Use and Development Code, the Planning Board makes the following 

factual findings and conclusions:  

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

Chapter 16.3 LAND USE ZONE REGULATIONS 

16.3.2.17.D Shoreland Overlay Zone 

1.d The total footprints of the areas devegetated for structures, parking lots and other impervious 

surfaces, must not exceed twenty (20) percent of the lot area, including existing development, except in 

the following zones… 

 

Finding: This property is fully developed with previously existing structures, travel ways and parking 

areas.   

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.  

Vote: __ in favor ___ against __ abstaining 

 

Chapter 16.7 GENERAL DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS 

Article III Nonconformance 

16.7.3.1 Prohibitions and Allowances 

A. Except as otherwise provided in this Article, a nonconforming condition must not be permitted to 

become more nonconforming. 

 

Finding: The plan as proposed makes one of the existing buildings less non-conforming by removing 

35 sf of structure from within the 100-foot setback. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.  

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

16.7.3.3.2  Nonconforming Structure Repair and/or Expansion  

E.  In addition to the standards in the above subsections 16.7.3.3.2.A-D, the expansion of 

nonconforming structures located in the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone must meet the 

following:  



 
 
 
PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) 
Shoreland Development Plan Review and Approval        Page 4 of 9  

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

1.  Wherever a new, enlarged, or replacement foundation is constructed under a nonconforming 

structure the structure and new foundation must be placed such that setback requirements are met to the 

greatest practical extent as determined by the Planning Board, basing its decision on the criteria 

specified in Title 16.7.3.3.1.B, Nonconforming Structure Relocation.  

 2.  Expansion of any portion of a structure that is located within 25 feet of the normal high-water 

line of a water body, tributary stream, or upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland is prohibited.  

3.  Notwithstanding Title 16.7.3.3.2.E.2 above, if a legally existing nonconforming principal 

structure is entirely located less than 25-feet from the normal high-water line of a waterbody, tributary 

stream, or upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland, that structure may be expanded as follows,  

a. the maximum total footprint for the principal structure may not be expanded to a size greater than 800 

square feet or 30% larger than the footprint that existed on January 1, 1989, whichever is greater. The 

maximum height of the principal structure may not be made greater than 15 feet or the height of the 

existing structure, whichever is greater. Roof slope must not be less than an 8:12 pitch. 

4.  Expansion of an accessory structure that is located closer to the normal high-water line of a 

water body, tributary stream, or upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland than the principal 

structure is prohibited, even if the expansion will not increase nonconformity with the water body, 

tributary stream or coastal or freshwater wetland setback requirement. All other legally existing 

nonconforming principal and accessory structures that do not meet the water body, tributary stream, or 

coastal or freshwater wetland setback requirements may be expanded or altered as follows: 

a. For structures located less than 100 feet from the normal high-water line of a water body, tributary 

stream, or upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland, the maximum combined total footprint for all 

structures may not be expanded to a size greater than 1,000 square feet, or 30% larger than the footprint 

that existed on January 1, 1989, whichever is greater. The maximum height of any structure may not be 

made greater than 20 feet, or the height of the existing structure, whichever is greater. Roof slope must 

not be less than an 8:12 pitch. 

b. For structures that are located within the Resource Protection Overlay Zone, the maximum combined 

total footprint for all structures may not be expanded to a size greater than 1,500 square feet, or 30% 

larger than the footprint that existed at the time the Resource Protection Overlay Zone was established, 

whichever is greater. The maximum height of any structure may not be greater than 25 feet, or the height 

of the existing structure, whichever is greater, except that any portion of those structures located less 

than 100 feet from the normal high water line of a waterbody, tributary stream, or upland edge of a 

coastal or freshwater wetland must meet the footprint, roof pitch and height limits in 16.7.3.3.2.E.4.a, 

above. 

 

Finding: The proposed removal of the vestibule and two overhangs together with the addition of a new 

overhang results in a decrease in the square footage of the structure within the Shoreland Overlay Zone.  

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.   

Vote: __ in favor ___ against __ abstaining  

16.7.3.3.3 Nonconforming structure reconstruction 



 
 
 
PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) 
Shoreland Development Plan Review and Approval        Page 5 of 9  

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

A. In the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone(s), any nonconforming structure which is 

located less than the required setback from a water body, tributary stream, or coastal or freshwater 

wetland and which is removed,  damaged or destroyed, by any cause, by more than 50% of the market 

value of the structure before such damage, destruction or removal, may be reconstructed or replaced 

provided that a permit is obtained within eighteen (18) months of the date of said damage, destruction, 

or removal, and provided that such reconstruction or replacement is in compliance with the water 

body, tributary stream or coastal or freshwater wetland setback requirement to the greatest practical 

extent as determined by the Planning Board. In determining whether the structure reconstruction meets 

the setback to the greatest practical extent the Planning Board must consider, in addition to the 

criteria in Section 16.7.3.3.1,B Nonconforming Structure Relocation, the physical condition and type of 

foundation present, if any.  

B. In the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone(s), any nonconforming structure which is 

located less than the required setback from a water body, tributary stream, or coastal or freshwater 

wetland and removed, damaged or destroyed by any cause by 50% or less of the market value of the 

structure before such damage, destruction or removal, may be reconstructed in-place if a permit is 

obtained from the Code Enforcement Officer within twelve (12) months of the established date of 

damage or destruction.   

C. Outside of the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone(s), any nonconforming structure 

which is removed, damaged or destroyed by any cause may be restored or reconstructed in-place if a 

permit is obtained from the Code Enforcement Officer within eighteen (18) months of the date of said 

removal, damage or destruction. Such restoration or reconstruction must not make the structure more 

nonconforming than the prior nonconforming structure.  

D. Nothing in this section prevents the demolition of the remains of any structure damaged or 

destroyed. Application for a demolition permit for any structure that has been partially damaged or 

destroyed must be made to the Code Enforcement Officer.  

E. In the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone(s), if the total footprint of the original 

structure can be reconstructed beyond the required setback area, no portion of the reconstructed 

structure may be reconstructed at less than the setback requirement for a new structure. If the 

reconstructed or replacement structure is less than the required setback, it may not be any larger than 

the original structure, except as allowed in Title 16.7.3.3.2, Nonconforming Structure Repair and 

Expansion.  

F. When it is necessary to remove vegetation to reconstruct a structure, vegetation will be replanted in 

accordance with Section 16.7.3.3.1.C, Nonconforming Structure Relocation.  

G. Except where expressly permitted in this code, in no case may a structure be reconstructed or 

replaced so as to increase its non-conformity. 

 

Finding: The building is being renovated with small portions proposed for removal and a new overhang 

proposed to be added which will decrease the square footage within the Shoreland Overlay Zone.  

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.    

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 



 
 
 
PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) 
Shoreland Development Plan Review and Approval        Page 6 of 9  

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

 

Chapter 10 DEVELOPMENT PLAN APPLICATION AND REVIEW 

Article 10 Shoreland Development Review 

16.10.10.2 Procedure for Administering Permits 

D. An application will be approved or approved with conditions if the reviewing authority makes a 

positive finding based on the information presented. It must be demonstrated the proposed use will: 

1. Maintain safe and healthful conditions; 

 

Finding: The proposed development as represented in the plans and application does not appear to have 

an adverse impact. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

2. Not result in water pollution, erosion or sedimentation to surface waters; 

 

Finding: The proposed development will have little impact on surface waters. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

3. Adequately provide for the disposal of all wastewater; 

 

Finding: The proposed development will not affect the existing wastewater disposal system.  

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

4. Not have an adverse impact on spawning grounds, fish, aquatic life, bird or other wildlife habitat; 

 

Finding: The proposed development does not appear to have an adverse impact. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.  



 
 
 
PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) 
Shoreland Development Plan Review and Approval        Page 7 of 9  

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

5. Conserve shore cover and visual, as well as actual points of access to inland and coastal waters; 

 

Finding: Because the property is already fully developed, shore cover is not adversely impacted 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

6. Protect archaeological and historic resources; 

 

Finding: The building under consideration is part of the historical fabric of Kittery Point. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met.  

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

7. Not adversely affect existing commercial fishing or maritime activities in a commercial 

fisheries/maritime activities district; 

 

Finding: The proposed development does not adversely impact existing commercial fishing or 

maritime activities. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

8. Avoid problems associated with floodplain development and use; 

 

Finding: The property is already fully developed. The proposed changes do not appear to have an 

impact on a floodplain or flood-prone area.   

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

9. Is in conformance with the provisions of this code; 

 



 
 
 
PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) 
Shoreland Development Plan Review and Approval        Page 8 of 9  

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

Finding: The proposed development complies with the applicable standards of Title 16. 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

10. Be recorded with the York County Registry of Deeds. 

 

Finding: A plan suitable for recording will be prepared.  

 

Conclusion: As stated in the Notices to Applicant contained herein, Shoreland Development plans must 

be recorded with the York County Registry of Deeds within 90 days of approval prior to the issuance 

of a building permit.  

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

 

NOW THEREFORE the Kittery Planning Board adopts each of the foregoing Findings of Fact and 

based on these Findings determines the proposed Development will have no significant detrimental 

impact, and the Kittery Planning Board hereby grants final approval for the Development at the above 

referenced property, including any waivers granted or conditions as noted.   

 

Waivers: None 

 

Conditions of Approval (to be depicted on final plan notes to be recorded): 

1. No changes, erasures, modifications or revisions may be made to any Planning Board approved 

final plan. (Title 16.10.9.1.2) 

2. All Notices to Applicant contained herein (Findings of Fact dated 02/8/2018). 

 

Conditions of Approval (not to be depicted on final plan notes): 

3. Incorporate any plan revisions on the final plan as recommended by Staff, Planning Board or Peer 

Review Engineer, and submit for Staff review prior to presentation on final Mylar.  

a. Change title of plan from “Shoreline” to “Shoreland”. 



 
 
 
PLAN REVIEW NOTES  February 8, 2018 
88 Pepperrell Road (Tax Map 27 Lot 49) 
Shoreland Development Plan Review and Approval        Page 9 of 9  

P:\PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT\PLANNING BOARD\Packets\2018\2-8-2018\ITEM 6_PRN_M27 L49_2018-2-8_Shoreland.docx 

The Planning Board authorizes the Planning Board Chair, or Vice Chair, to sign the Final Plan and the 

Findings of Fact upon confirmation of required plan changes.  

 

Vote: __ in favor __ against __ abstaining 

 

APPROVED BY THE KITTERY PLANNING BOARD ON  _________ 

 

 

________________________________________ 

Ann Grinnell, Planning Board Chair 

 

 

Notices to Applicant:  
1. Incorporate any plan revisions on the final plan as required by Planning Board and submit for  

Staff review prior to presentation of final mylar.  

2. Prior to the release of the signed plans, the applicant must pay all outstanding fees associated with the 

permitting, including, but not limited to, Town Attorney fees, peer review, newspaper advertisements 

and abutter notification. 

 

3. One (1) mylar copy of the final plan and any and all related state/federal permits or legal documents 

that may be required, must be submitted to the Town Planning Department for signing. Date of 

Planning Board approval shall be included on the final plan in the Signature Block. After the signed 

plan is recorded with the York County Registry of Deeds, a mylar copy and a paper copy of the 

signed original must be submitted to the Town Planning Department. 

 

4. This approval by the Town Planning Board constitutes an agreement between the Town and the 

Developer, incorporating as elements the Development Plan and supporting documentation, the 

Findings of Fact, and any Conditions of Approval.  

Per Title 16.6.2.A - An aggrieved party with legal standing may appeal a final decision of the Planning 

Board to the York County Superior Court in accordance with Maine Rules of Civil Procedures Section 

80B, within forty-five (45) days from the date the decision by the Planning Board was rendered. 

 

 

 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    February 28, 2019  
Council Chambers  
 

2 | P a g e  
 

Chair Dunkelberger opened the public comment segment of the meeting. There 
being no comments, Chair Dunkelberger closed the public comment. 
 

OLD BUSINESS 

 

ITEM 1 - 88 Pepperrell Road – The Bistro – Parking Plan Review for Business Use 

Change 

Action: Approve Findings of Fact. Owner, Chatham Street, LLC, and applicant, Ann 

Kendall are establishing a new business entity in an existing facility, where intensity of 

use is significantly different, located at 88 Pepperrell Cove (Tax Map 27 Lots 2A & 49) in 

the Business Local (B-L), Residential – Kittery Point Village (R-KPV) and Shoreland 

Overlay (OZ-SL- 250’) Zones. 

 

Vice Chair Kalmar stated she had a couple of revisions that she wanted made to the 

Findings-of-Fact.  1) on page 2, add O to the Finding exceptions, and 2) at Finding O 

add the end of the sentence “within one year of the approval”.  She also noted that her 

name was misspelled at the signature line but it will now be for Chair Dunkelberger’s 

signature. 

 

Ms. Wells asked about the snow removal note on the plans.  That will be double-

checked.  Mr. Fitch asked about directional signage for parking.  Mr. Causey responded 

that it would be part of the parking management plan review which still needs to be 

completed.  Mr. Ledgett asked about the status of the BOA reconsideration.  Mr. 

Causey responded that the amended site plan has more landscape plantings that were 

added after the owners / applicants met with several of the abutters.  He noted that the 

abutter rescinded her request for reconsideration at the last BOA meeting.   

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 

The Planning Board made the following factual findings and conclusions: 

 

A. Development Conforms to Local Ordinances 

 

Finding: The proposed redevelopment does not meet the off-street parking 

standards outlined in 16.8.9.  The Board of Appeals has approved miscellaneous 

variations from the off-street parking standards, specifically 16.8.9.4.G, 16.8.9.4.K 

(2), 16.8.9.4.K (3), 16.8.9.4.K (4) and 16.8.9.4.K (5). 

 

Conclusion: This standard appears to be met. 

kamaral
Highlight



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    February 28, 2019  
Council Chambers  
 

3 | P a g e  
 

       

 Vote of 7 in favor 0 against 0 abstaining 

 

 

B. Standards B – O. 

 

Finding: The Board finds that the standards B-N, excepting K, M, and O are not 

applicable to the proposed parking plan. 

 

      Vote of 7 in favor 0 against 0 abstaining 

 

K. Stormwater Managed. 

M. Traffic Managed. 

O. Aesthetic, Cultural, and Natural Values Protected. 

 

Finding K: There is one open storm drain existing in the north parking lot that 

appears to be functioning properly.  The Board of Appeals approved miscellaneous 

parking variations of Section 16.8.9.4.K (3) to waive the requirements for additional 

storm water infrastructure. 

 

Finding M:  The proposed redevelopment requires eighty-one (81) parking spaces 

which is satisfied by the proposed parking layout.  The plan proposes a two-way 

drive aisle for the 90-degree angle parking areas and a on-way exit drive aisle along 

parallel parking spaces at the western property boundary.  The parking plan shows 

that traffic flow is to be clearly marked with signs and surface directions at all times.  

Site distances at the parking lot entrance/exit are shown to be 425’ to the west and 

350’ to the east. 

 

A parking management plan will be developed in conjunction with staff which will be 

reviewed and certified as to compliance by April 1st of every year. 

 

Finding O: The applicant has agreed to conduct a Phase I Archaeology Survey to 

investigate the existence of unmarked remains beneath the parking lot adjacent to 

the Pepperrell tomb within one (1) year of approval. 

 

Conclusion: These standards appear to be met. 

 

      Vote of 7 in favor 0 against 0 abstaining 

 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    February 28, 2019  
Council Chambers  
 

4 | P a g e  
 

P. Developer Financially and Technically Capable 

 

Finding: The developer has successfully redeveloped three-fourths of the property 

to date. 

 

Conclusion: The applicant appears to meet this standard. 

 

Waivers: Waiver requested for sidewalks, specifically Sections 16.8.4.13. A & B is 

denied.  Vote 6-0-0. 

 

Conditions of Approval: 

 

1. Curb stops must be installed for each parking space and securely anchored in 

place except in the parallel spaces in the paved portion of the lot. 

 

2. Any parking signs placed in the interior of the parking lot must be affixed to a 

wooden post – no metal sign posts are allowed. 

 

3. The applicant shall design and construct pedestrian improvements subject to 

Department of Public Works review and approval. 

 

4. The applicant shall work with CMP to install adequate screening or shielding on 

any existing street pole mounted lights utilized by the businesses.  Any new 

permanent lighting added will be CMP approved cut-off fixtures with adequate 

shielding to direct light down and away from adjacent properties. 

 

5. Food and beverage service for The Wharf is restricted to the area designated in 

the approved license. 

 

6. Restoration of the crushed sea shell area to its previous limit must be performed 

to the satisfaction of the Shoreland Resource Officer prior to the opening of The 

Wharf in the spring. 

 

7. A parking management plan shall be developed in conjunction with staff which 

will be reviewed annually and certified as to compliance by April 1st of every year. 

 

NOW THEREFORE the Kittery Planning Board adopts each of the foregoing Findings of 

Fact and based on these findings determines the proposed parking plan will have no 

significant detrimental impact, and the Kittery Planning Board hereby grants final 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    February 28, 2019  
Council Chambers  
 

5 | P a g e  
 

approval for the parking plan at the above referenced property with the above noted 

waivers and conditions. 

 

The Planning Board authorizes the Planning Board Chair or Vice Chair to sign the Final 

Parking Plan and the Findings of Fact upon confirmation of compliance with any 

conditions of approval.  

 

Vote of 7 in favor 0 against 0 abstaining 

 

 

ITEM 2 – Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU) Regulations  

Action: Review draft amendments and schedule a Public Hearing. 

 

Mr. Causey discussed the questions that were posed at the previous meeting. 

 

Chair Dunkelberger commented that the Board needed to separate the ADU regulation 

from the short term rental (STR) issue.  Mr. Ledgett spoke to the connection between 

the two and agreed that they weren’t connected as long as the proposed wording is 

clarified that neither the principal structure nor the ADU may be rented for less than 30 

days. 

 

The Board discussed ADUs vs STRs.  Mr. Causey clarified the thinking of Housing 

Working Group in developing the regulations.  He explained that the intent was to 

restrict ADUs from becoming STRs.  Mr. Alesse expressed his concern that the 

proposed regulations were a ban on STRs.  The Board discussed advertising the public 

hearing for the amendments and including in the notice the specific wording on the 30 

day rental restriction. 

 

After motion by Mr. White and second Mr. Ledgett the Board scheduled a public 

hearing on the proposed ADU regulation amendments for March 28, 2019. 

 

The motion carried 7-0-0. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

ITEM 3 – Sandwich Board Sign Regulations 

Action: Review draft amendments and schedule a Public Hearing 

 





TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    May 23, 2019  
Council Chambers  
 

7 | P a g e  
 

D. It was also noted that there would be a Joint Workshop with the Kittery Town 

Council on June 10th at 5 pm to discuss the proposed ADU ordinance.  

 

Mr. Fitch inquired about the parking management plan for 88 Pepperrell Road 

redevelopment.  He noted that he had not seen a sign yet in Pepperrell Cove instructing 

customers to park in the lot across the street for the businesses.  Mr. Causey addressed 

his concern and gave the Board a brief summary of the other elements in the plan.  

 

Mr. Alesse moved to adjourn the meeting. 

Mr. White seconded the motion. 

 

The motion carried 7-0-0. 

 

The Kittery Planning Board meeting of April 25, 2019 was adjourned at 7:10 p.m.  

 

Submitted by Jamie Steffen, Town Planner, on July 18, 2019. 

 

Disclaimer:  The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting.  

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the 

minutes are not intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a 

summary of the discussion and actions that took place.  For complete details, please 

refer to the video of the meeting on the Town of Kittery website at 

http://www.townhallstreams.com/locations/kittery-maine.   

http://www.townhallstreams.com/locations/kittery-maine
kamaral
Highlight

kamaral
Highlight









































 

    Town of Kittery, Maine 
         Department of Public Works 

                     200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 
            Telephone: (207) 439-0333    Fax: (207) 439-6118  
                       

          SCHOOL PROJECT UPDATE  
         November 2, 2011 
 

STEVENSON/MANSON SIDEWALK/ROADWAY  
Job Status:  All work is done for this project 

 

Budget Status:   
Total Budget Estimate   $220,654   

Estimate  Actual         

 Reclaim/paving contract  $  31,600  46,600           

 Stormwater contract    $  32,300  34,000        

 Curbing/Concrete Work  $  50,000  61,000          

 Fencing      $  15,000    7,700          

 Landscaping/Site Grading  $  15,000  22,000 

 Striping      $    8,000    3,000          

 Misc.        $  20,000  25,729.33 
Budget Estimate ‐ Oct 2010    $171,900      
Total Spent                       $200,029.33   

   
        

Updated Potential Savings:        $ 20,624 
 

Issues/Concerns/Comments:   
 I underestimated the replenishment of our materials at a cost of approximately 

$15,000.  To hold the projected savings to the amount shown above, we have 
not included this in our cost reimbursement.  After review of your final costs 
throughout the larger project, if funds are available we would appreciate 
reimbursement, if possible.   

 July 19, 2011 Reimbursement Transfer  $180,445.31 

 Nov 2011 Reimbursement Pending    $  19,584.02 

 Total            $200,029.33 
 

 

 





 
 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 
 

 

 
R E P O R T  T O  T O W N  C O U N C I L  

 
Meeting Date: June 10, 2019 

UPDATED: October 28, 2019 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

Subject: Title 16 – Accessory Dwelling Units 

Council Sponsor: Vice Chairperson Matt Brock 

 
 
OVERVIEW 
The Housing Working Group was formed in the spring of 2018 to identify solutions and 
recommendations to address the town’s growing challenge of housing affordability.  The Working Group 
is made up of volunteers including Councilor Matt Brock, Planning Board members Drew Fitch and 
Russell White, and interested residents, non-profit agencies, and business owners including Debbie 
Driscoll, Emily Flinkstrom, Stephen Kosacz, and Tom Emerson.  
 
One of the Working Group’s goals is to recommend and advance ideas to increase housing supply that is 
accessible for people of low to moderate incomes.  It coordinated with the Seacoast Workforce Housing 
to host a workforce housing workshop in October 2018.  Early in 2019, the Working Group proposed an 
ordinance revision for the Accessory Dwelling Unit code.  It is presently working on developing 
recommendations for an affordable housing overlay zone for Title 16. 
 
ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS 
The Working Group decided to focus on Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) as a first step, as this form of 
housing stock growth tends to be more organic, fits with existing infrastructure fairly seamlessly, and is 
less complex than large housing projects.  ADU ordinance applies to single-family residential parcels, and 
allows for an additional dwelling unit (not separately owned) to be added to the parcel. 
 
The proposed ordinance revision was developed by the Working Group with assistance from town staff.  
It was reviewed and revised by the Kittery Land Issues Committee (KLIC).  The revised version was 
supported by the Working Group and forwarded to the Planning Board for review and recommendation 
to the Council. 
 
The Working Group focused on reducing barriers such as size, parcel applicability, caps on annual ADU 
development, and owner occupancy requirements.  The Planning Board accepted the revisions to the 
design and performance standards, but added back owner occupancy requirements, and introduced an 
annual permitting process as they grappled with their concerns regarding short-term-rentals (which is not 
part of this ordinance).  
 
In June, the Council held a workshop with the Planning Board to review their recommendations.  The 
workshop concluded with a mix of results. There is clearly support for the objective of increasing the 
available housing stock in Kittery by removing barriers in the ADU ordinance. There was no disagreement 
regarding the proposed design/lot standards (unit size, setbacks, lot coverage). The workshop discussion 



REPORT TO TOWN COUNCIL                                            JUNE 10, 2019 
UPDATED: OCTOBER 28, 2019 

2 
 

focused on short term rentals (STRs) and the potential for ADUs to become predominately tourist 
lodging.  
 
The proposed revision eliminates the owner-occupancy requirement, and reincorporates a 30-day 
minimum rental period for only those ADUs created under the new, less restrictive, unit standards.  The 
proposed revisions also create an exemption on the 30-day minimum rental period for legally existing 
ADUs at the time the ordinance becomes effective.  The effective date is proposed to be 6 months from 
adoption.  The 6-month delay allows existing-unpermitted ADUS and/or anticipated ADUs time to come 
into code compliance under the current ordinance unit standards in order to retain the ability to utilize the 
ADU as a STR.  The current, more restrictive, design standards would apply to these ADUs. 
 
To note, the 30-day minimum does not apply to STRs universally.  It is limited to ADUs created under the 
newer, less restrictive, unit standards proposed in this ordinance amendment.  It does not apply to STRs 
in existing or new non-ADU dwellings (homes, apartments, etc.). 
 
The draft revisions were provided to the Council in July as part of the Town Manager report, to allow an 
extended timeframe for Councilors to review and consider the proposal.   
 
ATTACHMENTS 

- Proposed Title 16 Amendment – Accessory Dwelling Units 
- Title 16 – Accessory Dwelling Unit Enactment 
- Planning Board Public Hearing Notes – March 28, 2019 
Video of the April 25, 2019 Planning Board Meeting and June 10 Workshop are available at 
kitteryme.org 
 



KITTERY TOWN CODE –  

ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT 

DRAFT: October 28, 2019 

AN ORDINANCE relating to the municipality’s authority for Town governance to give due and 1 
proper attention to its many demands pursuant to the Town Charter, Federal law, and Maine 2 
Revised Statutes, and more particularly where set forth in Maine Revised Statutes Title 30-A, 3 
Municipalities and Counties. 4 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council is authorized to enact this Ordinance, as specified in 5 
Sections 1.01 and 2.07(3) of the Town Charter; and 30-A MRS §3001, pursuant to its powers 6 
that authorize the town, under certain circumstances, to provide for the public health, welfare, 7 
morals, and safety, and does not intend for this Ordinance to conflict with any existing state or 8 
federal laws; and 9 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council seeks to address the growing lack of affordable housing in 10 
Kittery by providing opportunities for growth in housing stock in a manner that fits with existing 11 
infrastructure, and allows homeowners flexibility in the use of their property; and  12 

WHEREAS, the current Accessory Dwelling Unit code is overly complex and restrictive limiting 13 
the generation of new accessory dwelling units in town; and 14 

WHEREAS, amendments to the Accessory Dwelling Unit code are needed to remove the 15 
barriers that are preventing property owners from creating accessory dwelling units; and  16 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council seeks to have newly created accessory dwelling units 17 
serve to provide stable housing for residents, and not solely be short term rentals units; 18 

NOW THEREFORE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH TITLE 30-A MRS §3001, AND TOWN 19 
CHARTER §2.14, THE TOWN OF KITTERY HEREBY ORDAINS TITLE 16, LAND USE and 20 
DEVELOPMENT CODE, ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS AMENDMENTS OF THE TOWN 21 
CODE, AS PRESENTED TO BE EFFECTIVE SIX MONTHS FROM THE DATE OF 22 
ENACTMENT. 23 

INTRODUCED and read in a public session of the Town Council on the ____ day of _______, 24 

20___, by:__________________ {NAME}   Motion to approve by Councilor 25 

__________________ {NAME},  as seconded by Councilor __________________ {NAME} and 26 

passed by a vote of _______. 27 

THIS ORDINANCE IS DULY AND PROPERLY ORDAINED by the Town Council of Kittery, 28 

Maine on the ______ day of _______, 20___, {NAME}, __________________ , Chairperson 29 

Attest:  {NAME}, __________________Town Clerk 30 



DRAFT: October 28, 2019 

1 
 

 

AMEND Title 16 -Article 2 Definitions as follows: 1 

ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT (ADU)  2 
An apartment which is part of an existing structure on the property where the owner of the property 3 
occupies one of the units. The accessory dwelling unit may be rented so that the owner-occupant may 4 
benefit from the additional income. The owner may also elect to occupy the accessory dwelling unit and 5 
rent the principal dwelling unit.A secondary dwelling unit with facilities used or intended to be used for 6 
living, sleeping, cooking, eating, and sanitary facilities for one or more persons, whether attached to the 7 
principal dwelling unit, detached from it or contained within it. 8 

AMEND Title 16 - Article 25 - Accessory Dwelling Units as follows: 9 
§ 16.8.25.1 Purpose.  10 
It is the intent of this article to impose provide standards that enable homeowners to create accessory 11 
dwelling units that are compatible with this title and do not negatively impact the character of the existing 12 
neighborhood or overburden the existing infrastructure. to (1) provide a means for residents – including 13 
seniors, single parents, and families with grown children – to remain in their homes and neighborhoods, 14 
and (2) increase the housing stock of existing neighborhoods in a manner that is compatible with their 15 
size and scale, and (3) allow more efficient use of existing housing stock and infrastructure, and (4) 16 
provide a broader range of affordable housing options.  The purpose of this article is not intended to 17 
create a new supply of short-term rental (STR) units, such as those commonly advertised to tourists. 18 

§ 16.8.25.2 Applicability.  19 
A . An accessory dwelling unit is allowed in all zoning districts where the use is permitted in Chapter 20 
16.3. The unit must be located:  in an existing structure, with a certificate of occupancy issued more than 21 
five years prior to the date of the ADU application, on the property where the owner of the property 22 
occupies one of the units. The accessory dwelling unit may be attached to, or detached from, the primary 23 
dwelling unit. No expansion of a building's footprint is allowed to accommodate an accessory dwelling 24 
unit. 25 

(1) within an existing structure, either principal or accessory on the property; or 26 
(2) attached to the existing principal structure, sharing a common wall; or 27 
(3) within a new accessory structure constructed for this purpose on the property. 28 

B. Accessory dwelling units that have a valid certificate of occupancy or have vested rights in the 29 
permitting process with an active building permit as of [effective date of ordinance] are exempted from 30 
the Use Standard §16.8.25.4.C. (COUNCIL WILL NEED TO PROPOSE A REVISION INSERTING 31 
THE DATE OF THE VOTE AS PART OF THE MOTION) 32 

§ 16.8.25.3 Application for accessory dwelling unit.  33 
A. An application for an accessory dwelling unit must be made by the owner of the parcel on which the 34 

primary residential unit sits. The completed application and associated fees must be submitted to the 35 
Town Planner and Code Enforcement Officer for review.  36 

B. Applications for an accessory dwelling unit that meets the unit size standards and development 37 
standards contained in this article may be approved administratively and require approval by both 38 
the Town Planner and Code Enforcement Officer.  39 

C. An accessory dwelling unit that fails to meet the unit size standards and/or the development 40 
standards provided in this article may not receive administrative approval; however, the accessory 41 



DRAFT: October 28, 2019 

2 
 

dwelling unit may still be allowed. See § 16.8.25.4Dand B below.  42 

D. The Town limits the number of new accessory dwelling unit permits to no more than 22 in the 43 
remainder of the calendar year of implementation and no more than 10 per calendar year on a first-44 
come first-served basis.  45 

E. One of the units on the property, either primary or secondary, must be occupied by the property 46 
owner at all times during the period of permitting. Prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, 47 
the property owner must submit a recorded copy of deed restrictions to the Town Planner, outlining 48 
the owner-occupancy requirement.  49 

§ 16.8.25.4 Accessory dwelling unit standards.  50 
A. Lot standards. 51 

(1) Legal lot/residence. An accessory dwelling unit is allowed only on lots within the Town that contain 52 
a one legal, single-family residence as the primary unit.  53 

(2) Number of accessory dwelling units per lot. No more than one accessory dwelling unit is permitted 54 
on a lot.  55 

(3) Zone lot size and unit density. The property on which an accessory dwelling unit is located must 56 
meet the size required by the applicable a zone'szoning standards for the principal residence except 57 
in the case of legally, non-conforming lots. However, an accessory dwelling unit is exempt from the 58 
density requirements of such the zone in which they are located.  59 

(4) Setbacks and coverage. Yard setbacks for the zone must be met.  However, for legally non-60 
conforming lots where a proposed accessory dwelling unit will be attached to a principal dwelling 61 
unit and cannot meet the zone’s side and rear yard setbacks, the percentage by which a lot is smaller 62 
than the required lot size for the zone will dictate the required setback for that lot.  For example, a 63 
30,000 square foot legally non-conforming lot in a zone that requires 40,000 square feet would 64 
require side and rear yard setbacks that are 75% of the zone’s side and rear yard setbacks.  Building 65 
coverage requirements will remain as required by the zone. 66 

(45) Utility connections. Accessory dwelling units must be connected to adequate water and sewer 67 
wastewater services. 68 

(a) Public sewer.  69 

[1] Service: verification, in writing, of adequate service to support the additional flow from the 70 
Superintendent of Wastewater Treatment Facilities.  71 

[2] Fees: Payment of appropriate fees for connection to the municipal sewer system is required prior to 72 
obtaining the certificate of occupancy.  73 

(b) Septic systems. Verification of adequate sewage disposal for subsurface waste disposal is required. 74 
The septic system, existing or proposed, must be verified as adequate or reconstructed as required. 75 
Plans for subsurface waste disposal must be prepared by a Maine-licensed site evaluator in full 76 
compliance with the State of Maine Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules, 10-144 C.M.R. 241.  77 

(c) Public water. Verification in writing is required from the Kittery Water District for volume and 78 
supply.  79 



DRAFT: October 28, 2019 

3 
 

(d) Wells. Verification of the potable water supply for private wells is required. Tests of the existing 80 
well or proposed well, if applicable, must indicate that the water supply is potable and acceptable for 81 
domestic use and must conform to the recommendations included in the "Manual for Evaluating 82 
Public Drinking Water Supplies, Public Health Service No. 1180 (1969)."  83 

(6) Parking.  Each accessory dwelling unit must have one on-site parking space in addition to the parking 84 
for the primary dwelling unit.  Tandem parking is permitted. 85 

(57) Private road or right-of-way access. Where an applicant seeks to locate an accessory dwelling unit 86 
on a privately maintained road or right-of-way the following applies: 87 

(a) Applicant must provide submit written consent from the road or home owner’s association or owner 88 
and parties responsible for street maintenance.; and  89 

(b) Road construction standards must support the additional trips generated.  90 

B. Unit standards. 91 

(1) Unit size. The habitable floor space of an accessory dwelling unit must be a minimum of 400 square 92 
feet and no larger than 800 square feet.The size of an accessory dwelling unit must meet the 93 
minimum size for a dwelling unit as set by building code standards adopted and amended from time 94 
to time by Maine’s Bureau of Building Codes and Standards, and be no larger than 1,000 square feet.  95 
For principal dwelling units 1,000 square feet or smaller, an accessory dwelling unit may be no 96 
greater than 80% of the size of the principal dwelling unit, as measured in square feet.  An accessory 97 
dwelling unit may have no more than two bedrooms.  98 

(2) Unit location. An accessory dwelling unit: 99 

(a) An accessory dwelling unit must meet on or more of the following conditions: 100 

Must b[1] Be fully constructed within the existing footprint of any legal primary residence or accessory 101 
building; or.  102 

[2] Share a common wall with the principal residence, providing yard setbacks per 16.8.25.4.B.1; or 103 

[3] Be constructed as a new accessory building containing an accessory dwelling unit, providing yard 104 
setbacks can be met for the zone. 105 

(b) Accessory dwelling units Wwill be allowed to be fully constructed within inside of the primary 106 
residence buildingprincipal residence even if the building does not meet yard setbacks. where the 107 
building has nonconforming yard setbacks.  108 

(c) Accessory dwelling units Wwill not be allowed in accessory or detached buildings encroaching on 109 
yard setbacks.  110 

(3) Building code compliance. An accessory dwelling unit must satisfy the requirements contained in 111 
the building code and fire code as currently adopted by the Town. See § 16.5.3E, Conformance to 112 
standards.  113 

C.  Use standards. The accessory dwelling unit may not be rented for less than a 30-day period. 114 

CD. Development standards. Should an accessory dwelling unit fail to meet the applicable unit 115 



DRAFT: October 28, 2019 

4 
 

development standards listed in this article, the accessory dwelling unit may still be allowed if the 116 
applicant obtains approval from the Board of Appeals under the provisions of a miscellaneous 117 
variation request. , as outlined in §16.6.4.C. The Board of Appeals shall review any appeal decision 118 
in conformance with §16.6.6. “Basis for decision”.  119 

§ 16.8.25.5 Violations. 120 

A. A violation of the Use Standard 16.8.25.4.C will lose the certificate of occupancy for the unit for no 121 
less than 30 days, and be assessed a penalty of $200. 122 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    March 28, 2019  
Council Chambers  
 

1 | P a g e  
 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

ROLL CALL 

 

Present: Steve Bellantone, Member; Drew Fitch, Member; Russell White, Member; 

Mark Alesse, Member; and Karen Kalmar, Vice Chair 

 

Absent: Ronald Ledgett, Member; Dutch Dunkelberger, Chair 

 

Staff: Jamie Steffen, Town Planner; Adam Causey, Director of Planning and 

Development 

 

Advisory: Earldean Wells, Conservation Commission 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES – January 24, 2019 

 

Vice Chair Kalmar announced that the Board needed Mr. Ledgett present to consider of 

approval of them.  With his absence the approval of minutes was postponed. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

Vice Chair Kalmar opened the public comment segment of the meeting. There 
being no comments, Vice Chair Kalmar closed the public comment segment. 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 

Item 1 - Land Use and Development Code (Title 16) Amendments – 
ARTICLE XXV Accessory Dwelling Units 

The Kittery Planning Board will consider proposed amendments to Section 16.2 
DEFINITIONS and Section 16.8.25 Accessory Dwelling Units to allow for greater 
flexibility in the design and development of accessory dwelling units, including 
eliminating the annual limit and owner occupancy requirement, increasing the 
allowable ADU size, and restricting new ADUs to no less than 30-day rentals. 

Public Hearing, Vote to Recommend.  Take public comment.  Review and 
discuss proposed changes to ARTICLE XXV Accessory Dwelling Units. Vote to 
recommend to the Town Council.  

  

Vice Chair Kalmar opened the public hearing. 

 

kamaral
Highlight

kamaral
Highlight



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    March 28, 2019  
Council Chambers  
 

2 | P a g e  
 

Lindsay Blis, 4 Captain’s Way, discussed a short-term rental issue in her 
development. 

 

Tom Emerson, 10 Ox Point Drive, stated he was a member of the Housing 
Committee that worked initial draft of the proposed ADU amendments.  He also 
disclosed that he has a short-term rental (STR) on his property.  He stated that 
the purpose of this hearing was to talked about ADUs not STRs.  He stated he 
was a strong proponent of ADUs. He further stated that he was not in favor of 
the 30 day period. 

 

Niles Pinkham, 25 Pinkham Lane, spoke about a STR that is causing problems 
in his neighborhood. 

 

Vice Chair Kalmar explained that the public hearing was input on the proposed 
ADU ordinance amendments not STRs.  That topic will be considered by the 
Board at a later date. 

 
Mara Lamstein, 35 Mill Pond Road, stated that she was a big supporter of 
ADUs. 

 

Donald Gagnon, 33 Pinkham Lane, discussed the gray area between ADUS and 
STRs. 

 

William Peirce, 53 Rogers Road, spoke in support of the ADU ordinance.  He 
stated he has a two-family and would like to be able to have an ADU as well. He 
spoke to the vagueness of the definition of a ADU. He would like to see a 
workable ADU law. 

 

Pamela Blodgett, 60 Old Dennett Road, discussed how Airbnb’s would benefit 
Kittery. 

 

Laurie Rowan, 115 Wilson Road, spoke in support of allowing Airbnb’s. 

 
Fred Kretchman, 46 Crockett Neck Road, spoke of support of ADUs but dislikes 
the 30 day limit. 

 

Erin Brochu, 90 Government Street, spoke about the positives of renting her 
home on Airbnb.  She stated that she and her husband would like to be able to 
do a ADU but can’t afford it.  She expressed concern with the 30 day restriction. 

 

Tim Brochu, 90 Government Street, stated he Maine licensed architect.  He 
spoke to specific points about STRs. 

 

Cameron Wake, 19 Mendum Avenue, spoke to the ecological benefits of 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    March 28, 2019  
Council Chambers  
 

3 | P a g e  
 

allowing ADUs.  

 

Vice Chair Kalmar closed the public hearing at 6:45 p.m. 

 

Mr. White spoke to the ordinance being more flexible.  His primary concerns are 
enforcement issues and improper use.  He discussed looking into imposing local 
penalties on violations.  Mr. Fitch spoke to his involvement as part of the 
Housing Working Group in spearheading the effort.  He discussed the mission of 
creating affordable housing and that was why the proposed amendments were 
trying to discourage STRs. 

 

Vice Chair Kalmar discussed enforcement of the under 30 day’s restriction and 
asked staff for their input.  Mr. Causey responded that the Department doesn’t 
have the manpower to enforce.  He spoke further to the intent of the proposed 
changes.  He explained that the group was trying to come up with a compromise 
of being more flexible with ADUs but at the same time not creating a situation 
where it would lead to all STRs.  He stressed the STRs would need to be 
addressed separately. 

 
Vice Chair Kalmar questioned the fairness of denying current ADU owners the 
option to rent their units for fewer than 30 days since this rental restriction does 
not currently apply to any other type of dwelling.  She also requested that the 
ordinance be amended to prohibit ADUs from being created within existing 
accessory structures that are in the Shoreland Overlay or Resource Protection 
Overlay zones’ setbacks. 

 

Mr. Alesse noted that he has a STR in his barn so he would not be voting on the 
item.  He discussed his concern about wanting to protect the Kittery 
homeowners that have existing STRs on their properties.  Mr. White expressed 
his concerns about the tie-in with STRs.  He stated he would like to see the 30 
day language removed.  He further stated that the Town will need to tackle the 
STR issue – he recognizes that there are neighborhood issues but he hears 
more positive than negative.  The Board discussed the need to remove the STR 
reference in the proposed amendment and addressed that a later date.  

 

Kendra Amaral, Town Manager, spoke to STR reference and the 30 day 
language.  She stated she and staff would be willing to compromise on that 
clause and remove it that was the desire of the Board.  Her goal is to develop 
regulations that the community can get behind and support. She advised the 
Board on their options for moving the amendments forward. 

 

Mr. White moved to continue the item until the Board’s second meeting in 
April.  Mr. Bellantone seconded the motion.  It was acknowledged the staff 
would review whether to remove the 30 day restriction. 





 
 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 
 

 

 
R E P O R T  T O  T O W N  CO U N C I L  

 
Meeting Date: October 7, 2019  

UPDATED: October 28, 2019 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

CC: Dutch Dunkelberger, Planning Board Chair 

Subject: Title 16 – Shoreland Overlay 

Councilor Sponsor: Chairperson Judy Spiller 

 
 
The Planning Board recommends approval of amendments to Title 16 to better clarify the permitting 
authority for review and approval of specific projects within the Shoreland Zone.  The amendments 
address development generally associated with new or expanded dwelling units. 
 
The proposed amendments specifically achieve: 

• Clarification of what expansion of a structure is; 
• Move dwellings to “permitted uses” from “special exceptions”; simplifying the process for 

homeowners; 
• Eliminates prohibition on mobile homes (achieves compliance with state law);  
• Simplifies the process for repair/expansion of an non-conforming existing structure if it is located 

outside of the baseline and overlay zone setbacks; and 
• Clarifies process/restrictions on expansion of a nonconforming structure within the 25 foot 

setback. 
 
The Planning Board recommended adoption of the ordinance amendments at their June 27, 2019 meeting, 
following a public hearing.   There were no public comments.   
 
The vote was unanimous to recommend the amendments; though there was some disagreement over 
certain parts of the amendment proposal.  Typically, when the Planning Board unanimously recommends 
amendments, a workshop with the Council is not deemed to be needed. 
 
UPDATES 
The proposed amendment has been updated (highlighted in yellow) to address feedback on the proposed 
amendment.  The updates include: 

- Added the Resource Protection Overlay Zone Special Exception language correction to achieve 
consistency with state law which prohibits the limitation of mobile homes where single-family 
dwellings are allowed.  The original proposal only corrected the Shoreland Overlay Zone. 

- Clarifying that 16.7.3.3. is applicable to structures or the portion of the structure that is located less 
than the base zone setback; 

- Removed reference to single-family and duplex dwellings in title of 16.8.28.1 and adds clarifying 
language to align with the Planning Board direction on this amendment effort. 



REPORT TO TOWN COUNCIL           October 7, 2019 
UPDATD: OCTOBER 28, 2019 

2 

PROPOSED SOLUTION/RECOMMENDATION 
Approve amendments as proposed. 

ATTACHMENTS 
- Proposed Amendment to Title 16 – Shoreland and Resource Protection Overlay Zones
- Proposed Enactment
- Memo to Planning Board outlining proposed amendments

Video of the June 27, 2019 Planning Board Meeting is available at kitteryme.org 



KITTERY TOWN CODE –  

TITLE 16  

SHORELAND and RESOURCE PROTECTION OVERLAY ZONES 

 

DRAFT: October 7, 2019 
UPDATED: October 28, 2019 

AN ORDINANCE relating to the municipality’s authority for Town governance to give due and 1 
proper attention to its many demands pursuant to the Town Charter, Federal law, and Maine 2 
Revised Statutes, and more particularly where set forth in Maine Revised Statutes Title 30-A, 3 
Municipalities and Counties. 4 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council is authorized to enact this Ordinance, as specified in 5 
Sections 1.01 and 2.07(3) of the Town Charter; and 30-A MRS §3001, pursuant to its powers 6 
that authorize the town, under certain circumstances, to provide for the public health, welfare, 7 
morals, and safety, and does not intend for this Ordinance to conflict with any existing state or 8 
federal laws; and 9 

WHEREAS, sections of Title 16 pertaining to the Shoreland Overlay Zone and the Resource 10 
Protection Overlay Zone require updating to address identified inconsistencies, and to conform 11 
to updated state recommended language; and  12 

WHEREAS, the proposed amendments will provide better clarity on the permitting authority for 13 
review and approval of specific projects within the Shoreland Overlay Zone and the Resource 14 
Protection Overlay Zone;  15 

NOW THEREFORE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH TITLE 30-A MRS §3001, AND TOWN 16 
CHARTER §2.14, THE TOWN OF KITTERY HEREBY ORDAINS TITLE 16, LAND USE and 17 
DEVELOPMENT CODE, SHORELAND OVERLAY ZONE AMENDMENTS OF THE TOWN 18 
CODE, AS PRESENTED. 19 

INTRODUCED and read in a public session of the Town Council on the ____ day of _______, 20 

20___, by:__________________ {NAME}   Motion to approve by Councilor 21 

__________________ {NAME},  as seconded by Councilor __________________ {NAME} and 22 

passed by a vote of _______. 23 

THIS ORDINANCE IS DULY AND PROPERLY ORDAINED by the Town Council of Kittery, 24 

Maine on the ______ day of _______, 20___, {NAME}, __________________ , Chairperson 25 

Attest:  {NAME}, __________________Town Clerk 26 



DRAFT: October 7, 2019 
UPDATED: October 28, 2019 

 

1 

Title 16 
Shoreland Overlay Zone 

 

AMEND Definitions §16.2.2 as follows: 1 

EXPANSION OF STRUCTURE  2 
An increase in the floor area or volumefootprint of a structure, including all extensions, such as, but 3 
not limited to, piers or attached decks, garages, porches and greenhouses. 4 

AMEND Shoreland Overlay Zone §16.3.2.17 as follows: 5 
B. Permitted and special exception land use. The following uses in this section are allowed in 6 

accordance with the land use standards established in the underlying base zone in this chapter and 7 
land uses identified by the Mandatory Shoreland Zoning Act, 38 M.R.S. §§ 435 to 449. 8 

(1) Residential – Rural Zone (R-RL). 9 
(a) Permitted uses.  10 
[1] Public open space recreational uses;  11 
[2] Any agricultural building or use except a sawmill, piggery or the raising of poultry for commercial 12 

purposes;  13 
[3] Accessory uses and buildings; and  14 
[4] Individual private campsite; and. 15 
[5]   Dwellings if located farther than 100 feet from the normal high-water line of any water bodies, or the 16 

upland edge of a wetland.  17 
(b) Special exception uses. 18 
 [1] Dwellings or modular home, excluding mobile home, in a single-family or duplex configuration;  19 
[21] School, hospital, long-term nursing care facility, convalescent care facility, municipal building or 20 

use, church or other institution of educational, religious, philanthropic, fraternal or social nature;  21 
[32] Home occupations;  22 
[43] Day-care facility;  23 
[54] Public utility facilities including substations, pumping stations and sewage treatment facilities;  24 
[65] Mineral extraction subject to § 16.9.1.2; and  25 
[76] Recreation activity buildings and grounds operated for profit, exclusive of drive-in theaters.  26 

(2) Residential – Suburban Zone (R-S). 27 
(a) Permitted uses. 28 
[1] Public open space recreational uses;  29 
[2] Day-care facility; and  30 
[3] Elderly day-care facility; and.  31 
[4] Dwellings if located farther than 100 feet from the normal high-water line of any water bodies, or the 32 

upland edge of a wetland. 33 
(b) Special exception uses. 34 
[1] Dwellings in a multiunit residential configuration with not more than four units per building and 35 

mobile homes;  36 
[21] School or educational facility (including nursery schools), elder-care facility, hospital, long-term 37 

nursing care facility, convalescent care facility, municipal, county or state building or use, church or 38 
other institution of educational, religious, philanthropic, fraternal, political or social nature. Any 39 
single listed use may not occupy more than 5,000 square feet of floor area;  40 



DRAFT: October 7, 2019 
UPDATED: October 28, 2019 

 

2 

[32] Public utility facilities, including substations, pumping stations and sewage treatment facilities;  41 
[43] Mineral extraction subject to § 16.9.1.2; and  42 
[54] Home occupations.  43 

(3) Residential – Kittery Point Village (R-KPV). 44 
(a) Permitted uses. 45 
[1] Any agricultural building or use except a sawmill, piggery or the raising of poultry for commercial 46 

purposes;  47 
[2] Accessory uses and buildings; and  48 
[3] Day-care facility; and 49 
[4] . Dwellings if located farther than 100 feet from the normal high-water line of any water bodies, or the 50 

upland edge of a wetland. 51 
(b) Special exception uses. 52 
 [1] Dwellings or modular home, excluding mobile homes, in a single-family or duplex configuration;  53 
[21] School or educational facility (including nursery schools), municipal, county or state building or use, 54 

church or other institution of educational, religious, philanthropic, fraternal, political or social nature. 55 
Any single listed use may not occupy more than 5,000 square feet of floor area;  56 

[32] Home occupations; and  57 
[43] Public utility facilities, including substations, pumping stations and sewage treatment facilities.  58 

(4) Residential – Urban Zone (R-U). 59 
(a) Permitted uses. 60 
[1] Public open space recreational uses;  61 
[2] Day-care facility; and  62 
[3] Accessory uses and buildings; and 63 
[4] Dwellings if located farther than 100 feet from the normal high-water line of any water bodies, or the 64 

upland edge of a wetland..  65 
(b) Special exception uses. 66 
 [1] Dwellings, or manufactured housing, in a single-family or duplex configuration;  67 
[21] School (including day nursery), hospital, long-term nursing care facility, convalescent care facility, 68 

municipal or state building or use, church or any other institution of educational, religious, 69 
philanthropic, fraternal, political or social nature;  70 

[32] Home occupations;  71 
[43] Recreational uses, exclusive of drive-in theaters;  72 
[54] Public utility facilities, including substations, pumping stations and sewage treatment facilities; and  73 
[65] Inn.  74 

(5) Residential – Village Zone (R-V). 75 
(a) Permitted uses. 76 
[1] Public recreation;  77 
[2] Municipal, county or state building or use; and  78 
[3] Accessory buildings and structures. ; and 79 
[4]   Dwellings if located farther than 100 feet from the normal high-water line of any water bodies, or the 80 

upland edge of a wetland.   81 
(b) Special exception uses. 82 
 [1] Dwellings or modular home, excluding mobile home, in a single-family or duplex configuration;  83 



DRAFT: October 7, 2019 
UPDATED: October 28, 2019 

 

3 

[21] Home occupation;  84 
[32] Public utility facilities, including substations, pumping stations and sewage treatment facilities; and  85 
[43] Day-care or nursery school facility for 13 or more persons in care, in conformance with the standards 86 

for a major home occupation (see § 16.8.22.3).  87 

(6) Residential – Rural Conservation Zone (R-RC). 88 
(a) Permitted uses. 89 
[1] Any agricultural building or use except sawmill, piggery or the raising of poultry for commercial 90 

purposes;  91 
[2] Timber harvesting;  92 
[3] Public recreation; and  93 
[4] Accessory uses and buildings; and 94 
[5]   . Dwellings if located farther than 100 feet from the normal high-water line of any water bodies, or 95 

the upland edge of a wetland.   96 
(b) Special exception uses. 97 
 [1] Dwellings or modular home, excluding mobile home, in a single-family or duplex configuration;  98 
[21] Home occupation;  99 
[32] School, municipal building or use, or any other institution of educational, religious, philanthropic, 100 

fraternal or social nature;  101 
[43] Public and private open space recreational uses, exclusive of drive-in theaters;  102 
[54] Public utility facilities, including substations, pumping stations and sewage treatment facilities; and  103 
[65] Day-care facility.  104 
(c) Prohibited uses. Prohibited use is any use not listed as a permitted or special exception use.  105 

 (8) Business – Local Zone (B-L). 106 
(a) Permitted uses. 107 
[1] Public open space recreational uses; and  108 
[2] Accessory uses and buildings. ; and 109 
[3]    Dwellings if located farther than 100 feet from the normal high-water line of any water bodies, or 110 

the upland edge of a wetland.   111 
(b) Special exception uses. 112 
[1] Dwellings or modular home, excluding mobile home, in a single-family or duplex configuration;  113 
[21] School or educational facility (including nursery schools), day-care facility, elder-care facility, 114 

hospital, long-term nursing care facility, convalescent care facility, municipal, county or state 115 
building or use, church or any other institution of educational, religious, philanthropic, fraternal, 116 
political or social nature;  117 

[32] Home occupation;  118 
[43] Retail business and service establishments, but excluding those of which the principal activity entails 119 

outdoor sales and/or storage, and excluding those specifically mentioned under Subsection C of this 120 
section;  121 

[54] Business and professional offices;  122 
[65] Mass transit station;  123 
[76] Commercial parking lot or parking garage;  124 
[87] Restaurant;  125 
[98] Art studio or gallery;  126 
[109] Convenience store, food store, grocery store;  127 



DRAFT: October 7, 2019 
UPDATED: October 28, 2019 

 

4 

[1110] Personal service;  128 
[1211] Business service;  129 
[1312] Building materials, but excluding those of which the principal activity entails outdoor sales and/or 130 

storage;  131 
[1413] Garden supply;  132 
[1514] Conference center;  133 
[1615] Commercial boating and fishing uses and facilities, provided only incidental cleaning and cooking 134 

of seafood occur at the site;  135 
[1716] Motel, hotel, inn or rooming house;  136 
[1817] Place of public assembly, including theater;  137 
[1918] Public utility facilities, including substation, pumping stations and sewage treatment facilities;  138 
[2019] Apartment building;  139 
[2120] Residential dwelling units as part of a mixed-use building; and  140 
[2221] Specialty food and/or beverage facility.  141 

(14) Mixed-Use Zone (MU).  142 
(a) Permitted uses. 143 
[1] Agricultural uses and practices, except a piggery or the raising of poultry for commercial purposes;  144 
[2] Art studio/gallery;  145 
[3] Church or institution of religion;  146 
[4] Research and development;  147 
[5] Public open space or recreation;  148 
[6] Municipal or state building or use;  149 
[7] Institution of philanthropic, fraternal, political or social nature which is not used for residential or 150 

overnight occupancy;  151 
[8] Timber harvesting; and  152 
[9] Home occupations. ; and 153 
[10]  Dwellings, limited to the following: 154 
[a]    Dwellings on lots of record as of April 1, 2004 if located farther than 100 feet from the normal high-155 

water line of any water bodies, or the upland edge of a wetland. 156 
[b]   Dwelling units on the upper floors of a mixed-use building that is served on the upper floors of a 157 

mixed-use building that is served by public sewerage if located farther than 100 feet from the normal 158 
high-water line of any water bodies, or the upland edge of a wetland.   159 

(b) Special exception uses. 160 
 [1] Dwellings, limited to the following: 161 
[a] Single-family dwellings on lots of record as of April 1, 2004; and  162 
[b] Dwelling units on the upper floors of a mixed-use building that is served by public sewerage.  163 
[21] Business and professional offices;  164 
[32] Boatyard;  165 
[43] Grocery store, food store, convenience store or neighborhood grocery;  166 
[54] Day-care facility;  167 
[65] Commercial parking lot or garage;  168 
[76] Hospital;  169 
[87] Inn;  170 
[98] Institution of education which is not used for residential or overnight occupancy;  171 
[109] Mass transit station;  172 



DRAFT: October 7, 2019 
UPDATED: October 28, 2019 

 

5 

[1110] Restaurant;  173 
[1211] Convalescent care facility, long-term nursing care facility;  174 
[1312] Personal services;  175 
[1413] Repair service;  176 
[1514] Selected commercial recreation;  177 
[1615] Theater;  178 
[1716] Veterinary hospital;  179 
[1817] Accessory buildings and uses;  180 
[1918] Retail use, a single use not to exceed 50,000 square feet in gross floor area;  181 
[2019] Elder-care facility;  182 
[2120] Housing for elderly as part of a mixed-use project;  183 
[2221] Commercial kennel;  184 
[2322] Motel or hotel;  185 
[2423] Public utility facilities, including substations, pumping stations and sewage treatment facilities;  186 
[2524] Shop in pursuit of trades;  187 
[2625] Transportation terminal;  188 
[2726] Wholesale business;  189 
[2827] Warehousing/storage;  190 
[2928] Construction services;  191 
[3029] Funeral home;  192 
[3130] Research and development; and  193 
[3231] Specialty food and/or beverage facility.  194 

(15) Mixed-Use – Badger's Island Zone (MU-BI). 195 
(a) Permitted uses. 196 
[1] Public open space and recreational uses;  197 
[2] Shuttle service and ride-sharing facilities  198 
[3] Aquaculture; and  199 
[4] Research laboratories; and 200 
[5] . Dwellings if located 75 feet or farther from the normal high-water line of any water bodies, or the 201 

upland edge of a wetland. 202 
 203 

(b) Special exception uses. 204 
 [1] Dwellings including modular homes in a single-family or duplex configuration, excluding mobile 205 

homes;  206 
[21] School, municipal or state building or use, church or any other institution of educational, religious, 207 

philanthropic, fraternal, political or social nature;  208 
[32] Accessory buildings and uses;  209 
[43] Home occupations;  210 
[54] Day-care facility;  211 
[65] Retail business and service establishments, but excluding those with any outdoor sales and/or 212 

storage;  213 
[76] Business and professional offices;  214 
[87] Restaurant with the hours of operation limited to 5:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m., but excluding restaurants 215 

where ordering and/or pickup of food may take place from a motorized vehicle;  216 
[98] Art studio/gallery;  217 



DRAFT: October 7, 2019 
UPDATED: October 28, 2019 

 

6 

[109] Grocery store, food store;  218 
[1110] Personal, business or service;  219 
[1211] Inn;  220 
[1312] Boatyard;  221 
[1413] Marina;  222 
[1514] Commercial boating and fishing uses and facilities, provided only incidental cleaning and cooking 223 

of seafood occur at the site;  224 
[1615] Commercial recreational use;  225 
[1716] Place of assembly;  226 
[1817] Theater;  227 
[1918] Public utility facilities, including substations, pumping stations and sewage treatment facilities; 228 

and  229 
[2019] Specialty food and/or beverage facility.  230 

(16) Mixed-Use – Kittery Foreside Zone (MU-KF). 231 
(a) Permitted uses. 232 
[1] Public open space recreational uses; and 233 
[2]   Dwellings if located 75 feet or farther from the normal high-water line of any water bodies, or the 234 

upland edge of a wetland. 235 
(b) Special exception uses. 236 
 [1] Dwellings in a single-family or duplex configuration, excluding mobile homes;  237 
[21] Retail business and service establishments, excluding those where the principal activity entails 238 

outdoor sales and/or storage;  239 
[32] Business and professional offices, including financial institutions;  240 
[43] Shuttle service and ride-sharing facilities;  241 
[54] Restaurant, coffee shop, bakery, cafes and similar food service operations, but excluding drive-in 242 

facilities;  243 
[65] Art studio or gallery;  244 
[76] Grocery store, food store;  245 
[87] Personal and/or business service;  246 
[98] Inn;  247 
[109] Commercial or private parking lots;  248 
[1110] Marinas;  249 
[1211] Commercial boating and fishing uses and facilities, provided only incidental cleaning and cooking 250 

of seafood occur at the site;  251 
[1312] Home occupations;  252 
[1413] Place of assembly;  253 
[1514] Theater;  254 
[1615] Research and development;  255 
[1716] Public utility facilities, including substations, pumping stations, and sewage treatment facilities; 256 

and  257 
[1817] Specialty food and/or beverage facility.  258 

AMEND § 16.3.2.19 Resource Protection Overlay Zone OZ-RP as follows: 259 
B. Permitted and special exception land use. Land uses within each base zone that are overlaid by the 260 

Resource Protection Overlay Zone include: 261 



DRAFT: October 7, 2019 
UPDATED: October 28, 2019 

 

7 

(1) Residential – Rural Zone (R-RL). 262 
 (b) Special exception uses. 263 
[1] Single-family dwelling or modular home, excluding mobile home;  264 

 (2) Residential – Suburban Zone (R-S). 265 
 (b) Special exception uses. 266 
[1] Single-family dwelling or mobile home;  267 

 (3) Residential – Kittery Point Village Zone (R-KPV). 268 
 (b) Special exception uses. 269 
[1] Single-family dwellings, excluding mobile homes;  270 
  271 
(4) Residential – Urban Zone (R-U). 272 
 (b) Special exception uses. 273 
[1] Single-family dwelling including manufactured housing;   274 

(5) Residential – Village Zone (R-V). 275 
(b) Special exception uses. 276 
[1] Single-family dwelling and manufactured housing;  277 

(6) Residential – Rural Conservation Zone (R-RLC). 278 
(b) Special exception uses. 279 
[1] Single-family dwelling, including modular homes;  280 

 (8) Business – Local (B-L).  281 
 (b) Special exception uses. 282 
[1] Single-family dwelling including modular homes;   283 

(9) Business – Local Zone (B-L1). 284 
(b) Special exception uses. 285 
[1] Single-family dwelling, including modular homes and excluding mobile homes;  286 

(11) Commercial – 2 Zone (C-2). 287 
(b) Special exception uses. 288 
[1] Accessory uses and buildings including minor or major home occupations;  289 

(15) Mixed-Use – Badger's Island Zone (MU-BI).  290 
(b) Special exception uses. 291 
[1] Single-family dwelling, excluding mobile homes;  292 

(16) Mixed-Use – Kittery Foreside Zone (MU-KF).  293 
(b) Special exception uses. 294 
[1] Single-family dwelling, excluding mobile homes;  295 

AMEND Nonconforming Structures §16.7.3.3.B as follows: 296 
Nonconforming structure repair and/or expansion. 297 
 (1) Except where otherwise permitted in this title, repair and/or expansion of a nonconforming structure 298 



DRAFT: October 7, 2019 
UPDATED: October 28, 2019 

 

8 

must be approved by the Board of Appeals. In cases where the structure is located in the Shoreland 299 
or Resource Protection Overlay Zone, the repair and/or expansion must be approved by the Planning 300 
Board.  301 

(21) The Code Enforcement Officer may approve the repair and/or expansion of a nonconforming 302 
structure provided the proposed expansion is not located in the base zone setback of the Shoreland 303 
Overlay Zone or at any location in the Resource Protection Overlay Zone and meets all either of the 304 
following criteria: 305 

(a) A vertical expansion that follows the existing building footprint;  306 
(b) Will not result in setbacks less than those existing; .  307 
 (c) Is not located in the Shoreland Overlay or Resource Protection Overlay Zone.  308 

(32) Except where otherwise permitted in this title, repair and/or expansion of a nonconforming structure 309 
must be approved by the Board of Appeals. In cases where the structure is located in the base zone 310 
setback of the Shoreland Overlay or Resource Protection Overlay Zone, the repair and/or expansion 311 
must be approved by the Planning Board.  312 

(3)  This subsection does not apply to any proposed vertical expansion of a patio, deck or accessory 313 
structure permitted to be closer to a water body or to a principal structure in accordance with Table 314 
16.9 - Minimum Setbacks from Wetlands and Water Bodies. 315 

(a) A nonconforming structure may be repaired or maintained and may be expanded in conformity with 316 
the dimensional requirements, such as setback, height, etc., as contained in this title. If the proposed 317 
expansion of a nonconforming structure cannot meet the dimensional requirements of this title, the 318 
Board of Appeals or the Planning Board will review such expansion application and may approve 319 
proposed changes provided the changes are no more nonconforming than the existing condition and 320 
the Board of Appeals or the Planning Board makes its decision per § 16.6.6.B.  321 

(b) Except in the Residential - Village (R-V) Zone, minimum setbacks of residential storage sheds that 322 
are less than 121 square feet, one-story residential garages that are less than 577 square feet, and 323 
decks less than 251 square feet may be one-half the minimum rear and side yard setbacks, providing 324 
the lots are legally nonconforming.  325 

(c) Where the expansion of the residential use within the Commercial Zones involves an expansion of a 326 
structure, the structure must be expanded in conformity with the dimensional requirements contained 327 
in this title. If the proposed structure expansion cannot meet the dimensional requirements of this 328 
title, the application may be submitted to the Board of Appeals for review as a miscellaneous 329 
variation request. In reviewing all such applications, the Board of Appeals must use the criteria 330 
established in this section, and then may approve the proposed variations to the dimensional 331 
requirements.  332 

(d) The addition of steps and landings, exterior to the structure does not constitute expansion. Such steps 333 
are not to be considered part of the structure for such determination. Step landings may not exceed 334 
three feet by three feet in size.  335 

(e) In addition to the standards in the above § 16.7.3.3B(3)(a) through (d), the expansion of a 336 
nonconforming structure and the construction of new, enlarged, or replacement foundation beneath a 337 
nonconforming structure located in the Shoreland or Resource Protection Overlay Zone must meet 338 
the following:  339 



DRAFT: October 7, 2019 
UPDATED: October 28, 2019 

 

9 

[1] Wherever a new, enlarged, or replacement foundation is constructed under a nonconforming 340 
structure the structure and new foundation must be placed such that setback requirements are met to 341 
the greatest practical extent as determined by the Planning Board, basing its decision on the criteria 342 
specified in § 16.7.3.3A(2), Nonconforming structure relocation.  343 

[2] All new principal and accessory structures, excluding functionally water-dependent uses, must meet 344 
the water body, tributary stream, or wetland setback requirements contained in § 16.3.2.17D(2). A 345 
nonconforming structure may be added to or expanded after obtaining a permit from the same 346 
permitting authority as that for a new structure, if such addition or expansion does not increase the 347 
nonconformity of the structure and is in accordance with § 16.7.3.3B(3)(e)[4] and [5] below.  348 

[3] If a legally nonconforming principal structure is located partially within 25 feet from the normal 349 
high-water line of a waterbody, tributary stream, or upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland, 350 
Expansion expansion of the footprint and/or height of any portion of a the structure that is located 351 
within 25 feet of the normal high-water line of a water body, tributary stream, or upland edge of a 352 
coastal or freshwater wetland is prohibited even if the expansion will not increase nonconformity 353 
with the water body, tributary stream, or wetland setback requirement. Expansion of an accessory 354 
structure that is located closer to the normal high-water line of a water body, tributary stream, or 355 
upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland than the principal structure is prohibited, even if the 356 
expansion will not increase nonconformity with the water body, tributary stream, or coastal or 357 
freshwater wetland setback requirement.  358 

[4] Notwithstanding § 16.7.3.3B(3)(e)[2] above, if a legally existing nonconforming principal structure 359 
is entirely located less than 25 feet from the normal high-water line of a waterbody, tributary stream, 360 
or upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland, that structure may be expanded as follows, as long 361 
as all other applicable municipal land use standards are met and the expansion is not prohibited by 362 
§ 16.7.3.3B(3)(e)[2]: 363 

[a] The maximum total footprint for the principal structure may not be expanded to a size greater than 364 
800 square feet or 30% larger than the footprint that existed on January 1, 1989, whichever is 365 
greater. The maximum height of the principal structure may not be made greater than 15 feet or the 366 
height of the existing structure, whichever is greater.  367 

[5] All other legally existing nonconforming principal and accessory structures that do not meet the 368 
water body, tributary stream, or coastal or freshwater wetland setback requirements may be 369 
expanded or altered as follows, as long as other applicable municipal land use standards are met and 370 
the expansion is not prohibited by § 16.7.3.3B(3)(e)[2] or [3] above: 371 

[a] For structures located less than 100 feetthe base zone setback from the normal high-water line of a 372 
water body, tributary stream, or upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland, the maximum 373 
combined total footprint for all structures may not be expanded to a size greater than 1,000 square 374 
feet, or 30% larger than the footprint that existed on January 1, 1989, whichever is greater. The 375 
maximum height of any portion of a structure that is located within the base zone setback may not be 376 
made greater than 20 feet, or the height of the existing structure, whichever is greater.  377 

[b] In addition to the limitations in § 16.7.3.3.B(3)(e)[5](a) above, for structures that are legally 378 
nonconforming due to their location within the Resource Protection Overlay Zone when located at 379 
less than 250 feet from the normal high-water line of a water body or the upland edge of a coastal or 380 
freshwater wetland, the maximum combined total footprint for all structures may not be expanded to 381 
a size greater than 1,500 square feet, or 30% larger than the footprint that existed at the time the 382 
Resource Protection Overlay Zone was established on the lot, whichever is greater. The maximum 383 



DRAFT: October 7, 2019 
UPDATED: October 28, 2019 

 

10 

height of any structure may not be greater than 25 feet, or the height of the existing structure, 384 
whichever is greater, except that any portion of those structures located less than 100 feetthe base 385 
zone setback from the normal high-water line of a waterbody, tributary stream, or upland edge of a 386 
coastal or freshwater wetland must meet the footprint and height limits in § 16.7.3.3B(3)(e)[4][a], 387 
and [5](a) above.  388 

AMEND Single and Duplex family dwellings in Resource Protection and Shoreland Overlay Zones 389 
§16.8.28.1 as follows: 390 

§16.8.28.1 Single- and duplex family dwellings Dwellings in Resource Protection and Shoreland 391 
Overlay Zones. 392 
The Code Enforcement Officer may issue a permit for a new dwelling outside the base zone setback in 393 
the Shoreland Overlay Zone only provided the structure is conforming with all base zone standards.  In 394 
addition to the criteria specified in §§ 16.6.6 and 16.10.8.3D, applicable to the granting of a special 395 
exception use request, the Planning Board may approve an application for a single- or duplex-family 396 
dwelling special exception use request within the Resource Protection Overlay Zone, where applicable, 397 
provided the applicant demonstrates all of the following conditions are met: 398 

A. There is no location on the property, other than a location within the Shoreland Overlay or Resource 399 
Protection Overlay Zones, where a single-family dwelling can be built, or similarly for a duplex in 400 
the Shoreland Overlay Zone.provided the structure is conforming with all base zone standards.  401 



 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 

ITEM 1 

MEMORANDUM TO  PLANN ING  BOARD  

 

Meeting Date:  June 27, 2019 

From:  Jessa Kellogg, Interim Code Enforcement Officer 

Subject:  Amendments to Title 16.2.2, 16.3.2.17, 16.7.3.3 and 16.8.28.1 

 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Amendments to one definition, Shoreland Overlay Zone standards, nonconforming structures 
relative to shoreland zoning setbacks, and single and duplex‐family dwellings in Resource 
Protection and Shoreland Overlay Zones are proposed in an effort to better clarify the 
permitting authority for review and approval of specific projects. 
 
TITLE 16.2.2 DEFINITIONS 

In 2017 the Town amended the nonconforming structure repair/expansion ordinance to 
remove “floor area and volume” and replace with the State recommended “footprint” 
calculation for expansions. Inadvertently, the definition of EXPANSION OF STRUCTURE was not 
modified, so this amendment eliminates confusion for applicants and permitting authorities. 
 
TITLE 16.3.2.17 SHORELAND OVERLAY ZONE 

The Town previously amended a few areas of Title 16 to permit the Code Enforcement Officer 
to issue permits in the Shoreland Overlay zone that were outside the shoreland setback for that 
base zone, however this section of the Code was not amended to reflect that, which has caused 
confusion and conflict in interpreting the code. These amendments will enable the Code 
Enforcement Officer to issue permits for dwellings outside shoreland setbacks as defined in 
each base zone section. The special exception use was removed, thereby eliminating the 
possibility of new dwellings being permitted in the base zone shoreland setback which would 
violate minimum State Shoreland Zoning mandates. Additionally, mobile homes are no longer 
excluded in any zone per State law.  
 
TITLE 16.7.3.3 

Amendments to this section of the Code include adding the language “base zone setback” to 
accomplish two goals. First, this will enable the Code Enforcement Officer more clearly to permit 
repairs and expansions to nonconforming structures outside of the base zone shoreland setback, 
and second, to give clarity on what that setback is. The majority of base zones have a 100 foot 



MEMORANDUM TO PLANNING BOARD    MEETING DATE: JUNE 27, 2019  

2 

 

setback, however MU‐KF, MU‐BI and MU‐N have a 75 foot setback from water resources. By 
adding this language, it eliminates confusion for these three zones for what setback they are 
held to. This also helps clarify projects that may require Board of Appeals review. For base zones 
MU‐KF, MU‐BI and MU‐N, the special exception use for a dwelling is removed as no new 
structures are permitted by state law to be closer than 75 feet to the water resource. The 
Planning Board will review a special exception use request for dwellings proposed between 75 
feet and 100 feet from a water resource in all other base zones.  
 
A second amendment in this section is to clarify what expansion of a structure means for 
nonconforming structures that straddle the 25 foot setback line. In a few projects reviewed by 
the Planning Board in the last year there was confusion on what was permitted and after 
clarification with DEP, staff wanted to explicitly clarify that the portion of the structure within 25 
feet could not be expanded in either footprint or height.  
 
TITLE 16.8.28.1 

Amendments to this section of the Code include giving the Code Enforcement Officer authority 
to issue permits for a dwelling outside of the base zone setback in the Shoreland Overlay Zone 
only. New dwellings anywhere within the Resource Protection Overlay Zone will still require 
Planning Board approval, as well as for dwellings located within the base zone setback for all 
base zones except MU‐KF, MU‐BI and MU‐N which have the state minimum 75 foot setback 
requirement.  
 



REPORT to the KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL – Jake (Jacob) Brake   
 

RESPONSIBLE INDIVIDUAL:  Councilor Charles Denault  Date:  09-30-2019 1 
 2 

Subject:  Adding restrictions of Jake Brake (exhaust brakes) to Title 10. 3 
 4 
Prelude 5 
Circa 2011, the use of Jake Brakes was raised by Councilor Leo Guy and residents of Old Post 6 
Road. The complaint was about the vehicles that slow for the signal lights and Howells Truck Stop 7 
on the Rte. 1 bypass. Signs were once erected yet; there are references within the ordinances to the 8 
signage. Kittery has a noise ordinance that may cover this with a slight modification. 9 
 10 
Background:   11 
 12 
DOT has undertaken a significant project (the high level bridge) that alters the traffic patterns 13 
through residential areas and has exponentially increased this traffic flow as a result of the High 14 
Level Project. Complaints are being made of Tractor Trailer trucks jack knifing as they attempt to 15 
turn around on driveways and side streets after missing the signage that is poorly placed warning 16 
them to the closure of the bridge.  17 
 18 
Eliot Maine’s State Road has seen a number of truck increase as well. This increase brings noise, 19 
pollution, and an increased use of a safety device activation known as JAKE (JACOB) BRAKES 20 
which allow for the compression of the engines to be released and used to slow the trucks down. 21 
The brakes are often referred to as “Jake Brakes,” which is the leading brand of the engine-22 
retarding devices. Some trucking businesses, as well as the Connecticut-based manufacturer of the 23 
Jake Brake, say the noise is often linked to the muffler, or lack of one. This alone (not having a 24 
muffler) is a violation of Maine Law. As stated (Slow the trucks down) is clue that there driving 25 
too fast for conditions, but however the noise is described as a RAT A TAT bass sounding noise 26 
that is clearly heard and there is no mistake made as to what it is. Detours bring unfamiliarity with 27 
local side roads and alternative roadways not usually traveled by the Big Rigs. 28 
 29 
Recently residents have complained about DENNETT rd., I-95 SOUTH BOUND near Rte 236 on 30 
ramp, MARTIN Rd, VALLE’S Rd, OLD POST, BRIDGE ST, the RTE 1 BYPASS, RTE 236 at 31 
STEVENSON Rd. and this includes STEVENSON AND MANSON Rd as well as STATE Rd 32 
near the circle and WALKER ST. All these roads have seen an increase in truck traffic.  The use 33 
of JAKE BRAKES have been reported mostly near intersections of hills when the trucks are 34 
slowing down. 35 
 36 
Portsmouth NH passed an ordinance as well as several Maine Communities including the Town 37 
of Ogunquit. Maine Townsman article-Nov 2008 has some interesting reading. 38 
 39 
 40 



REPORT to the KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL – Jake (Jacob) Brake   
 

Current Situation: 41 
 42 
There is no ordinance or reference to signs being erected to prohibit, regulate or reduce the noise 43 
from Jake Brakes. I am pretty sure that the Noise Ordinance is not enforced with respect to exhaust 44 
noise and at the minimum, signage would help but there is nothing that would reference why the 45 
current (three) signs were erected or where it should be erected.  46 
 47 
Town Code 16.9.1.9 Noise abatement, says, Excessive noise at unreasonable hours shall be controlled 48 
so as not to be objectionable due to intermittence, beat frequency, shrillness or volume. (See Attached). 49 
These are regulated within the commercial and business zones. 50 
 51 
Proposed Solution 52 

• Accept as written and adopt the changes to Title 10.1 Rules of the Road 10.1.9 53 
ordinance restricting the use of Jake Brakes as allowed by Maine 30-A § 3009 54 

• Incorporate the definition of Jake Brake and the restricted use of Jake Brakes under 55 
the Noise Ordinance or Title 10.07 and allow for signage based on the Noise 56 
Ordinance. 57 

• Post the areas that area seen heavy usage of the JAKE BRAKES. 58 
 59 

 60 
Rationale for the Proposed Solution: 61 
  Limit the unnecessary use of Jake Brakes in Town 62 

Limit Noise pollution 63 
Due to detours and alternate routes, the use of Jake Brakes has increased in areas 64 
not usually known for the use of them.  65 

 66 
Attachments 67 

 68 
Title 10 with recommended changes 69 



TITLE 10.1 
 
§10.1.9 Traffic restrictions for trucks, buses and tractor-trailer vehicles as follows: 
 1 

A. Except for vehicles performing municipal services, through traffic on: 2 

A(1). Love Lane by buses and heavy trucks having a gross weight in excess of 10,000 pounds 3 
is prohibited on Love Lane.  4 

B(2). Williams Avenue by buses and heavy trucks having a gross weight in excess of 10,000 5 
pounds is prohibited (except for local deliveries and pickup) starting at the point where the 6 
easterly side of Traip Academy parking lot and Williams Avenue intersect and continuing 7 
around Williams Avenue to intersection with Whipple Road.  8 

C(3). Maple Avenue by tractor-trailer vehicles is prohibited.  9 

D(4). Commercial Street by buses (as defined in M.R.S. Title 29A) and heavy trucks having a 10 
gross weight in excess of 10,000 pounds are prohibited from the intersection of 11 
Government Street to the intersection of Water Street (except for local deliveries and 12 
pickups on Commercial Street).  13 

E(5). Pleasant Street by buses (as defined in M.R.S. Title 29A) and heavy trucks having a 14 
gross weight in excess of 10,000 pounds is prohibited from the intersection of Government 15 
Street to the intersection of Water Street (except for local deliveries and pickups on 16 
Pleasant Street).  17 

B. Except for vehicles performing municipal services, It shall be unlawful for the driver of any 18 
vehicle to use or operate or cause to be used or operated in the Town of Kittery, any Jake 19 
(Jacob) Brake, engine brake, compression brake or mechanical exhaust device designed to aid 20 
in the braking or deceleration of any vehicle that results in excessive, loud or unusual noise 21 
from such vehicle, unless such use is necessary to avoid imminent danger. 22 

DEFINITIONS. For the purposes of this ordinance the following words and phrases are 23 
defined as follows: 24 

1. “Engine retarding brake” means a “Dynamic Brake,” “Jake Brake,” “Jacobs Brake,” “C-25 
Brake,” “Paccar Brake,” transmission brake or any other engine retarding brake system 26 
that alters the normal compression of the engine and subsequently releases that 27 
compression. 28 

 29 

 30 

 31 



KITTERY TOWN CODE  

TITLE 10 

USE OF COMPRESSION BRAKES 

 

DRAFT: October 28, 2019 
 

AN ORDINANCE relating to the municipality’s authority for Town governance to give due and 1 
proper attention to its many demands pursuant to the Town Charter, Federal law, and Maine 2 
Revised Statutes, and more particularly where set forth in Maine Revised Statutes Title 30-A, 3 
Municipalities and Counties. 4 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council is authorized to enact this Ordinance, as specified in 5 
Sections 1.01 and 2.07(3) of the Town Charter; 30-A MRS §3001, 36 MRS §6232 and §6271, 6 
pursuant to its powers that authorize the town, under certain circumstances, to provide for the 7 
public health, welfare, morals, and safety, and does not intend for this Ordinance to conflict with 8 
any existing state or federal laws; and 9 

WHEREAS, the Town seeks to limit the unnecessary use of compression brakes within the 10 
Town of Kittery; 11 

NOW THEREFORE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH TITLES 30-A MRS §3001, 36 MRS §6232 and 12 
§6271, AND TOWN CHARTER §2.14, THE TOWN OF KITTERY HEREBY ORDAINS 13 
AMENDMENT TO TITLE 10 OF THE TOWN CODE, AS PRESENTED. 14 

INTRODUCED and read in a public session of the Town Council on the ____ day of _______, 15 

20___, by:__________________ {NAME}   Motion to approve by Councilor 16 

__________________ {NAME},  as seconded by Councilor __________________ {NAME} and 17 

passed by a vote of _______. 18 

THIS ORDINANCE IS DULY AND PROPERLY ORDAINED by the Town Council of Kittery, 19 

Maine on the ______ day of _______, 20___, {NAME}, __________________ , Chairperson 20 

Attest:  {NAME}, __________________Town Clerk 21 

































 
 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 

 
R E P O R T  T O  T O W N  C O U N C I L  

 
Meeting Date: October 28, 2019 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

Subject: Title 4 – Library Advisory Committee 

Councilor Sponsor: Chairperson Judy Spiller 

 
 
OVERVIEW 
The Rice Public Library provides services, materials, and public space for the enrichment and support of 
residents and patrons.   
 
The Rice Public Library became a Town department on July 1, 2019.  With this change, the Library Board 
of Directors (501c3 entity) transitioned from a governance board to a board focused on fundraising to 
support the Library mission.  An advisory board is needed to assist the Library in ensuring it is meeting its 
mission and serving the community as best possible. 
 
A Library Advisory Committee serves an important role in guiding a public library in the development of 
goals and library policies, programs, services, and collections that meet the needs of the community and 
library patrons.  
 
LIBRARY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
The proposed charge and membership for the Library Advisory Committee has been developed using 
guiding principles from the American Library Association, the Maine State Library - Public Library 
Standards, and best-practice standards published by other libraries. The charge focuses on mission, 
strategic planning, and advocacy. 
 
Has been reviewed by Library Director, Lee Perkins and by the Library Board of Directors (501c3).  Input 
from the Friends of the Library group has also been sought.  This broad input will help ensure the 
Committee can be effective and beneficial to the community. 
 
PROPOSED SOLUTION/RECOMMENDATION 

Approve amendments as proposed. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

- Proposed Title 4 Amendment – Library Advisory Committee 
 



DRAFT: October 28, 2019 

TITLE 4 
LIBRARY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

 

ADD the Library Advisory Committee to Title 4 as follows: 

§4.7 Library Advisory Committee 1 

The Library Advisory Committee is charged with guiding the Rice Public Library in the 2 
development of goals, library policies, programs, services, and collections that meet the needs of 3 
the community and library patrons.   4 

§4.7.1 Duties 5 

A. Establish bylaws to govern routine Committee proceedings; 6 

B. Develop and recommend to the Council a mission statement for the Rice Public Library, and 7 
promote and advocate for the mission of the Rice Public Library; 8 

C. Understand the needs and goals of the community and guide the Rice Public Library in the 9 
development of programs, collections, and services that meet such needs and goals; 10 

D. Prepare and recommend for adoption by the Town Council a five-year strategic plan with 11 
evaluation goals; update and monitor progress towards implementation of the adopted 12 
strategic plan; 13 

E. Recommend the establishment and timely update of library policies for programs, 14 
collections, lending, confidentiality, and services that are aligned with the American Library 15 
Association and State of Maine’s Public Library Standards, and that advance the goals of the 16 
Library and support the strategic plan;  17 

F. Stay informed of the library statistics, financial status, funding sources and needs of the 18 
Library, advise on the annual development of the budget, focusing on the strategic plan 19 
implementation; 20 

G. Review and provide input on the annual capital program to the Capital Improvement 21 
Program Committee; and 22 

H. Report at such intervals as the Town Council may direct on programs, use, and 23 
implementation progress of the strategic plan. 24 

§4.7.2 Appointment and Composition 25 

The Committee consists of seven voting members: one Town Councilor, one member from the 26 
non-profit Library Board of Directors, one member from the Friends of the Library and four 27 
citizen members.  The Library Director is an ex officio member without voting rights. 28 

Citizen member appointments, or reappointments, are to be for three-year terms, except as 29 
otherwise specified.  Members representing the Council, non-profit Library Board of Directors, 30 
and Friends of the Library serve until their successors are appointed by their respective boards.  31 



KITTERY TOWN CODE  

TITLE 4  

LIBRARY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

 

DRAFT: October 28, 2019 
 

AN ORDINANCE relating to the municipality’s authority for Town governance to give due and 1 
proper attention to its many demands pursuant to the Town Charter, Federal law, and Maine 2 
Revised Statutes, and more particularly where set forth in Maine Revised Statutes Title 30-A, 3 
Municipalities and Counties. 4 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council is authorized to enact this Ordinance, as specified in 5 
Sections 1.01 and 2.07(3) of the Town Charter; 30-A MRS §3001, pursuant to its powers that 6 
authorize the town, under certain circumstances, to provide for the public health, welfare, 7 
morals, and safety, and does not intend for this Ordinance to conflict with any existing state or 8 
federal laws; and 9 

WHEREAS, the Rice Public Library became a department of the Town of Kittery on July 1, 10 
2019; and 11 

WHEREAS, the American Association of Libraries and the Maine State Library standards 12 
recommend having an advisory board that represents the community and serves as volunteers 13 
and advocates for the Library; and 14 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council seeks to create an advisory committee to guide the Rice 15 
Public Library in the development of goals and library policies, programs, services, and 16 
collections that meet the needs of the community and library patrons; 17 

NOW THEREFORE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH TITLE 30-A MRS §3001 AND TOWN CHARTER 18 
§2.07(3), THE TOWN OF KITTERY HEREBY ORDAINS AMENDMENT TO TITLE 4 OF THE 19 
TOWN CODE, AS PRESENTED. 20 

INTRODUCED and read in a public session of the Town Council on the ____ day of _______, 21 

20___, by:__________________ {NAME}   Motion to approve by Councilor 22 

__________________ {NAME},  as seconded by Councilor __________________ {NAME} and 23 

passed by a vote of _______. 24 

THIS ORDINANCE IS DULY AND PROPERLY ORDAINED by the Town Council of Kittery, 25 

Maine on the ______ day of _______, 20___, {NAME}, __________________ , Chairperson 26 

Attest:  {NAME}, __________________Town Clerk 27 









 
 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 
 

 

 
R E P O R T  T O  T O W N  C O U N C I L  

 
Meeting Date: October 28, 2019 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

Subject: Land and Water Conservation Fund Authorization 

Council Sponsor: Chairperson Judy Spiller 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The town is preparing to move forward with Phase 2 of the Emery Field Park improvements.  As with the 
first phase, we are again interested in seeking Land and Water Conservation Fund (LWCF) financial 
assistance.  If awarded, the LWCF will support up to 50% of the project costs, approximately $300,000. 
 
Council authorization is required as part of the application process.  The application for financial 
assistance is due November 22nd, therefore the timing is critical for this item. 
 
BACKGROUND 
In 2015, the Town Council authorized the Town Manager to seek financial assistance through the LWCF 
for the first phase of Emery Field Park improvements.  The project was selected from the draft Athletic 
Field Master Plan that recommends multiple improvements to various playing fields in town. 
 
LWCF awarded the project in 2016, at $374,000, with a 50% match requirement; meaning LWCF would 
reimburse the Town for up to $187,000 of the eligible project costs.  The project resulted in regrading of 
the playing field, installation of drainage and irrigation, creation of a perimeter walking path and fencing 
around the fields.  Total project cost came in slightly under budget at $357,860. 
 
The Town Council approved the Project Certification for Phase 2 in November of 2018.  That application 
was withdrawn due to the match funding being moved to FY21 (FY20 – FY24 CIP) and the Council’s 
desire to consider utilization of a portion of the site for an affordable housing project.  As a result, the 
grant application was suspended in February of 2019. 
 
Subsequent conversations with LWCF indicated that the Phase 2 priorities should be reassessed in order 
to make a future grant application more competitive.  The suggestion from LWCF resulted in a more 
refined design, that prioritizes those components previously slated for a future Phase 3. 
 
STATEMENT OF NEED 
The new Phase 2 concept plan retains the improvement/expansion of the parking lot and completion of 
the perimeter path originally planned for this phase.  It also includes the construction of a neighborhood 
playground, and enhanced playing courts to support a basketball court (half-court) and two pickle ball 
courts. If funding allows, a practice wall for lacrosse will be constructed and a shed for sports equipment 
storage will be installed.  At this time, it is not expected these add/alternatives are within the project 
budget. 
 



REPORT TO TOWN COUNCIL  OCTOBER 28, 2019 

2 
 

Weston & Sampson is designing Phase 2.  They designed Phase 1 and have a good understanding of the 
site and the needs.   
 
The estimated project cost is $791,872 including design.  We have already funded and expended 
approximately $30,055 in design costs.  Hard costs (construction and contingency) are approximately 
$706,372. 
 
We can seek a maximum of $300,000 from the LWCF, and will need to fund the remaining, approximately 
$406,372; based on the current estimate.  It is agreed that some level of value engineering (VE) is needed 
to bring down the total amount and the team has already identified a few options towards this end. 
 
We currently have approximately $52,380 in capital funding for the remaining design and engineering 
costs.  The Open Space Reserve and the Athletic Field Master Plan Reserve have a combined balance of 
$9,032. The FY21 CIP allocates $300,000 to support the project.  An additional $100,000 could be 
available from the Town’s warrant article authorizing the use of unencumber surplus for grant matches.  
 
We have received the LWCF pre-approval to apply for the grant.  There is no guarantee we will be 
awarded the funds from LWCF this round.  If we are unsuccessful with this application, we will plan to 
complete the design and pursue funding in a future year. 
 
If we are successful, we will need to commit the necessary funding for the match.  The amount needed is a 
stretch financially, but achievable.  I would recommend looking to the unencumbered fund for a portion 
of the grant match.  We have been increasing the unencumbered surplus by more than $100,000 annually.  
Though not guaranteed, it is likely any allocation from unencumbered surplus will be replenished at the 
close of the following fiscal year. 
 
The alternative is for the Town to complete the design, and wait a few years to pursue construction.  This 
alternative would give us the time to build a reserve for the match slowly.  There is no guarantee the Town 
will receive a future grant award.  Delay will also likely result in higher construction costs due to 
escalation. 
 
PROPOSED SOLUTION/RECOMMENDATION 
Approve as presented. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

• Project Certification 
• REVISED Concept Design Emery Field – Phase 2 
• Estimated Project Budget 

 



 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
Office of the Town Manager 

200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 

Project Certification 
 
This is to certify that the Kittery Town Council hereby authorizes the Town Manager to make 
application for financial assistance under the provisions of the Land and Water Conservation Fund Act, 
Public Law 88-578 for development of the Emery Field Park Phase 2 Improvements. 

This further certifies that the Kittery Town Council is familiar with the terms and conditions of the 
Land and Water Conservation Fund Project Agreement, revision dated March 1995 and hereby 
authorizes the Town Manager to enter into said agreement between the Town of Kittery and the State of 
Maine upon federal approval of the above identified project.  

This further certifies that the Town of Kittery has been legally constituted in accordance with 30-A 
MRS and is responsible for planning and carrying out the municipal recreation program, and the 
continued operation and maintenance of this completed project in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the Land and Water Conservation Fund Project Agreement.  

And this further certifies that except for the financial assistance requested by this project application, 
no financial assistance has been applied for, given or promised under any other State or Federal 
Program.  

Approved: October 28, 2019 

 
____________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________ 



TOWN OF

MAINEKittery

Emery Field 

EXPANDED PARKING

48 SPACES

COLE STREET
EXISTING WATER VAULT, 

LOCATION APPROXIMATE 

EXISTING BUILDING 

TO REMAIN

WOOD GUARDRAIL 

ALONG PARKING LOT

TABLE WITH COMPANION 

SEATING, TYP.

10’ PEDESTRIAN PATH

PICKLE BALL COURTS

HALF COURT 

BASKETBALL

10’ C.L.F. SECTION 

BEHIND BASKETBALL 

HOOP

6’ C.L.F. AROUND 

COURTS

10’ DOUBLE GATE

BENCH WITH COMPANION 

SEATING, TYP.

LAWN BUFFER FROM ROAD

PROPOSED TREE, TYP.6’ PEDESTRIAN PATH

4’ ORNAMENTAL FENCE 

AROUND PLAYGROUND 

RETAINING WALL 

6’ PEDESTRIAN PATH

LACROSSE WALL 

SLOPED LAWN AREA 

OPEN LAWN AREA 

PLAYGROUND AREA 

WITH SAFETY 

SURFACING

EXISTING FIELDS

FUTURE PHASE: 

CONCESSIONS, 

BATHROOM AND 

STORAGE

Phase 2 Concept

September 2019 SCALE 1”=16’-0”



Emery Field Phase 2

Preliminary Estimate

2019

Estimated Project Costs

Engineering (design, bid, resident) 85,500$                 

Design Costs To Date (30,055)$                

Subtotal 55,445$                

Demolition and Site Prep 50,000                   

Walkways and Parking Lot 128,883                 

Playground 230,000                  VE Options available

Courts 124,823                 

Landscaping 53,700                   

Furniture 33,000                   

Fencing 21,750                   

Subtotal 642,156                 

Contingency 10% 64,216                   

Total Construction Cost (Excludes design) 706,372$               

LWCF Share (50% up to $300K) 300,000                 

Town Share (excluding design) 406,372                 

Funds Available for Town Share Match as of Nov 1, 2019

Open Space Reserve 9,032                     

Total Available for Match 9,032                     

Variance 397,340                 

All Possible Addlt Sources

CIP 2020 Allocation2
300,000$               

Unencumbered for Match 20203 Up to $100,000

Notes:

1. Design costs are not part of the LWCF grant.  The town has allocated funds for the design costs.

2. CIP 2020 Allocation based on FY20 ‐ FY24 CIP.  May be adjusted through the development of the FY21 ‐

FY25 plan.

3. Unencumbered for Match available per Town Article approved June 2019, and proposed for Town 

Article in June 2020.  

Date: October 28, 2019




	2019.10.28 TMR.pdf
	ADP8C58.tmp
	Town of Kittery
	Office of the Town Manager
	200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904
	Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806
	kamaral@kitteryme.org


	2019.10.28 Title 16 ADU.pdf
	ADP2557.tmp
	AMEND Title 16 -Article 2 Definitions as follows:
	AMEND Title 16 - Article 25 - Accessory Dwelling Units as follows:
	§ 16.8.25.1 Purpose.
	§ 16.8.25.2 Applicability.
	§ 16.8.25.3 Application for accessory dwelling unit.
	§ 16.8.25.4 Accessory dwelling unit standards.



	2019.10.28 Title 16 Shoreland Overlay.pdf
	ADPFB8E.tmp
	Proposed Solution/Recommendation


	2019.10.28 Title 10 Jake Brakes (CD).pdf
	ADPFADC.tmp
	Proposed Solution
	Rationale for the Proposed Solution:


	2019.10.28 LWCF Project Certification.pdf
	ADPA88F.tmp
	PROPOSED SOLUTION/RECOMMENDATION
	ATTACHMENTS
	 Estimated Project Budget


	2019.10.28 Denault Qs 88 Pepperrell Cove.pdf
	2018.12.13 Staff Report.pdf
	PRN_M27 L49_2018-12-13
	88 PEPPERRELL CODE COMMENTS
	88 Pepperrell Road - Plan Revision
	2018-11-27- The View PARKING PLAN


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



